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Tuesday, 9 July 1996 

THE PRESIDENT (Hon Clive Griffiths) took the Chair at 11.00 am, and read prayers. 

STATEMENT - PRESIDENT 
I 

; Kay, Stuart, Deputy Clerk (Committees) Appointment 

THE PRESIDENT (Hon Clive Griffiths): I wish to bring the following information to the attention of 
the House. The committee system has operated in its current form for nearly six years and, 
notwithstanding the political disagreements which occasionally emerge about the constitution or operations 
of the committees, it is fair to say that both sides of the House acknowledge the distinct contribution that 
committees make to the way in which this House carries out its functions. 

As the committees have developed experience and knowledge in their field, they have come to expect more 
from their officers. That, in turn, has been reflected in the qualifications required of committee officers. 
Committees tend to establish close working relationships with their staff and, understandably, dislike any 
disturbance to those arrangements. 

Ithas been apparent to me that the committee office needs a senior officer to head it and manage its 
operations if it is to meet the expectations of committees. It has been my intention to ensure also that there 
be continuity in the Table officers, particularly where both the Clerk and the Deputy Clerk are the same age 
and are eligible to retire in about five years. Even if that were not the situation, it is desirable that 
appropriately qualified officers be appointed as Clerks at the Table to provide the House with continuity of 
knowledge and service. Therefore, I have appointed Mr Stuart Kay as Deputy Clerk (Committees). For all 
practical purposes the new Deputy Clerk will have overall responsibility for the management of the 
committee office, including staff recruitment and assignment In due course, the Deputy Clerk 
(Committees) will also assume Table duties to assist the Clerlc and Deputy Clerk. 

I kriow that Mr Kay has the respect of members, particularly members of the various committees with 
which he has worked. He has also demonstrated an ability to lead staff and provide timely guidance. As 
well, Mr Kay is a lawyer and brings to the new poSition the skills acquired through legal training. I hope 
that members will welcome this appointment and the improvement that it represents in the provision of 
services to both the House and the committees. 

OFFICIAL CORRUPTION COMMISSION AMENDMENT BILL 

Second Reading 

Resumed from 3 july. 

BON N.D. G.RIFFITHS (East Metropolitan) [11.09 am]: The Leader of the Opposition, Hon John 
Halden, invited me to be the lead opposition speaker on this order of the day, and I accepted his invitation. 

The Official Corruption Commission Amendment Bill has been hastily cobbled together for two purposes. 
The first purpose is a pre-emptive strike to prevent the recommendations of the select committee into the 
Police Service with respect to the third term of reference being implemented. It will ensure that the 
irieffective, self-regulation of police corruption and serious misconduct by the police will continue. The 
~~nd re3$on the Bill was introduced is to con the public into believing this Government is serious about 
d¢.allng with corruption when clearly it is not. The first reason prevents good government, and the second 
reason · is to do with trying to get cheap votes. The obvious error to do with the question of prorogation has 
been pointed out. I hope that everyone in this House now appreciates that Parliament is to be prorogued, 
not one House or the · other. The other place has adjourned to 20 August 1996 and therefore, save for a 

",prorogation and a recall, no amendments passed by this House will become law until after 20 August. 
1.~Therefore,either the House is being treated by this Government as a rubber stamp or the Government 
~;;(.lcknowledges that having dramatic special sittings of the other place and this House last week and having 

uSioomeback this week is really a nonsense . 

• 01 think we should look at last week briefly. The Legislative Assembly rose at 2.39 am on 3 July. This 
~;tHouse .wascalled back on 3 July to deal with the Official Corruption Commission Bill. We commenced 
i~ittiiig at 2.30 pm ~d the Bill was first read after 11.00 pm. We had done a normal day's business before 
~ic we got around to this item of business. Members should assume for the moment that there are no problems 
~} with this Bill- it is a big assumption - that every member in this House agrees with everything in it, that it 

neednotbe amended and that there are no difficulties with it whatsoever. Even if that were the case, the 
,.Official Corruption Commission, to be relabelled the Anti-Corruption Commission, cannot effectively do 
~ the;. dramatic job it is designed to do until the Legislative Assembly considers other pieces of legislation. 
11For>example, this Bill refers to an offence against the Statutory Corporations (Liability of Directors) Act 
I;0J ~?,6. That Bill, which is said to be an Act in this Bill, was introduced into this House by the Attorney 
f%; q~neral and we have not dealt with it yet It is order of the day No 13. Similarly, the Minister, in his 

set0nd reading speech, referred to another measure which is before us. In his second reading speech, he 
satd--
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Amendments to the Criminal Code being introduced by me will include, in the definition of 
"public officer", Ministers of the Crown, Parliamentary Secretaries and members of Parliament. 

This is what the public is getting all excited about. It continues -

These people will therefore be brought within the jurisdiction of the commission, which will be 
able to investigate any allegations of corruption, crime and serious improper conduct that relates 
to them. 

Those words apply to order of the day No 11. That order of the day, like order of the day No 13, has not 
been dealt with by this House. The Opposition has not even spoken in the second reading debate on either 
of the Bills. Order of the day No 13, the Statutory Corporations (Liability of Directors) Bill, and order of 
the day No 11, the Criminal Code Amendment Bill, were second read by the Attorney General on 19 June. 
They are substantive pieces of legislation which affect the operation of this Bill, which have not gone 
through the processes of this House, which were introduced into this Parliament in this House, and must, as 
I understand our Constitution, be considered at some stage by the Legislative Assembly. However, it will 
not resume until 20 August unless the Parliament is prorogued and comes back with all the interesting 
expense and activities that we engage in when that occurs, although I must say I enjoy the addresses and 
replies. Unfortunately, that is typical mismanagement. It reminds me of the sentencing Acts that we dealt 
with late last year, which could not come into operation until the Criminal Law Amendment Bill 1996 
came into operation. That Bill required royal assent. Those three sentencing Bills come into operation by 
virtue of proclamation. As of yesterday, they still had not been proclaimed, although I understand the 
Criminal Law Amendment Bill has received royal assent 

Unfortunately, the Official Corruption Amendment Bill has not been very well considered by those who 
brought it into this place. It requires very careful consideration and very careful scrutiny because it 
involves the liberty of public officers - I will deal shortly with the breadth of that term and how it is to 
operate under the Official Corruption Commission Amendment Bill. It deals also with the liberty of people 
who are not public officers. It has an effect on them, and I will deal with that shortly, albeit relatively 
briefly. It impinges on parliamentary privilege and on legal professional privilege, and it is significant with 
regard to the relationship between the judiciary and the Executive. All of those matters are important and 
they require very close scrutiny. I trust the Government will not treat this House's consideration of this 
Bill as a rubber stamp because, as far as we are concerned, Parliament is not just an electoral college to 
choose the Executive. Parliament has a function as a Legislature. It is not just something that adds 
strength to the Executive, or something from which the Executive is chosen - and that seems to be 
bothering Hon Ross Lightfoot. 

Hon Kim Chance: Some people have that view. 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: This function is true for all members of Parliament Whether we are Independent 
members, like Hon Reg Davies, members of the government parties or of the Australian Labor Party, when 
we come to this place we all have a duty to engage in the work of legislators. That work has significant 
ramifications that go further than the mere day to day operations of the Executive. 

Primarily this Bill affects public officers. I referred earlier to two pieces of legislation; the Criminal Code 
Amendment Bill and another Bill dealing with statutory officers. As those Bills are the subject of the 
orders of the day, I cannot at any length explain their ramifications. 

Hon Peter Foss: If you want to have them debated cognately, I will deal with that 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: Here he goes again! Those Bills widen the defmition of "public officer". Earlier I 
made reference to the Attorney General's second reading speech, in which he alluded to what some may 
call the more prominent varieties of officers; that is, Ministers of the Crown, Parliamentary Secretaries and 
members of Parliament One of the significant extensions is that, for the purposes of this Bill, the 
definition of a public officer is to include an employee under the Public Sector Management Act 1994. 

Section 3 of that Act provides that "employee" means a person employed in the public sector by or under 
an employing authority. The employing authority is widely defined under section 5, but I will not read it 
out or summarise it now. The public sector is also given a very wide definition. Broadly speaking, and I 
do not say this by way of legal definition, if people are on the payroll - that includes even school gardeners 
employed by the Education Department - they are liable to be investigated and only when called as 
witnesses, will they be informeQ of the general scope and purpose of the investigation. 

A witness can be a member of the general public; for example, a next door neighbour. That witness can be 
asked questions and informed of only the general scope and purpose of the investigation. There is a wide 
power to enter premises. That is restricted to a commissioner or special investigator, but the Bill contains 
powers of delegation and the like. At any time the investigators may enter any premises occupied or used 
by a public authority or public officer. It does not mean those premises must be owned by a public 
authority or public officer; they can merely be occupied or used by those people. Those premises can 
belong to and be used by people who are not part of the Public Service. When that entry takes place, there 
is the power to inspect premises and anything in or on them and to take copies of documents in or on them. 

The right to remain silent is dispensed with. Witnesses can be compelled to answer. The question of 
witnesses being compelled to answer to incriminate themselves has been the subject of adverse comment 
for centuries, dating back to ancient Roman times. It has traditionally been the subject of adverse comment 
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in jurisdictions of this kind. The right to remain silent is a basic right and it is a distinguishing feature of 
our system. 

It is proposed that the Anti-Corruption Commission, which is a relabelling of the Official Corruption 
Commission, will be an inquisition and will have the capacity to appoint special investigators who will 
have the powers of people engaged in a royal commission. I refer to a document provided by the 
Government which, in essence, contains the clause notes on this Bill. On an nnnumbered page - it looks 
like page N40 - the document sets out a list of powers and immunities applied to special investigators. To 
give members an appreci~tion, I will mention some of them. They include the power to summons 
witnesses and documents; the duty of witnesses to continue in attendance; a penalty for failing to attend or 
to produce documents; a penalty for refusing to attend or to give evidence; and the arrest of witnesses who 
have failed to appear. 

The powers of a royal commission are very wide. Many have said that those powers should be treated with 
great care. A recent observation was made about this issue by Commissioner Fielding in his report to the 
Premier on the review of the Public Sector Management Act, dated 1996. Under the heading of "Special 
Inquiry" on page 45 of that report, Commissioner Fielding makes reference to the Public Sector 
Management Act providing for a Minister to hold a special inquiry into a matter relating to the public 
sector. He makes reference to the special inquirer having the authority to enter the premises of a public 
sector body and, in effect, having the powers of a royal commission - a strong similarity to the work of a 
special investigator. I note Hon Peter Foss is nodding his head. In this recent opinion, Mr Fielding has 
given careful attention to this issue. I ask members to take on board his observations and to give due 
consideration to this measure as we progress through the Bill. He notes also these provisions were 
condemned by, among others, the former Civil Service Association whose concern was that in time the 
provisions would be used routinely to investigate the performance and discipline of individual public sector 
employees. 

He refers to assurances that that would not be the case, but points out that -

The Association claims that similar assurances were given in respect to equivalent provisions of 
the Prisons Act but in recent times that provision had been used extensively to investigate 
performance and disciplinary matters. 

I will spend some time on Commissioner Fielding's observations, because they came to light recently, and 
he was probably the last person in this jurisdiction to give detailed and open consideration to the issues that 
are before us. He states -

It is not difficult to envisage that from time to time there may be a need in the public interest to 
investigate thoroughly matters concerning public sector bodies in a manner which requires the 
capacity to interrogate persons other than public sector employees. ... Whether those processes 
should incorporate powers akin to a Royal Commission is debateable, particularly if as I 
recommend, the Minister is given a general right of entry and inquiry. If a matter concerning the 
public sector is sufficiently serious or special enough to warrant an inquiry utilising the powers of 
a Royal Commission, it is difficult to see why provisions of the Royal Commissions Act should 
not be invoked and the inquiry instigated under that Act. If however, the Public Sector 
Management Act is to continue to provide a standing right for a special inquiry with the powers of 
a Royal Commission the legislation should be in terms which emphasize that the process is an 
extraordinary one to be used sparingly because of the extensive powers it gives the inquirer. 

I thought that Commissioner Fielding's views on the use of royal commission powers would be of some 
interest at this time. 

Commissioner Fielding states with regard to self-incrimination that -

The Act provides that a person ... is not exempt from answering questions in the course of a 
special inquiry. . .. 

Where similar legislation exists in the other States it generally provides that persons are not 
required to give answers which incriminate them. ... In my opinion protection of that kind is to 
be preferred to that which is currently afforded under the Act. The obligation to give the 
incriminating evidence is undeniably a significant infringement of what are universally regarded 
as fundamental civil liberties. 

He adds the following rider, which I believe is fair enough -

Infringements of that kind may well be justified in the case of Royal Commissions which are 
normally reserved for matters of some moment. However, the same limitations on the convening 
of special inquiries do not exist under the Act. 

He is referring to the Public Sector Management Act, and although we are dealing with a different 
legislative measure, there are parallels. He concludes -

I recommend that the Act be amended to provide that in the case of a special inquiry persons be 
relieved of the obligation of answering questions which are self incriminating. 

If we were a State of the United States of America, there is no doubt that under the principles of Maybury 
and Madison, this Bill would be unconstitutional if it did become law because it would offend both the 
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fourth and fifth amendments to the United States Constitution. However, we are a State of Australia, and 
that is a matter for the United States. I am making those observations so that the House can appreciate the 
ramifications of this Bill and can give proper consideration to this matter. I am not making a judgment 
about whether we should proceed down a particular path. 

Parliamentary privilege has been the subject of some comment, and there appears to be some 
misunderstanding about parliamentary privilege and the effect of this Bill on parliamentary privilege. 

Hon P.R. Lightfoot: Who misunderstands it? 

Hon N.D. GR1FFITHS: I suggest to Hon Ross Lightfoot that although I cannot allude to debate in another 
place, there have been reports in the Press to the effect that the Premier, among others, does not understand 
the effect of this Bill on parliamentary privilege. I am not interested in debating that issue. I want to 
explore briefly the potential ramifications of this Bill on parliamentary privilege. The first basic 
misunderstanding is that some people think that parliamentary privilege is for the benefit of members of 
Parliament. That is not the case. Parliamentary privilege is for the benefit of the public. The Commission 
on Government gave careful consideration to the question of parliamentary privilege, and it states at page 
368 of report No 1 of August 1995 that -

In considering Specified Matter 19 we have focussed our attention on how the immunities 
conferred on Parliament and its members by Article 9 of the Bill of Rights further the public 
interest. 

I could have delved into books in the library and quoted ancient works which used words to this effect, but 
I have chosen to quote from the report of the Commission on Government because it is a body which is 
external to the Parliament. It states at page 369 -

All of the original fundamental reasons for granting Parliament its privileges still pertain in the 
modem world. By their freedom to say what they feel they must, without fear of suit or 
retribution outside Parliament, its members defend all of our individual freedoms. Any 
diminution or qualification of Parliament's immunities would eventually erode the rights and 
freedoms of every citizen. The freedom is absolute because the need for it is absolute. We 
therefore recommend there be no amendments to the Parliamentary Privileges Act 1891 to permit 
any general or specific waiver of parliamentary privileges. 

The wording of this Bill with regard to its potential application to parliamentary privilege seems very clear. 
If I am wrong and the Bill is not amended, I will be delighted to be shown that I am wrong. I am very 
concerned that I am right. I am concerned that at the very least what I am to say is arguable; and that it is 
likely to be right. If it is likely to be right, parliamentary privilege, which the Commission on Government 
said is important, will be impinged upon and the freedom of our society may be in peril as a result. In his 
second reading speech the Minister said -

The Government has advice that neither the Official Corruption Commission Act 1988 nor the 
proposed amendments to that Act will in any way expressly impinge on the immunities provided 
by section 1 of the Parliamentary Privileges Act 1891 and that, therefore, the privilege conferred 
by that section prevails over any provision of the Official Corruption Commission Act as it is 
proposed to be amended. 

I confurn that the intention of the Government is that the immunities provided by section 1 of the 
Parliamentary Privileges Act 1891 are not to be affected by this Bill. I wish the Government well in its 
intention but I regret to say that there is a likelihood its intention will not be upheld unless this Bill is 
amended, because the pwpose behind the Minister making a statement in a second reading speech arises 
from the Interpretation Act I refer to section 19(1) of that Act which reads -

Subject to subsection (3), in the interpretation of a provision of a written law, if any material not 
forming part of the written law is capable of assisting in the ascertainment of the meaning of the 
provision, consideration may be given to that material -

(a) to confirm that the meaning of the provision is the ordinary meaning conveyed 
by the text-

I thought written law had a pretty obvious reading, but I may be wrong. It continues -

(b) to determine the meaning of the provision when -

(i) the provision is ambiguous or obscure; 

I suggest the provision is not ambiguous nor obscure. It continues -

(ii) the ordinary meaning conveyed by the text of the provision taking into 
account its context in the written law and the pwpose or object 
underlying the written law leads to a result that is manifestly absurd or 
is unreasonable. 

That does not apply here. There might be argument to the contrary, but I doubt it. However, what if the 
argument to the contrary is wrong? What if I am right? If I am right and the Bill is not amended, we will 
say goodbye to much - not all - of parliamentary privilege. It is important to note how the courts treat the 
us{! of statements made in Parliament with respect to the interpretation of legislation. I wish to make a 
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short reference to a recent decision of the House of Lords re Pepper v Hart reported at 1993 volume 1. All 
England Reports at page 42. I could go through the case in detail but I will make only some quick 
references to words of general application pertinent to our considerations of the effect of parliamentary 
privilege on this Bill. The words support what I have said and I refer to page 52 of the judgment of Lord 
Oliver of Aylmerton where he said -

It is, however, important to stress the limits within which such a relaxation is permissible ... 

He is referring to a relaxation of common law rule that the courts can look at what goes on in Parliament to 
construe the meaning of legislation. 

Hon Peter Foss: It used to be forbidden. 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: Quite so. Lord Oliver says -

It can apply only where the expression of legislative intention is genuinely ambiguous or obscure 
or where a literal or prima facie construction leads to a manifest absurdity ... 

He is repeating what is said in section 19(1)(b) of the Interpretation Act, with which I have dealt. He goes 
on to say-

and where the difficulty can be resolved by a clear statement directed to the matter in issue. 

The Attorney General intetjected a moment ago with accuracy, and that leads me to the judgment of Lord 
Browne-Wilkinson who said at page 60 -

Under present law, there is a general rule that reference to parliamentary material as an aid to 
statutory construction is not permiSSible. 

He points to the reasons put forward for the present rule at page 63 -

. . . ftrst, that it preserves the constitutional proprieties, leaving Parliament to legislate in words 
and the courts (not parliamentary speakers) to construe the meaning of the words ftnally enacted, 
second, the practical difficulty of the expense of researching parliamentary material which would 
arise if the material could be looked at, third, the need for the citizen to have access to a known 
deftned text which regulates his legal rights and, fourth, the improbability of ftnding helpful 
guidance from Hansard. 

Hon Peter Foss: All too often that is correct 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: It is. 

Hon Kim Chance: The point before the last one is relevant: A person should be able to read and 
understand the law. 

Hon ND. GRIFFITHS: That is the third point: A citizen should be able to get hold of the law, hopefully 
in one document, and take it from there. 

My last reference to the case is the same judgment at page 64, where the position is summarised -

... as matter of law, there are sound reasons for making a limited modiftcation to the existing rule 
(subject to strict safeguards) unless there are constitutional or practical reasons which outweigh 
them. In my judgment, subject to the questions of the privileges of the House of Commons, 
reference to parliamentary material should be permitted as an aid to the construction of legislation 
which is ambiguous or obscure or the literal meaning of which leads to an absurdity. Even in such 
cases references in court to parliamentary material should only be permitted where such material 
clearly discloses the mischief aimed at or the legislative intention lying behind the ambiguous or 
obscure words. 

I am very concerned that as a member of a select committee, which is still operating and which deals with 
sensitive matters, I may be compelled to answer questions which are the province of that select committee. 
Of course, I am referring to the Select Committee on the the Western Australian Police Service. I refer the 
House to appendix B of its report, which deals with committee meetings regarding term of reference No 3 
and sets out dates, times and, in some cases, the names of witnesses. However, the most frequent reference 
is "witness interviewed". These people did not want their identity disclosed and the select committee has 
sought to maintain the privacy of those people. 

In fact, it is very difftcult to see how a select committee such as this can carry out its work if at the end of 
the day a creature of the Executive can require me or any other member of the committee to answer 
questions in respect of it I would not have the defence of parliamentary privilege if this were taken away. 
I do not accept the proposition that a particular personality or ethos may prevent that from occurring. That 
is not a safeguard, as the report of the select committee clearly demonstrates with respect to many people in 
positions of power. 

Hon Kim Chance: What would be the position of a clerk to that committee were this Bill to become law as 
it is? 

Hon Peter Foss: That is his opinion, not necessarily what it is. 

Hon Kim Chance: I am asking. 
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Hon N.D. GRlFFITHS: The view of one of the law lords is that perhaps what one says in parliamentary 
debate is not the answer to a specific question. However, the fact that one says it in parliamentary debate 
does not discount it - the answer may well be the case and more often than not it is because members of 
Parliament as part of their job give consideration to what they are doing. A clerk to the committee at the 
moment would be governed by the Standing Orders of this House. In so far as a body outside of the 
Parliament sought to deal with that, the clerlc would be covered by the Parliamentary Privileges Act and it 
would not be open to an inquisitor to make inquiry of the clerk as to who rolled up, what they said and 
what was contained in the evidence. I have a very real fear that a primary operation of members of 
Parliament will go if this Bill is not amended. 

I make reference to some aspects of the committee's report in that context to demonstrate why people are 
concerned to remain anonymous. I refer to page 96 of the report. These comments will be very brief 
because I wish to deal with a number of areas and I know that other members may want to raise the 
question of parliamentary privilege. The report states: 

Evidence presented by police who had spoken up about suspected corruption suggested a 
disturbing propensity of some senior officers to protect at any cost the reputation of the Service. 
Many submissions to the Committee from a variety of sources offered a litany of complaints about 
police harassment or intimidation. . .. the submissions suggest patterns of intimidation in which 
authority is used to cow complainants into submission. The complainants are made to feel that 
protest is useless, that the system is against them. 

Hon Derrick Tomlinson: That is very well written. 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: Thank you. It went on to say -

Hon Peter Foss: Who wrote that? 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: The committee. Hon Derrick Tomlinson has heard these words before, as have I 
and Hon Reg Davies. The report continues -

Harassment of police officers who break the code of silence can be more subtle, but not less 
coercive. 

With respect to the evidence of a witness whose identity was suppressed, the report further states -

At other times he was aware of his vehicle being "tailed" late at night while he was on police duty. 
When he was off-duty, police cars repeatedly cruised past his house as though he were under 
surveillance. There was notable similarity between this officer's experience and that related to the 
Committee by Mr Tilbury and described earlier in reference to the death of Stephen Wardle .... 
nuisance telephones calls were described by another officer who had given evidence against a 
colleague .... A recurring pattern of testimony was that police who spoke out against corruption 
were invalided out of the service after being subjected to harassment and psychological 
intimidation. 

There are many aspects of this report that compel me to the view that much of what has been said to 
members of the committee needs to be treated very carefully and should not be the subject of investigation 
by an agency of the kind that the Bill envisages. If that were to occur, the functioning of select committees 
of this House would be a nonsense - people would not give evidence, select committees could not operate 
in camera and they might as well have open hearings with all that that involves. That is not to say that 
from time to time open hearings are not desirable, but I am making particular reference to the work of 
select committees in relation to very sensitive issues, as I trust the House will agree is the case in respect of 
the work of the police committee. 

The Bill will also impact on legal professional privilege. In fact, it -

Hon Peter Foss intetjected. 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: It removes legal professional privilege in respect of an area dealt with in a 
particular clause. 

With respect to overall policy, given this renamed Official Corruption Commission can deal with matters 
of the past, it would be better at this stage not to remove that legal professional privilege and to reconsider 
the matter, if it is found that it is causing problems. A good enough explanation for the removal of legal 
professional privilege has not so far been forthcoming; that is not to say that there may not be very good 
reasons for it, but we have not had that debate. I make that point in the context of the second reading 
debate. It is for those who wish to change to prove the need for change. They have not done so to date; 
they might be able to do it. If it is a moot point, it would be better not to intrude on legal professional 
privilege at this stage but to see how the matter develops. If change need occur later on, perhaps it could 
be accommodated. 

I will make some brief observations about the judiciary. The Bill treats judicial officers differently. They 
come under notice only through section 121 of the Criminal Code, which is a specific provision relating to 
judicial corruption. The rationale for this is said by the Minister in his second reading speech to be as 
follows -

In order to observe the proper separation of powers, the commission will not be able to receive or 
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initiate an allegation about the holder of a judicial office unless the allegation relates to corruption 
under section 121 of the Criminal Code. 

The important words of rationale are "In order to observe the proper separation of powers". Judges are 
therefore to be protected from the intrusion of a creature of the Executive. It is interesting to note that this 
is not to apply to members of the Legislature. Judges are people who do a job, as are members of the 
Legislature. Their job is important; our job is important However, at the end of the day both they and we 
do a job. Their civil liberties are no more sacrosanct than the civil liberties of any other person. Further, 
when dealing with the separation of powers in a Western Australian context, it is important to note that 
judges do not act only judicially. Members may recall that last week the Lieutenant Governor gave assent 
to a number of enactments. The Lieutenant Governor is the Chief Justice. That assent was not a judicial 
process. The Chief Justice also has a role with respect to electoral boundaries. When he acts in that 
context, he is not acting judicially. 

Hon Peter Foss: He also helps to appoint the Official Corruption Commission members. 

Hon ND. GRIFFITHS: I am not talking about the person but the office. I am sure that members 
appreciate the distinction. He would not be within the purview of the Official Corruption Commission, 
although he is a public officer. As the Attorney General points out, he has a role in its appointment, 
although his role is to recommend and the appointment is made by the Executive. This is a creature of the 
Executive. A judicial officer is engaging in a number of executive functions, whereas legislators who do 
not engage in executive functions, for example, Hon Kim Chance, Hon Barbara Scott and I, are subjected 
to a greater intrusion. If the judiciary were to be subjected to the envisaged intrusion to which members of 
Parliament would be subjected, would that interfere with the carrying out of their judicial functions? If it is 
the case, what does it say about the extent to which the carrying out of our functions as legislators will be 
impinged upon by the passage of this Bill? I raise that question without coming to a view at this stage. I 
am interested in the process that led to this corralling of judicial officers but not of members of Parliament. 

Hon Reg Davies: It is because it is popular to knock members of Parliament 

Hon ND. GRIFFITHS: It might go a bit further than that I like the idea of the separation of powers, 
although the Westminster system by its nature does not really involve the strict eighteenth century French 
view of the separation of powers or the view that occurs in the Constitution of the United States, because 
we select our Executive from the Legislature. However, notwithstanding that, there are functions of the 
Legislature, functions of the Executive and judicial functions. It is widely accepted that each of those 
functions should not unduly impede another. Frankly, to the extent that they do, we end up the poorer. 
When I hear talk of the separation of powers, I end up seeking comfort from old law books. I found the 
oldest law book in my home library. It is Wade and Phillips, Constitutional Law, seventh edition. I make 
these observations because I have a concern about the process as well as the end product At page 31 under 
the heading "Independence of Judiciary" the authors pose the question -

Does the Executive control or influence the Judiciary or the Judiciary control or influence the 
Executive? In this field the separation of powers is strictly observed. 

This is the United Kingdom in the 19608, but I trust it is the case here. Some of these matters may be 
matters of myth but people say they believe in these principles. They wrote -

It can be stated with confidence that there is no interference by the Executive with the exercise of 
their functions by the judges of the Supreme Court and the House of Lords. 

Hon Peter Foss: That is an important point. 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: They continued -

Similarly the courts take no part in the formulation of policy, but simply administer the law as it 
is, leaving it to the Executive to propose whatever changes in the law may be decided upon if a 
particular decision of the courts shows the need for such change. 

When the Attorney General makes his closing comments, I will be interested to hear about the consultation 
and process that will have one branch of government, to use the old fashioned eighteenthcentury-cum
French-cum-United States term of the separation of powers, almost entirely excluded from the purview of 
the Official Corruption Commission, yet members of the Legislature - who are paid next to nothing 
compared with the first branch of government; they have one staff member and are probably the most 
powerless people in the public sector - will be subject to intrusion. 

Hon AJ .G. MacTiernan: It is particularly ironic given that the Attorney General does not believe in the 
doctrine of the separation of powers, as he has lectured us at length. 

Hon Peter Foss: Unfortunately I took over this legislation at a late stage. That wouldn't have been my 
second reading speech. The High Court must know about the policy side. 

Hon Kim Chance: That is an unfair statement. 

Hon ND. GRIFFITHS: It is not an unfair statement. There is a distinction with the High Court dealing 
with the common law. If the Attorney General is referring to the Mabo case, I indicate that that was simply 
a common law activity on the part of the High Court. In dealing with questions of constitutional 
interpretation, our Constitution gives that specific power to the High Court. 
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Hon Peter Foss: It carries it straight across from common law, unfortunately. 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: That is a view the Attorney General may have. However, when one considers the 
various nationalisation cases that occurred in the 194Os, I think the great exponents of black letter law in 
the High Court - people such as Sir Owen Dixon - were as guilty of constitutional intrusion against the 
Parliament of the day as any latter day, so-called non-black letter High Court judge. However, that is a 
view of history. 

I return to the Official Corruption Commission Amendment Bill. I will touch on two aspects. I will 
address ftrst the Official Corruption Commission as the foundation of the Anti-Corruption Commission, 
and then I will deal with this Bill insofar as it relates to the Police Force. When I have dealt with both 
those matters I will conclude my remarks because I know that other members wish to deal with many other 
aspects of the Bill. I do not think it is appropriate that I seek to cover everything. This Bill relabels the 
Official Corruption Commission. It retains the organisation of the Official Corruption Commission and 
gives it greater powers. Building on the foundation of the Official Corruption Commission is wrong. This 
body has been criticised by the Commission on Government I know the answer from members opposite 
may be that the Government is giving it greater powers and, therefore, everything will change. However, 
the Commission on Government gave the matter some - to put it lightly - careful consideration and came 
up with the view that the OCC be abolished. The words on page 80 of its December 1995 report are 
unequivocal: ". .. we recommend that the OCC Act be repealed and that the Official Corruption 
Commission be abolished." It also points out that further recommendations will be made regarding the 
establishment of an independent agency with sufficient and appropriate functions, powers and resources. 

In the report of the Select Committee on the Western Australian Police Service on tenn of reference No 3, 
a number of observations of the Director of Public Prosecutions were referred to. In his dealings with 
operation Bravo Quebec the DPP considered the future of the oversight of the Police Service. One of the 
bodies to which he referred was the Official Corruption Commission. He did not see the Official 
Corruption Commission as being part of the future. The relevant part of the police committee's report is at 
page 81. The committee considered the role of the Official Corruption Commission and recommended a 
different body to deal with matters pertaining to the police. It is clear that the committee was not 
enamoured of the Official Corruption Commission. In fact. page 33 of the report contains its treatment of 
the OCC in summary. It makes the following interesting observation, which says something about the way 
the Official Corruption Commission ~as operated and the way it is likely to operate -

Allegations made in relation to the W APS taken by the OCC are referred to the Police Service for 
investigation. Those investigations generally are undertaken by either the lIB or the IAU. 

I thought the general tenor of that report was that the 1m and IAU had not been doing their job because 
they could not do the job that pertains to corruption and serious misconduct on the part of police. There 
will be no great community confidence in the Official Corruption Commission, whether it be relabelled the 
Anti-Corruption Commission or called after somebody's aunt. Unfortunately, among other things the 
grandfather provisions will ensure that the Official Corruption Commission will continue with the ethos it 
has had for some years; that the very cosy relationship which appears to exist between the Official 
Corruption Commission and the ineffective internal affairs unit. which the Commissioner of Police says he 
will retain, will continue. 

Members on this side of the House have memories of what took place in 1992, as reported by the member 
for South Perth; namely, the current head of the Official Corruption Commission, Hon John Wickham, 
giving a tick to the now Deputy Premier entering into a coalition with the now Premier. I suggest that is 
not an appropriate action on the part of a corruption commissioner. With the greatest of respect to him, if 
nothing else that indicates to me he is not somebody who should be involved in this process. It is an 
interference in the political process. It is interesting to note that in the context of the envisaged removal of 
parliamentary privilege that may occur. I do not want to be unkind to Hon John Wickham because he has 
given distinguished service to this State. I wish him well. I refer to Who's Who in Australia 1996. He was 
born on 5 June 1919. When he retired from the Supreme Court of Western Australia in 1983 he had 
attained the position of senior puisne judge. He has been on the Official Corruption Commission since 
1989. He has held the position of Chainnan of the Official Corruption Commission in a long and 
distinguished career. Unfortunately, he is part of a body in which many on this side of the House have no 
confidence, and his actions, as recorded by the member for South Perth, give us no grounds for confidence. 
Although I acknowledge his distinguished service to the people of Western Australia, he should 
appropriately follow the example set by previous police commissioner Porter and cease to have any 
involvement in the body to be re-labelled the Anti-Corruption Commission. Also, when the Attorney 
General replies to the second reading debate, he should outline the extent to which Hon John Wickham was 
consulted in the framing of the Bill and, in particular, the provisions with which he was concerned. 

Finally, this Bill is deficient as it relates to the police. I have heard it said that the Bill accommodates the 
substantive recommendations of the Select Committee on the Western Australian Police Service, but that 
view is wrong; anyone who argues that view is misleading those to whom he or she speaks. 

Hon Reg Davies: Who puts that point of view? 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: I shall not allude to debate in another place. However, Press reports of those 
debates I have read indicate, and it has been put to me, that government members claim that what is taking 
place is a reasonable compromise. If anything, this legislation compromises the integrity of our Police 
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Force by failing to adopt the recommendations of the police select committee. I have already expressed my 
view that the Bill's primary purpose is to prevent the implementation of the substantive recommendations 
of that committee. The Bill's specific references to the police are window dressing. 

I now refer to the interim report of the Select Committee on the Western Australian Police Force. For the 
most part my comments will be of a general nature; nevertheless, they must be made. The hybrid Bill is 
deficient as it deals with all areas of the public sector when we need, above all else, given all that has 
happened, and continues to happen, a police-specific agency to target and investigate police corruption and 
police serious misconduc~.x The agencies undertaking such woik to date have not been successful, yet the 
Bill's proposals will not 'succeed. A great cry may be heard for people in the public sector, and even 
members of Parliament, to be investigated, and it may be necessary for that to occur in some instances. 
However, the real need in our community is to do something about the Police Force. 

I now refer to page 107 of the select committee report. I know that some people in high places disagree 
with this view; nevertheless, in so doing, they condemn themselves. The report reads under the heading 
"Recommendations of the Select Committee on the Western Australian Police Service" and the subheading 
"Introduction" -

Police corruption is more dangerous to the well-being of society than any other public sector 
corruption. 

This report was signed by all five members of the committee, which included only one opposition member. 
That view was agreed to by all committee members, three of whom serve on the government benches, one 
of whom is an Independent, and the other member serves with the Opposition. Nevertheless, the 
committee diagnosed the ailment in one sentence. This Bill is a hybrid which will not perform the real job 
required. The select committee - not I alone - argued as follows -

If corruption in the police service is controlled, it is easier to control corruption in other public 
sector organisations. The office of constable gives a police officer unique powers. Therefore, 
measures to combat police corruption must be extensive. 

Such powers are not held by members of Parliament, and certainly not by an Education Department 
gardener. 

Hon Derrick Tomlinson: But they sure can be affected by it. 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: That was a pertinent interjection. The recommendations continue -

Internal investigators from a number of police forces told the Committee that corrupt police 
officers are more cunning, knowledgable and clever than their corrupt public service counterparts 
and therefore more difficult to catch. 

That is why the corruption commission should be police-specific. If police are controlled, an effective 
Police Force can deal for the most part with other corrupt people. 

Hon Peter Foss: Most of it will be dealt with by the police, and the police will be dealt with by the ACC. 
That is the model. 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: That is not the model at all, and the Attorney General knows it. 

Hon Reg Davies: Perhaps if they had waited a few more hours to bring in the legislation, they might have 
found the answer. 

Hon Kim Chance: Are you suggesting that it had not already happened? 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: I have suggested that this Bill is a pre-emptive strike to prevent the 
recommendations of the select committee being brought into operation. This Bill was an attempt to 
upstage the committee, but the Government got it wrong. The Bill does not cover matters considered at 
length by the committee. I will not tell the Chamber about the hours which Hon Derrick Tomlinson, Hon 
Reg Davies, Hon Murray Montgomery, Hon Phil Lockyer and I spent together over years working on this 
matter. I will not go through the process of spending hours deliberating on the phrases to be used, ensuring 
that we were certain about findings of fact and being careful and conservative in our approach as we 
wanted to be fair. The issues were given great consideration. We ignored the day to day battle of Liberal 
versus Labor, yet we find that the people of Western Australia are now to be the victims of a pre-emptive 
strike by the Government. 

Instead of proceeding, although it may in the future, with a worthwhile model - it is not perfect, nothing is -
the Government has tried to trump the committee with the deficient Official Corruption Commission 
Amendment Bill. 

Sitting suspended from 12.30 to 2.00 pm 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: Before the lunch suspension I referred to the recommendations of the Select 
Committee on the Western Australian Police Service. The select committee did not recommend that the 
Official Corruption Commission be relabelled. It will not be a police specific anticorruption body, external 
to the Police Service, specifically tasked, as the select committee recommends, to investigate issues of 
police corruption and serious misconduct, and to make recommendations about police procedure, if an 
investigation has exposed procedures which have the capacity to create opportunities for corrupt behaviour; 
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nor will it be able to develop anticorruption strategies, as well as education programs, within the Police 
Service. The model proposed by the Government will not do what the select committee envisaged with 
regard to its primary tetm of reference; that is, set up a standing committee of this House to oversee the 
Police Service. The select committee envisaged that a standing committee would oversee the police 
specific anticorruption commission and be able to recommend matters for investigation, but it would not 
have the power to direct. The select committee was concerned to enhance the role of the Parliament. This 
Bill does the opposite. 

Hon Reg Davies intetjected. 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: Quite so. 

Hon Reg Davies: It is giving more power back to the Parliament. 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: As Hon Reg Davies pointed out, it is indeed significant that after dealing with its 
power to recommend matters for investigation, the select committee then said that such a standing 
committee should have the ability to oversee police matters, including those matters relating to complaints 
against police, allegations of corruption as well as all matters of public concern relating to the police, again 
with the rider, "not impinging upon the operational responsibility of the Commissioner of Police". The 
select committee was concerned to achieve a balance. It is significant that the select committee was of the 
view that a proposed standing committee of this House would have the power to vet candidates for the 
position of senior officer commissioner of its preferred model - that is, the police anticorruption 
commission - and to veto a proposed appointment. Therefore, the Parliament, rather than the creatures of 
the Executive, would have a real role. 

The crucial weakness of the Government's model is its failure to deal with police in the manner suggested 
by the select committee. The select committee's proposal did not arise out of a vacuum. Members should 
be aware of what has been occurring in New South Wales. The Government's proposal is, at best, a 
hybrid. Justice Wood, in his Interim Report of the Royal Commission into the New South Wales Police 
Service of February 1996 at page 69 referred to the record of the New South Wales hybrid Independent 
Commission Against Corruption and its shortcomings. Members of this House should be conversant with 
the operations of the Criminal Justice Commission in Queensland. The recent history of Australia shows 
that hybrids do not work and that a police specific body is needed. Justice Wood, on pages 91 and 92 of 
the Interim Report into the New South Wales Police Service under the heading "The ICAC or a New 
Purpose Built Agency" gave many reasons for establishing a purpose built agency to deal with police rather 
than continuing with a hybrid Much of what he had to say with regard to the New South Wales experience 
is directly relevant to the experience in Western Australia. This State has an obligation to benefit from the 
New South Wales experience and, where relevant, apply it to Western Australia, but this Government is 
failing to do that. I will refer briefly to that part of Mr Justice Wood's report to highlight some of the 
matters that may be considered very relevant to Western Australia. Before I do that, I quote from another 
section of his report -

Careful consideration has been given to the option of establishing a dedicated Police Corruption 
Unit or Division within the ICAC ... It is not favoured for several reasons. 

A dedicated division within the bod~' is better than leaving it as it is, but it does not go the full distance that 
this State should go. I am aware that that intetmediate option will be canvassed as we progress through this 
Bill. The OppoSition will do that with reluctance, but it is all it can do given the nature of the Bill, its 
timing and what caused it to come into being. Justice Wood said of ICAC that -

there is a public perception that the ICAC has failed to tackle police corruption -

It is fair to say that there is no public perception that the Official Corruption Commission has tackled police 
corruption. 

Hon Derrick Tomlinson: Neither does OCC have jurisdiction. 

HOO N.D. GRIFFITHS: It does not have jurisdiction to do very much at the moment. Essentially, it is a 
body which has failed for a variety of reasons and it should not be the foundation for the body proposed in 
this Bill. Prior to the lunch suspension I dealt with that. 

Hon P.R. Lightfoot: What little staff the OCC has are excellent. 

Hon ND. GRIFFITHS: I want to go through these points rather than go over a matter that we dealt with 
before we suspended for lunch. He said -

a real difficulty exists in structuring a Division ... which could be kept separate and independent 
from the rest of the organisation; 

He makes the significant point that there are "competing functions of the ICAC relating to other public 
sector matters". He refers to its role in corruption prevention and education and said -

••. there is a risk that the resources of the Division would be drawn away from police corruption, 
particularly if a major inquiry was undertaken in some other area; 

He refers to difficulties of "coprdination of direction, decision making. and priority setting". All of these 
matters would exist if there were a separate division, which is what Justice Wood is talking about. 
However, they are even worse if there is no separate divisiOn. He said -
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competition could exist in access to technical services and surveillance, with the potential for 
divided loyalties; 

permanent hiving off of an area of the ICAC, while sharing central administrative resources, 
would not be conducive to good morale or harmony. Jealousy over resourcing and a tendency to 
attribute failures to that fact are almost inevitable; 

He points out with great accuracy bearing in mind the history of the New South Wal~ Police Force and its 
similarities with the Western Australia Police Force -

the security of a Police Division would be very difficult to maintain in an environment in which a 
common organisational culture existed, and staff from different sections mixed at work or 
socially; 

Hon Peter Foss intetjected. 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: The Minister is part of a Government which is concerned that ineffective pollce 
self-regulation on police corruption and police serious misconduct continues. That is why we have this 
governmental model before us. Mr Justice Wood points out-

by the nature of its general work in the public sector, the ICAC -

For that read the OCC or the ACC -

faces an ever present danger of being caught up in political controversy ... 

For example, Hon John Wickbam gave advice to the National Party that it was all right for it to enter into 
coalition with the Liberal Party, which might affect its credibility and level of commitment. Justice Wood 
then said-

other agencies such as the Australian Federal Police, the NCA, and the NSWCC, might feel 
greater confidence in the dissemination of sensitive information to a smaller specialist agency than 
to a multifunctional agency which has a larger staff. 

For the most part and in substance, those matters of concern with regard to setting up a separate police 
division within ICAC are relevant to the fact that we are not setting up a separate PACC in Western 
Australia. They are important in terms of setting up a separate police division within the OCC, to be 
relabelled the ACC, but they are even more relevant to the proposition that is brought before us by the 
Government; namely, that we have a hybrid. Some might say that the OCC, to be renamed the ACC, will 
deal with the police separately. Those who offer that are saying that they are in some way directing this 
agency. That is a very dangerous step to take. Is this Government directing the OCC or will the ACC, 
albeit appointed by the Government through use of executive agencies, no matter how eminent the people 
in the agencies are, be independent of this Government in its day to day activities? I am concerned about 
that bearing in mind the close links that exist between many of the personalities involved. 

In conclusion, the powers that exist under this Bill are very wide in their application, both with regard to 
the people who can be caught by the net and with regard to the impingement on the civil liberties of those 
people. The Bill has great difficulties with parliamentary privilege, and it may have difficulties with legal 
professional privilege. For reasons not properly explained, it qnarantines the judiciary to an almost 
unnatural extent, but it does not quarantine people who perform an equally important, or if I may say from 
a democratic context, a more important function. The legislation is based on the faulty foundation of the 
OCC, which, to be fair to the OCC, was set up for another purpose. Let us move on and set up an 
organisation which deals with an appropriate purpose. 

The Bill fails to deal with the very important issue of police corruption and serious misconduct. That is the 
reason we are dealing with the Bill: Those opposite, for some reason or another, do not want police 
corruption and police serious misconduct to be dealt with independently of the police. They have accepted 
the old line of the police, hook, line and sinker. They believe the police are the only true investigators, 
although they use rhetoric to the contrary. That is how they behave. Frankly, we are, at the end of the day, 
supporting the second reading of what is a very deficient Bill. 

BON REG DAVIES (North Metropolitan) [2.18 pm]: I am pleased to speak very briefly on the Bill 
before us. Hon Nick Griffiths covered most of the areas that I want to cover and he did it much more 
eloquently than I can. 

Hon Peter Foss intetjected. 

Hon REG DAVIES: As I said to Mr Foss a moment ago, I left school when I was 14 to help feed a very 
hungry family. I have not had the privilege of the education and further education in law that Hon Nick 
Griffiths has had. I think he gave a very fme and considered speech. I want to make my points very 
clearly today because I do not want them to be misconstrued by the public. I fully believe that every 
corrupt or crooked copper should be brought to justice, as I believe that every corrupt or crooked member 
of Parliament should be brought to justice. My comments the other evening when I was talking in defence 
of parliamentary privilege were construed by the general public as my not wanting members of Parliament 
to be investigated for corruption. I want to bring members' attention to a couple of letters to the editor in 
The West Australian on Saturday and this morning. I will also read a transcript of a telephone message that 
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was left on my answering machine on 5 July 1996 to let the House know how the public views those 
sentiments. A male caller who did not leave his name said -

I fmd it hard to believe, Mr. Davies, that you were once a member of the S.A.S .. I fully support 
your call for a Royal Commission into the West Australian Police Force but I am absolutely 
disgusted to hear you say that politicians should not be investigated by the corruption commission. 
I believe you have destroyed any credibility you've had. 

If you can tell me that politicians are more honest than policemen, you must be really living in 
cloud cookooland. Perhaps you can tell me how Mr. Len Buckeridge is winning all these 
contracts. Is he not a great friend of the Liberal Party? And how come this Northbridge tunnel 
has gone through? Who's going to provide all the concrete for that? 

I tell you what, Mr. Davies, you might think there is corruption in the police force: I tell you 
what, it's nothing compared to corruption in politics. And you know it 

Hon E.J. Charlton: I can understand this bloke not leaving his name. I bet his mother wouldn't even know 
him. 

Hon REG DAVIES: He continued -

I tell you what, mate, you have lost any credibility you had. By all means, investigate the police 
force, but don't act as though there is no corruption amongst you politicians. Don't think the 
public are stupid, because they're not. The public can see through the guise and they can see why 
the Liberal Party doesn't want a Royal Commission - because it will bring out the dirt on certain 
politicians. 

Wake up to yourself, Mr Davies, start acting like a soldier. 

Hon P.R. Lightfoot: It is signed by Brian Bull, Don't-tell-my-name. 

Hon REG DAVIES: I can understand these comments by someone who thinks a member of Parliament is 
trying to cover up any corruption that may be in politics. Nevertheless I support my stance about this Bill 
impinging on parliamentary privilege. From the outset I indicate that I support the establishment of an 
independent anticorruption commission. Amending the Official Corruption Commission Act, renaming it 
and giving it tiger teeth could be seen as a long overdue step in curtailing public sector corruption in this 
State; or it might be viewed by an increasingly cynical public as just another political stunt, a last minute 
attempt by this Government to be seen to be doing good. 

It will be interesting to see how members of the media and the public accept this Government's action on 
fighting corruption. Perhaps they will say that it is just tap-dancing around the real issues. Surely the 
Premier will have the message by now that the people are not happy with the Government's record on law 
and order. By the Premier's actions on this issue alone - that is, the way in which the Bill was brought to 
the attention of the public - a window of opportunity has been opened for the inevitable to happen at the 
next election; that is, the Australian Labor Party has now been given some opportunity of possibly wresting 
government from the coalition. 

I do not think members of the publir see this Government as being serious about tackling corruption in the 
top echelons of the Police Service. The police in Western Australia will be very happy with this Bill. They 
will see that the Government of Western Australia is on their side. Corruption will continue because the 
Government is enSuring criminal activity in the Police Service will not be tackled seriously. 

We know the Independent Commission Against Corruption in New South Wales was a failure in the police 
area because the boundaries of its portfolio were far too wide. In the face of this failure in New South 
Wales, the Government in this State is proposing a very similar investigative body. The only difference 
from the New South Wales organisation is that the new Anti-Corruption Commission is to be based on the 
floundering structure of the Official Corruption Commission. That organisation has been the subject of 
damning comment by people mentioned by Hon Nick Griffiths earlier. The Director of Public 
Prosecntions, the Government's own Commission on Government and the Select Committee on the 
Western Australian Police Service have commented about it. Hon Nick Griffiths quoted from page 33 of 
the select committee's report about the role of the Official Corruption Commission, and I will continue 
where he left off. The committee stated -

The OCC appeared to the Committee to be little more than a body which collates statistics of 
corrupt behaviour in the public sector. 

Pursuant to section 7C of the amendments to the OCC Act, the OCC has the discretion to refer 
matters to the Ombndsman. In reality, this simply puts one more step, or authority into the 
system. It is as easy for a person to make the complaint directly to the Ombudsman, rather than 
making it to the OCC who then merely refers it on. 

The Premier showed flagrant disregard for the report of the Select Committee on the Western Australian 
Police Service. He demonstrated he had no respect for that committee. The other evening when we spoke 
about directing this Bill to a select committee, members of this House indicated what they thought three 
members of this House could achieve. If the Government feels like that about this matter, why not go all 
the way and disband all committees of this House? Members of the Government used committees to their 
advantage when in opposition, but not now. 
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Hon Kim Chance: They did not do much of a job of it when they were in opposition. 

Hon REG DAVIES: Select committees and standing committee are very valuable tools for Governments 
and Parliaments. By his actions the Premier has showed the contempt in which he holds the electorate. 

Those who have read the recommendations of the select committee will be aware that the committee as a 
whole discussed the need for a royal commission into the Western Australia Police Service, particularly 
with regard to cOmIption. The committee decided there was no need for a royal commission, provided the 
Government was prepared to set in motion a series of ongoing committees to oversee the reports on police 
cOffilption. The Govemtnent pre-empted the recommendations in this report by tabling its own 
anticorruption legislation ihree hours before this committee was to present its report. By taking that action, 
the Premier treated with contempt this all-party committee that had conducted intense investigations and 
deliberations for over three years. He did not even have the courtesy to take a cursory look at the select 
committee's recommendations. The Premier showed no statesmanship whatsoever in upstaging these 
important recommendations. In view of those recommendations, I legitimately continue my call for a royal 
commission into the Western Australia Police Service. I refuse to succumb to the Government's plan to 
override the recommendations of this committee. 

Some of the evidence reported by the Select Committee on the Western Australian Police Service was as 
follows: Some police accept COffilpt payments to protect prostitutes and drug traffickers; some police sell 
drugs confiscated from raids and pocket money from drug raids; some police tamper with evidence; some 
police collude to conceal evidence; some police interfere in criminal investigations; there is selective 
leaking of confidential information to the Press; and some police warn people under investigation for 
gambling or drug offences. 

It is interesting to consider what the people of Western Australia said about the need for a royal 
commission into the Western Australia Police Service as reported in The West Australian of Friday, 
28 June, which states about the results of a Westpoll-

Nearly two-thirds of West Australians want a royal commission into the State's police force. 

Sixty per cent of those surveyed in this week's Westpoll believe such an inquiry is needed while 
only 32 per cent are against a royal commission. 

Eight per cent had no opinion. . .. 

Seventy per cent of ALP voters want a commission, compared with 52 per cent of Liberal backers. 

The call for a royal commission is also more pronounced in country areas, where it has 65 per cent 
support compared with 58 per cent backing in the metropolitan area. 

People under 35 were also keener (71 per cent) than older respondents (54 per cent). 

That is an illustration of the public's reaction to police comIption. I am sure the public would have been 
better served had the Government proposed the establishment of a separate body to investigate police 
cOmIption. 

With regard to the establishment of a royal Commission, it is interesting to consider the comments of 
former New South Wales Independent member Mr John Hatton, who is probably the person most credited 
for the establishment of the Wood royal commission in New South Wales. He said in an interview on 
21 June on ABC Radio with Peter Kennedy, when talking about police comIption in Western Australia and 
the way the Western Australian Government has reacted to the select committee -

So on any parliamentary inquiry would have only got to part of the truth and the police are not 
going to come forward unless it's a complete independent open powerful inquiry that can give 
some officers indemnity ... 

Peter Kennedy said -

The person who is pushing for the inquiry in the West is an independent MLC, Reg Davies, but 
he's not getting much support. 

John Hatton replied -

Well he deserves all the support in the world. You see, people say to me how can you be so 
certain about it? Well I can tell you why it has to be an independent inquiry and it has to be a 
royal commission. First of all if you look at all the major government departments and 
bureaucracy in any area of government the police are the most skilled in cover-up because they 
are the people who all their career have been responsible for collecting evidence, investigating, 
presenting evidence, losing evidence, distorting evidence, and of course verballing people and 
getting wrongful convictions. 

Mr Hatton said later -

ICAC (Independent COmmission against COmIption) NSW hasn't worked, what do you want to 
do? Do you want to go back and spend all of that money for nothing? Of course the royal 
commission is going to be expensive it will get to the truth it will get to a restructure of your 
police service it will root out the COmIption and most importantly it will give the honest officers a 
fair go because what we found in New South Wales the COffilpt became very powerful and they 
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were able to manipulate the promotion system and sideline the honest and good officers and the 
vast majority of course are people who are honest and good officers. 

He concluded the interview by saying -

And I throw this challenge to both sides of your parliament: Have you got the guts to take on the 
police service or is there some skeleton in your cupboard for the simple reason that we also found 
in New South Wales in the 80s I don't know about the 90s but in the 80s for certain that police 
had records on some politicians and this is one of the reasons why they weren't game to take them 
on. 

Those are some of the comments about the need for a royal commission. However, this Government has 
decided to completely disregard -

Hon Peter Foss: We have not ruled out a royal commission. 

Hon REG DAVIES: - the recommendations of the Select Committee on the Western Australian Police 
Service, and every time a royal commission is mentioned, the Government of Western Australia and 
preceding Governments, and anyone who has had power in this State for the last century, have back
pedalled on the issue ~use they are scared of the police and of the power of the police and have not been 
game to take them on. While that continues to be the case, we will continue to have corrupt police in this 
State well into the next century. 

We have also seen the Premier on the back foot with regard to some of the claims he made in his second 
reading speech. We know that a second reading speech is intended to illustrate the spirit of the legislation. 
I have read the second reading speech that was given in the Legislative Assembly and I have also read the 
second reading speech that was given in the Legislative Council, and they differ, so I am not sure which 
second reading speech illustrates the spirit of this legislation. I can only assume that the second reading 
speech that was given in this House is the one on which we must rely as being correct. 

Hon Derrick Tomlinson: You have no choice; the second reading speech in the Assembly does not exist. 

Hon REG DAVIES: What will happen in the future if someone wants to query any part of the legislation? 

Hon Peter Foss: If we do not vary the speeches, Hon Nick Griffiths complains that they are the same as 
those given in the other House! 

Hon REG DAVIES: What will be the situation if there is a query and the second reading speeches vary to 
the degree that these speeches vary? 

Hon EJ. Charlton: Stick to this one, Mr Davies, and you will not go wrong! 

Hon REG DAVIES: Beauty! Thanks, Eric! 

The PRESIDENT: Order! All members know that they must ignore what happens in the other place. 

Hon REG DAVIES: Precisely, Mr President As I was saying, the second reading speech given by the 
Attorney General is the second reading speech so far as this House is concerned. The Government boasts 
that the proposed Anti-Corruption Commission will have the power to recommend the establishment of a 
royal commission. However, the Government says also that it will decide whether there is a need for a 
royal commission. Once again, we are seeing a bit of a toothless tiger. If the Anti-Corruption Commission 
said there was a need for a royal commission and the Government said, "No; sorry", it would be a bit like a 
select committee which reported to the Parliament and said there was a need for a royal commission into 
the Police Service -

Hon Peter Foss: It did not say that 

Hon REG DAVIES: It did say that, with some provisos. The select committee said there was a need for a 
royal commission with wide ranging powers to investigate the Western Australia Police Service if the 
Government did not do certain things, such as set up an independent police anticorruption commission or a 
standing committee of the Legislative Council, or amend the Parliamentary Commissioner Act. 

Hon Peter Foss: All have been dealt with by the Government in the principles of this Bill. 

Hon N.D. Griffiths: That is not so. 

Hon REG DAVIES: Is it right to draw the proverbial line in the sand? Will this Anti-Corruption 
Commission be able to investigate anything that occurred prior to the legislation coming into effect? 

Hon Peter Foss: Yes. 

Hon REG DAVIES: We know that police officers do not say to the crooks that because a murder was 
committed 10 years ago it is okay, and they will not look into it now. 

Hon Peter Foss: Nor does this Bill. 

Hon REG DAVIES: Can the Attorney General say whether this Bill provides for ajudicial inquiry into the 
areas suggested by the select committee, particularly the Mickelberg inquiry? If the proposed Anti
Corruption Commission recommends a judicial inquiry, I presume that the Government will not be 
compelled to hold such an inquiry. 
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Hon Peter Foss: Unfortunately there is no such thing as a judicial inquiry provision, but it would be a royal 
commission. 
Hon REG DAVIES: I understand it is the same thing. 

Hon Peter Foss: The reason to put it there is that the Government must take responsibility - but it would be 
a brave Government that would say no. 

Hon REG DAVIES: I referred to the Mickelberg case because I know that that has concerned the Attorney 
General for some time. I came across an article by Jim Pollard in the Sunday Times dated 3 April 1992 
headed "Re-open swindle file - MPs". The article reads-

Upper House MPs Reg Davies and Peter Foss want the State Government to re-open the 
Mickelberg case. 
The Independent and Liberal MLCs are concerned about the new fmdings from overseas forensic 
tests permitted recently by W A Chief Justice David Malcolm. 

Hon Peter Foss: The matter is before the Court of Appeal and should not be discussed at this stage, or it is 
about to go before the court again. 

Hon REG DAVIES: I query whether Ray Mickelberg is receiving fmancial assistance from the 
Government in his appeal. Will he receive financial assistance similar to or perhaps more than that 
received by his brother? It is not very good for a person seeking justice without having the funds to obtain 
justice. We are all aware how costly it is these days to obtain good legal representation. I understand that 
the $130 OOO-odd provided to Peter Mickelberg would pay for a lawyer of less experience than a Queen's 
Counsel these days and we all know that such matters can be lengthy. I am concerned also about the lack 
of complementary whistleblower legislation. I may be wrong, and I am happy to be corrected, but I 
mention this today -

Hon Peter Foss: Which whistleblowers are you talking about? 

Hon REG DAVIES: It is not a term I like. However, it is a common term for people who come forward -

Hon Peter Foss: They are protected under the same immunity that applies to witnesses who appear before 
a royal commission. 

Hon REG DAVIES: That is those who dob in their mates. Even though it is an offence under section 81 of 
the Criminal Code for police officers to supply restricted information -
Hon Peter Foss: This Bill specifically deals with secrecy. 

Hon REG DAVIES: Let us talk about whistleblower-type legislation. If we want to stop corruption in the 
Public Service we must encourage people to come forward and give information to the proper authorities, 
whether that be the ACC, its superiors, or the Police Force. 

Hon Derrick Tomlinson: The internal affairs unit depends entirely on that 

Hon REG DAVIES: Of course. What happens now when someone makes accusations or wishes to 
p'!0vide evidence of corrupt activities? I tum now to an article in The Australian on 25 June 1996 headed 
'No peace after the whistle blows" which reads -

Whistleblowers are vilified, threatened, and ostracised. As Katherine Glascott reports, ours is a 
culture hostile to those who break rank and 'dob'. 

Further on it continues -

Efforts to protect police whistleblowers have had limited success. Last week, Whistleblowers 
Australia vice-president Jean Lennane and former detective Kimbal Cook resigned from the NSW 
Police Service's Internal Witness Advisory Council in protest at continuing victimisation of 
officers who exposed corrupt colleagues. 'They advised police to avoid making complaints to the 
department's internal witness support program. 

"The sharks are still in the water," Lennane said yesterday. "We don't believe it is safe for anyone 
to go to the police service with serious information. From now on they should go to the media or 
the royal commission, but not the police. " 

I am sure that is exactly the view in Western Australia. 

Hon Peter Foss: They can go to the ACC. 

Hon REG DAVIES: My concern is that we should have a body in place all the time to protect these people 
in both the Public Service and the Police Force. 

Hon Peter Foss: The Public Service situation is provided for in the new Act It still does not stop 
unofficial matters. 

Hon Derrick Tomlinson: The identity of the complainant is not divulged. It would be divulged only in the 
event of an open inquiry. 

Hon REG DAVIES: Hon Derrick Tomlinson knows from the past three years' events just how the POlice 
Service works -
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Hon Peter Foss: That is one of the great flaws in the IAU referred to in the report The proposal is that 
there be an external body to handle that 
Hon.REG DAVIES: That is an external body looking at police only. 
For the benefit of members who do not know about the treatment of people who genuinely want to provide 
information, I will continue with the article. This is a matter of great concern to me. These people should 
have proper protection. If the Attorney can say that the protection offered by this Bill is sufficient and 
satisfactory, I will take him at his word because I have no option. 
Hon Peter Foss: It is as much as one can do by way of legislation. 
Hon REG DAVIES: The article continues -

Distressed at the problems she says she witnessed in the force, Locke went to the then NSW 
police commissioner, Tony Lauer, with her concerns, but was told she was a whistleblower, a term 
she had not heard before. 
"That is police who dob in police," Lauer allegedly explained. 

So far there has been no suggestion that Lauer himself had been corrupt, but he has consistently 
denied that there is systemic corruption within the NSW Police Service ... 

That is just what we have heard here time and time again. Has section 81 of the Criminal Code been 
amended to allow police officers and public servants to come forward? Are they protected under this 
legislation when giving evidence to the ACC? 

Hon Peter Foss: The duty of secrecy is not to apply to disclosure to the commission. There are penalties 
for people who harangue -
The PRESIDENT: Order! We are not in Committee. 

Hon REG DAVIES: Other areas of the Bill concern me. First, there is the question of the accountability of 
the organisation itself. It will have secret, behind closed doors deliberations. I do not think the public will 
be truly satisfied unless there are open hearings. Even royal commissions, which generally have open 
hearings, have the ability to go into closed session if reputations and identities need to be protected. I do 
not see why this organisation should not have that same ability where necessary to have hearings behind 
closed doors, but as a general rule its hearings should be open. 
There does not appear to be any statutory requirement for the commission to report to the Parliament, 
although division 6 provides a discretion - the commission may, if it desires, report to the Parliament. 
Division 7 requires an annual report to the Parliament, but limited to statistical and general information. 

This Government has spoken of this Bill as one of the greatest attempts to fight corruption, yet it fails to 
make the commissioners permanent; there are part time commissioners probably similar to those on the 
Totalisator Agency Board. 

Hon Peter Foss: That is not the case. 

Hon REG DAVIES: I could not filltl anything -

Hon Peter Foss: One does not normally fmd it in the Act; it is a question of appointment. 

Hon REG DAVIES: I can go only on media speculation and talkback radio. 

Hon Peter Foss: The chairman will be full time. 

Hon REG DAVIES: Was that always the case? 

Hon Peter Foss: No, that was requested by the chairman of the committee. 

Hon REG DAVIES: As a member of the Liberal Party. 
Hon Derrick Tomlinson: It was requested by me as a member of the Legislative Council. 
Several members intetjected. 

Hon REG DAVIES: One of the Liberal members of Parliament requested that. That is one of the changes 
that we have seen since this Bill was first rushed in to upstage the select committee. 

Hon Peter Foss: It was not rushed in; it was held up !he because the Premier was in the Eastern States. 

Hon REG DAVIES: It was an insult to the committee that the Government chose to use that particular 
morning to bring forward -

Hon Peter Foss intetjected. 

Hon REG DAVIES: Since that day there have been all sorts of turnarounds and changes. For example, 
one of the members of the Liberal Party asked -

Hon Peter Foss: Are you saying it was a refusal? 
Hon REG DAVIES: No. However, if the Government had waited and studied the recommendations of the 
police select committee it may have come up with a much better piece of legislation, and it may have been 
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a little better informed on the police aspect than it was prior to the committee's presenting its report. The 
Minister can correct me if I am wrong, but I believe that the chairmanship of the TAB is a part time 
position. 

Hon Max Evans: Yes. 

Hon REG DAVIES: Originally this body was treated the same as the TAB. 

Several members intetjected. 

Hon Peter Foss: We do not actually say judges are full time but we expected them to work full time. 

Hon Derrick Tomlinson: Members of Parliament are not full time. 

Hon REG DAVIES: My concerns relate to police matters and the Government's attempt to disregard 
Parliament by lessening the powers of each House to discipline its own members. 

Hon Peter Foss: The reports are determined by Parliament under proposed section 7HR. 

Hon REG DAVIES: That is the one with all the corrections according to the second reading .speech. It 
looks like my granddaughter wrote them in. 

Hon Peter Foss intetjected. 

Hon REG DAVIES: I doubt if I am allowed to decide very much in this place, but at least I am allowed to 
speak, and I thank the members for that privilege. 

It may not be seen as a popular move to speak about the privileges of this House, but I believe it is proper. 
It may be very popular for the Government to lump members of Parliament in as public servants. 
However, we should be doing our very best to enhance the position and the role of members of Parliament 
and at the same time enhance the position and role of the Parliament of Western Australia. The long term 
effect of this lessening of the power of the Houses to discipline their own members will be the complete 
removal of a power given to the Parliament in 1891 in the Parliamentary Privileges Act For over a 
century, this conservative party has held itself up as the great guardian of Parliament as a supreme body. It 
is now prepared to pay lip service to that view long held by conservatives because it is popular to do so. 
That is sad, becanse if we let popular feeling dictate how we act and what we do here, eventually it will 
lead to the breaking down of this great democratic system that has been in this State for over a century. 

It would be just as popular to give judges more discretion in sentencing and so on. However, the 
Government clings to the belief that under the Westminster system there is an implied separation of 
powers. Surely there must be some sort of misunderstanding if a Planning Minister is able to sit as an 
appellate body and MPs are able to perform duties of justices of the peace. In addition, Parliament itself is 
often referred to as the highest court in the land or the High Court of Parliament So, this myth would 
appear to be more a competition for functions rather than separation of powers, and it is often invoked as a 
bogus means of avoiding accountability rather than preserving constitutional balance. 

This Bill effectively takes the power from the Parliament because the Parliament currently has the power to 
oversee its own privileges. In 1988, the Dowding Government set up a parliamentary standards committee 
chaired by Hon Kim Beazley senior. The committee membership included both Presiding Officers 
together with such luminaries as Professor David Black and others. One of the terms of reference was to 
consider the need for a code of conduct for members of Parliament. The committee found there was no 
sound need for such a code because the rules, customs and usages of the House gave the Parliament 
immense powers in dealing with its own members. Regardless of the current views of members of 
Parliament, we should remember that we come and go, but the institution of Parliament and its standing 
must be retained at all costs. Any watering down or undermining will break down the institution of 
democracy itself. The public must know and believe that they are represented in this institution without 
fear, favour or threat 

This House could censure, reprimand, fine and expel its members on the basis of it not being in the 
interests of the House that they remain as members. Also, even if they are found not guilty in a criminal 
court, this House could dismiss them on the basis of it not being in the interests of the House that they 
remain as members. Section 14 of the Parliamentary Privileges Act allows this House to direct the 
Attorney General to take legal action against a member for corrupt conduct Essentially this Bill usurps the 
Parliament's power by making members subservient to the body that they are creating, all because it seems 
currently so popular to do so. If members allow this to happen, I warn them that it is only the start of 
dismantling this institution of Parliament It is a classic case of the Executive versus Parliament 

In respect of the police aspects of the Bill, I ask the Attorney General whether the consideration of the 
recommendations of the Select Committee on the Western Australian Police Service have been taken into 
consideration. If so, has there been any attempt to incorporate those recommendations? In particular, does 
this new body have the charter to make recommendations about police procedures if an investigation has 
exposed procedures which have the capacity to create opportunities for corrupt behaviour? I ask whether it 
has the ability to develop anticorruption strategies and education programs within the Western Australia 
Police Service; whether an education research team responsible for education at a recruit training level and 
continuing education programs will be in place; whether the body will have all the powers, rights and 
privileges of a royal commission - yes, it has that; whether the body will be accountable to Parliament 
through a standing committee of the Legislative Council -
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Hon Peter Foss: It could be a jOint standing committee. The House will decide that 

Hon REG DAVIES: We have not got one, and I certainly did not see that 

RON JOHN HALDEN (South Metropolitan - Leader of the Opposition) [3.03 pm]: The Opposition will 
support this Bill. We supported it in the other place, where we detailed our concerns. Basically our 
position can be summed up by saying that this is a Bill of lost opportunity. The issues that have been 
pointed out, both in the Parliament by committees of this Parliament, and outside the Parliament, in the 
Opposition's view, and mine personally, show that we should have taken a little more time in considering 
this piece of legislation. On the issues of corruption as detailed in the second reading speech, it is 
interesting that the Government decided it would have a little free whack at the Opposition in opening by 
referring to the activities of the 1980s. We all know that corruption was not invented in the 1980s. We all 
know that corruption is particularly alive and well in the·1990s, as it was prior to the 1980s. We have to 
deal with it in a reflective way and not, as the second reading speech does, by taking the opportunity to 
make the odd cheap political point, nor by the debate in the other place as I read it In the second reading 
speech the Government said that it has always had a strong record in this area. It talked about the Freedom 
of Information Act being proclaimed in its life, which is true, but that Act was put through this Parliament 
by the previous Government. It talked about the Public Sector Management Act. In fairness, some 
improvements have been made in that area. It talked about a new Commissioner of Police being appointed. 
I was somewhat vexed when I read at page 71 of the report of the Select Committee on the Western 
Australian Police Service details of a number of police officers who have been charged with either criminal 
or disciplinary matters since the appointment of the new Commissioner of Police. I do not blame the new 
Commissioner of Police for that That statement is indicative that corruption is rife within the Police Force 
no matter who is the Commissioner of Police. To make some obscure point that we have appointed a new 
Commissioner of Police and that has solved the problem is absolute arrant nonsense. As I will continue to 

,say throughout this speech, we must have a strong, independent open body to inquire into the Police Force 
r and a body to inquire into the public sector, including members of Parliament. However, to suggest that 

police corruption has diminished since the middle of 1994 by virtue of tabling this report is not correct. 

Hon Derrick Tomlinson: That is not claimed in the report either. It is an explanation. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: The number of criminal and disciplinary charges that have been laid is fairly 
graphic. 

Hon Peter Foss: I would be worried if it went down. That is a good sign. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: There are two ways of looking at that. I suggest that it has nothing to do with the 
appointment of a new Commissioner of Police. That is the nonsense. 

Several members interjected. 

The PRESIDENT: Order! 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: We have just had a report from a committee chaired by the member who chose to 
interject which refers to the total ineffectiveness of the Police Force's capability to investigate itself under 
former Commissioners of Police and former Governments, and under this Government and this 
Commissioner of Police. Let us get that matter very clear at the start. 

The Government went on to talk about the Official Corruption Commission Act, which was amended in 
1994. That was a bit of a yawn! It then said that the Royal Commission into Commercial Activities of 
Government and Other Matters was established in 1994 and that its work was almost complete. A 
hallmark of this Government is that it took 18 months to two years to establish the Commission on 
Government The Government has acted on almost none of the findings of the Royal Commission into 
Commercial Activities of Government and Other Matters. What a record! On the day the police 
committee report came down, the Government decided to bring down this hastily conceived piece of 
legislation in an attempt to blunt the impact of the tabling in this House of the select committee report 
There should be no doubt that parts of the content of the report were leaked. Members on this side of the 
House were advised of that and asked to confll1ll it, but they could not I know, and every member in this 
place knows, that it was not leaked by Hon Nick Griffiths; he would not leak anything. If I may say so, he 
would probably not even tell people on which day the committee was to meet, by virtue of what he sees as 
his requirements of confidentiality. My fear at the time was that this report would be selectively leaked 
over the days leading up to its tabling, so that there would be very little of a parliamentary spectacle and it 
would appear to culminate in the minimisation of the damage to the Government 

Hon Peter Foss: Why would it damage us or the police? Most of the corruption referred to was when you 
were in government 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: It also refers quite clearly to the Attorney General's time in Government 

Hon Peter Foss: What! 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: Let us not go down that cheap, political point-scoring path. 

Hon Peter Foss: That is what you are doing. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: The situation is quite clear. Parts of the report were leaked. The Press knew of it 
and wanted confumation. As I have said, it was not leaked by our member of this committee. I can vouch 
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for that above anything else in my life. We had this Bill coming down on the same day as the select 
committee report -

Hon Peter Foss: Notice of it was given a week before. You might have noticed that the Premier was away. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: That does not prove anything. The report, or parts of it or comments about it, were 
obviously given to the Press the previous week anyway; therefore, to suggest that is nonsense. The 
problem with this hastily conceived arrangement, which the Opposition will support -

Hon Peter Foss: This is ex~tly what we announced in March. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: The Government introduced the Bill in the other place in June. Let us consider the 
issues that must be improved upon, questioned or looked at to make this better legislation. Surely that is 
what we are about for this legislation. 

Hon Peter Foss: What about the Bill I have here? 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: I do not know that one. 

Hon Peter Foss: It is called the Commissioner for the Investigation of Corrupt or Improper Conduct Bill 
1996. That was an opportunistic little Bill if ever I saw one. That Bill was announced when the 
Government brought out its Bill. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: I will not go down that path with the Minister because it is not worth it It is 
nonsense. 

Hon Peter Foss: You are talking about yourself. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: No, I am talking about the Minister and bis Government. He obviously is not 
going to be serious about this matter, but that is okay. 

Hon Peter Foss: I am very serious. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: At the end of the day the Government will be judged on this legislation. 

Hon Peter Foss: I hope so. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: We know so. At least 12 areas require serious consideration by this Chamber - if 
not by this Chamber, by a committee of this place - to improve the legislation, and to ensure it is correct 
legislation and is the best anticorruption legislation we can provide in this State. It has already been well 
established by previous speakers that a need exists for a dedicated police anticorruption body as a separate 
entity and that we should at least evaluate whether it would be better to have such a body. As Hon Nick 
Griffiths says, it should not be a hybrid; hybrids have a litany of failure to highlight their activities in the 
past Wby should we not ensure that what we do will be the best we can do? The Government says that it 
will instruct the commission to separate itself and to look at public sector corruption on one hand and 
police corruption on the other. 

Hon Peter Foss: That is in the legislation. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: It is not clearly in the legislation, and it should be. 

Hon Peter Foss: It is because it says that one of the things it will look at is whether the body is 
investigating itself. That must mean, generally speaking, police. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: It should be specifically stated in the legislation that there are two divisions or two 
bodies. It should not be a situation of "perhaps that might occur", bearing in mind the history of these 
matters. Surely we should take the opportunity to consider whether investigations should be in secret 
Should it be up to the special investigators to make the matters public or should it be mandatory? 

Hon Peter Foss: You should read the member for Eyre's speech on that matter. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: I am not saying that I have a view on that, but that we should make the right 
decision. 

Hon Peter Foss: It is defmitely a matter to be considered. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: We should consider also whether we should give people who are being investigated 
the right to say that they would like a matter to be investigated publicly. In an in camera hearing there is 
no certainty of people being guaranteed their rights; they may be trampled upon and they may feel that they 
are being infringed. We should consider the option of allowing people to choose whether the hearing is 
public or in camera. The member for Eyre, Mr Grill, puts forward a good argument That is why I say that 
we must consider both sides. However, perhaps we should give options to allow people to say what they 
feel is in their best interests. Perhaps that is a better situation than the straight-out determination that the 
hearing is to be held in camera or in public. We should consider those matters. 

The issues of the right to silence and of people knowing precisely what they are being investigated for 
should be considered carefully. In my view people, particularly non-public authority people, should know 
why they are being investigated. 

Hon Peter Foss: When it gets to that stage, they are told. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: That occurs only in general terms. Surely people should have the right to specific 
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knowledge. If not, they should have the right to silence. One should be weighed against the other in that 
equation. We may decide that people do not have the right to silence if they are told specifically what they 
are to be charged with. 

Hon Peter Foss: They get immunity once they apply to speak. That cannot be used in evidence against 
them. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: I understand that However, we must evaluate what is proposed in these areas. 

Hon Peter Foss: I couldn't agree more. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: The fourth matter to be addressed is the issue of who should head the commission 
and what sort of body it should be. I accept the term the Government has put forward; that is, the Anti
Corruption Commission. I am of the view that the head of the ACC should not be Justice Wickham; it 
should be a dynamic new person with new abilities and strategies. I see no reason in this Bill for the sunset 
clause on Justice Wickham's appointment 

Hon Peter Foss: Can you see the possibility of the impropriety of removing a person by an Act of 
Parliament? There is a balance there. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: Yes, there is. However, I do not see why the Government has included a sunset 
clause. If it wanted to appoint Justice Wickham in an open field, I would accept that totally. 

Hon Peter Foss: Except that he would have to be removed first 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: I understand that. We should start with a new body. That is one of the problems of 
working off this organisation in the way the Government has. 

Hon Peter Foss: You do see the point of the impropriety of our removing him by an Act of Parliament? 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: I do not have a problem with that. That is a reasonable safeguard. To root out 
corruption we should look to appoint people who have far more knowledge in this area, who are far more 
active and, as has been pointed out, who are likely to head this commission for the eight year term. 

Hon Peter Foss: We have now included the requirement to advertise before making a decision. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: Yes, that has been done. 

Hon Peter Foss: He is not disqualified. If the committee decides to appoint somebody else, it will appoint 
somebody else. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: Of course, I understand that. However, a dynamic new organisation is required -
an organisation with some continuity in its leadership for the foreseeable future. 

Hon Peter Foss: A capacity will exist for that in June or July when the position comes up. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: The Opposition believes that opportunity for a dynamic new organisation should be 
taken up by the Government The OCC is a failed organisation in anticorruption. That is not Justice 
Wickham's fault; the commission was a pathetic attempt in its original concept to fight corruption. 

My ruth point is that this body should have an educative role. I realise that the Government has included 
such a provision, but it should be more explicit. The Opposition's amendment is far better in explaining 
the role which Parliament requires of the anticorruption organisation and what it regards as important. 

I share the concerns expressed by previous speakers about parliamentary privilege. This Bill poses a great 
threat to parliamentary privilege. I know that the Premier gave a commitment in relation to the second 
reading speech in this place, and commented in Committee in the other place, in this regard, but if we are 
to be serious about this matter let us not dillydally around the edges regarding the protection of privilege. 
This is not only our privilege, but the privilege we extend to our committees and to people who give 
evidence to those committees. Privilege is extended to .the transcripts containing people's views, 
experiences and information. If we are serious about this, we should not expect section 19 of the 
Interpretation Act to guarantee privilege. In fact, I do not believe that the section will necessarily 
guarantee that privilege. I now refer to the 1993 Pepper (Inspector of Taxes) v Hart case which appeared in 
the All England Law Reports. 

Hon Peter Foss: It is a different situation from here; we have a statutory proviSion, don't we? 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: Yes, it does. 

Hon Peter Foss: Good answer! 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: The Attorney General knows that problems in this regard must be dealt with. 
Privilege does not necessarily allow the judiciary to comment upon what is said in this place. What 
mechanism triggers the judiciary to decide on an issue vis-a-vis the Interpretation Act and the law of the 
land, which is absolutely specific in this Bill? 

Hon Peter Foss: What about the FIsheries Act, for instance? 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: Let us stick to this one. 

Hon Peter Foss: Why not? 
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Hon JOHN HALDEN: That Act has a few problems as well which we will discuss another day. Page 43 
of the report of the case to which I referred reads -

. . . the rule prohibiting courts from referring to parliamentary materials as an aid to statutory 
construction should, subject to any question of parliamentary privilege, be relaxed so as to permit 
reference to parliamentary materials where (a) the legislation was ambiguous or obscure or the 
literal meaning led to an absurdity -

Members should think about the Bill: It is not ambiguous and obscure, and it sure as hell is not an 
absurdity. Any law passe\d before or after this legislation, regardless of secrecy provisions, will be 
overridden by this measure. I do not suggest that the Government is trying to override privilege, but it is 
not guaranteeing that privilege. I do not refer to privilege used in a senseless way with people in this place 
making accusations about others. I refer specifically to the type of information probably held by the Select 
Committee on the Western Australian Police Service, such as accusations naming people. These 
provisions would allow a special investigator to approach the Clerk or a member of the committee and 
demand the material under penalty of $8 000 or two years' gaol. If that does not place the sanctity of this 
House and its committee system in great jeopardy, nothing does. The quote from the Pepper v Hart case 
continues -

... (b) the material relied on consisted of statements by a minister or other promoter of the Bill 
which led to the enactment of the legislation together if necessary with such other parliamentary 
material as was necessary to understand such statements and their effect and (c) the statements 
relied on were clear. 

A number of citations could be given from this document. 

Hon Peter Foss: You should look at the Interpretation Act which is the law in this State which deals 
specifically with it. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: I understand that, Attorney General. However, the Supreme Court must trigger the 
mechanisms of the Interpretation Act, in which case it decides that a matter is unclear and what Parliament 
said is considered. We have no guarantees that that will be triggered. 

Hon Peter Foss: I am not relying on a statement; the statement is there because some people believe there 
is doubt, but I do not believe there is any doubt. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: We agree to differ. Clearly, there is enormous doubt. I presume that this is the 
Attoruey General's legislation, and it clearly overrides any law previously, or to be, enacted, including any 
secrecy provisions. This matter is not obscure. It does not require the great wisdom of the Attorney 
General as its implications are clear. If the Attorney General is right and I am wrong, what will it matter to 
protect the integrity of the example I have given? 

Hon Peter Foss: It might have the reverse effect. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: I will be interested to hear the Attorney's analysis of that; I will listen to that with 
great enthusiasm. I wonder about the contorted and distorted little argument we will hear so that this 
problem is not appropriately addressed. 

I refer next to legal professional privilege. Proposed section 8K(2) clearly outlines legal professional 
privilege - the Attorney General obviously has it in front of him. 

Hon Peter Foss: I am referring to Mr McGinty's Bill. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: We are dealing with the Government's Bill. 

Hon Peter Foss: I am seeing whether it has the same idea. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: Let us deal with this Bill. Let us not be sidetracked by nonsense. Legal 
professional privilege is to be removed from people employed in the public sector. This is not the privilege 
of lawyers - as I have seen and read - but of clients. 

Hon Peter Foss: The client is probably the Crown, not the individual. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: It may not be the Crown in all cases. Let us not be silly. If one went to a private 
lawyer to seek advice -

Hon Peter Foss: That is protected. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: Indeed. If one went to a departmental solicitor, and one was given confidential 
information which would normally attract legal professional privilege, one's position could be jeopardised 
as a result of the provisions. 

Hon Peter Foss: The privilege belongs to the Crown. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: It may well do so. 

Hon Peter Foss: If they are the ones paying for the legal advice. If it is legal advice obtained in a public 
capacity paid for by public money, it belongs to the Crown. 

Hon Kim Chance: What if the public officer is a lawyer employed by the Aboriginal Legal Service? How 
does the Crown become the client? 
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Hon Peter Foss intetjected. 

The PRESIDENT: Order! Would the Leader of the Opposition like to stop the clock while the honourable 
member and the Attorney General have a discussion? 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: Although that is an interesting prospect, I will continue my speech. I understand 
the Attorney's comments. In the time between now and the Committee stage I will pursue that point 
further. 

My eighth area of concern is the extent of coercive powers for non-public officers or public sector 
employees; I referred to that matter when discussing my third concern. The Bill clearly ropes in members 
of Parliament, the Police Force and the public sector. However, public involvement with that huge group 
of people, comprising 100 000 plus, can result in a member of the public being roped in and having his or 
her liberty questioned. We must be very careful and considered in how far we allow that to go and what 
rights we enshrine in the legislation for that group of people. 

The ninth point refers to something which I do not understand, but I am sure I will receive a warm response 
from the Attorney General when he explains the reason for the difference between judges and politicians. 

Hon Peter Foss: Certainly, it will not be a problem. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: It is not a question in which we should devolve the extent to which politicians and 
their activities can be scrutinised, but it eludes me why judges should not have the same level of scrutiny 
applied to them. Internationally and in this country there are examples of corrupt judicial people. 

Hon Peter Foss: Not total. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: No, it is not - it pertains only to section 121 of the Criminal Code. 

Hon Peter Foss: It covers the clear case of misconduct 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: That is right. Why should we not look at the subsidiary cases for the judiciary? 

Hon Peter Foss: I will be glad to explain that to the member. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: I am interested to hear the Attorney General's explanation and I have the feeling 
that I will not be warmed by it 

Hon Peter Foss: You will support it. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: I will wait to hear it. 

My tenth PObit concerns the unrestricted delegation of powers. The powers of delegation for the body 
which is proposed by this Bill should be clearly prescriptive. I do not have a problem with the delegation 
of certain powers. It is obvious that must be done in some cases, but they should not be as open-ended as 
they currently are. Under this legislation Mabel or Jimmy the street sweeper could be given powers far in 
excess of what they need. I am also concerned about the issues of security and safety as they apply to 
contracting out provisions. Again, there should be some very clear prescriptive legislative framework 
under which those people work. We should be assured of the confidentiality of information which they 
may come across in the course of their duties. That assurance should be included in the legislative, not 
regulatory, framework. 

Hon Peter Foss: Do you know about the rules of Parliament? 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: Yes, I do. 

The eleventh point I am concerned about is clause 13 of the Bill, particularly proposed paragraph (c)(vi) 
which reads -

and constitutes or could constitute -

a disciplinary breach providing reasonable grounds for the termination of a person's 
office or employment as a public service officer under the Public Sector Management Act 
1994 (whether or not the public officer to whom the allegation relates is a public service 
officer or is a person whose office or employment could be terminated on the grounds of 
such conduct); 

My understanding of that is members of Parliament can be judged on public sector standards, and I do not 
think that is appropriate. When one looks at the public sector standards, particularly the minor offences -

Hon Peter Foss: It must be a situation where a person can be terminated. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: They can be relatively minor offences; for example, insubordination, moonlighting 
and things of that nature. What happens if members of Parliament are judged for insubordination, not 
being courteous towards each other or moonlighting? 

Hon Peter Foss: You are putting a peculiar interpretation on it. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: It is a clear interpretation. 

Hon Peter Foss: It must comply with the paragraph (c) (i) to (iv). 
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Hon JOHN HALDEN: I concede that one must go through that process to reach this point A person who 
went through the process could be tripped by this. 

Hon Peter Foss: If the member were to read paragraph (c) (i) to (iv) he would frod that all this does is to 
add a degree of seriousness. It is a tightening up. 

The PRESIDENT: Order! I suppose the good news is that there will be no need to discuss this issue in 
Committee. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: The ;Attorney General is greatly assisting me with my speech, but it is probably 
better that he not continue to\ do so because he is not complying with the standing orders of the House. 

I concede it is a tightening up of the legislation, but there is a possibility that standards will be applied to 
members of Parliament under the Public Sector Management Act which are not appropriate. It adds 
nothing to this clause with respect to members of Parliament. I concede that if the wording were better aud 
it related only to public sector employees, I would not have a problem. 

Hon Peter Foss: They would be subject to discipline; therefore, it would have the reverse effect to what 
you waut to achieve. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: I will be interested to hear the Attorney General's explauation of that 

The twelfth point which needs very careful consideration by this House is that the Anti-Corruption 
Commission will be able to conduct hearings only if a special investigator is appointed. 

Hon Peter Foss: What hearing? It would be a public hearing which would have the powers of a royal 
commission. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: That is right. It entwines itself in the issue of how public will be the operations of 
the Anti-Corruption Commission. When a complaint is made people must be able to establish the process 
which has been followed and the bona fides of the case. I am concerned that the wording of that part of the 
Bill is "may" and not "shall". It would be far better if the legislation were to read "shall report to people" 
or "shall explain to people". 

Hon Peter Foss: You can see the reasons against that? 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: I can, but there is a defroite argument for using the word "shall". For example, 
when dealing with this issue a person could say that he made an allegation of enormous corruption but no 
explanation was given to him for why it was not investigated. He would be told that a special investigator 
had not been appointed, and nobody would know why that was the case. To ensure the credibility of the 
ACC an explanation should be made up-front It would be very unfair to put the organisation in a position 
where people could make these allegations and it could, for whatever good or bad reason, hide behind the 
fact that the legislation is not tight enough to be prescriptive about what should happen. 

We do not want legislation that people can criticise because it is sloppy or because the commission will not 
be accountable or does not have to be accountable. We must tighten up on some of the word usage. The 
Minister said I would understand reasons for the use of the word "may". The use of the word "shall" will 
not require reports in great depth. However, a report that a complaint has been received will be required, 
and that will include a report that certain functions have been performed. On the basis of that process, the 
decision will be made on whether to do something about the complaint People should feel confident that 
their allegations have been investigated, even if they are not pursued. That shortcoming in the Bill should 
be addressed. 

Hon Peter Foss: If you think these details of procedure should be prescribed, surely the rules of Parliament 
are the appropriate place, rather than in the Act itself. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: I understand what the Minister is saying. The Minister is right in saying that the 
activities of the commission can be dictated by rules of Parliament. However, we do not have a rule of 
Parliament which requires the detailing of correspondence and an explauation of why something was done 
or not done. y.te could, but it is highly unlikely. 

Hon Peter Foss: They take the place of regulations. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: Yes, they do. However, this is about making the legislation clear. We have to dot 
the "i's" and cross the "t's" in this legislation. 

Hon Peter Foss: Why do not we do that in the rules of Parliament? 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: We could, but people will not go to the rules of Parliament in the first instance to 
frod out how this beast acts. They will go to the Bill and the Bill should be prescriptive enough to explain 
how it performs, what are its function, and what are their rights and entitlements. We are not arguing that 
it cannot be done under the rules of Parliament. The Bill should also be specific so that people are clear 
about it. I have taken most of my time to detail 12 issues of concern-and for improving the way the Bill 
deals with the matters about which we are concerned. The Minister has responded throughout my speech, I 
understand in breach of the standing orders. However, I have gained some understanding of his views of 
this Bill. The Minister and I may agree on a number of those 12 concerns. However, a number are 
necessary to dot the "i's" and cross the "t's". The Opposition does not want to frustrate the legislation. We 
want it to be the best legislation. 
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Hon Peter Foss: I accept that totally. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: However, the Minister will never convince the Opposition on the parliamentary 
privilege issue. If he seriously believes that this legislation does not or could not impact upon 
parliamentary privilege, what we propose will put that beyond doubt once and for all, as it should be put 
beyond doubt. The central issue to this debate is that there is a history that hybrids do not work. There 
must be a dedicated separate division. 

Sitting suspendedjrom 3.45 to 4.00 pm 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: Before the suspension, I was explaining to the Attorney General that we could 
reach some commonality in the 12 points I raised. However, some considerable issues in this legislation 
must be further discussed and explored so that at the end of the day we will have good legislation. As my 
colleague Hon Nick Griffiths said, one has only to look at today's Notice Paper to realise this legislation 
has been brought forward with some haste. Two Bills on the Notice Paper are referred to in this 
legislation. 

If this Government has been dealing with corruption in its three and a half years in office, why has it not 
addressed the recommendations of the Royal Commission into Commercial Activities of Government and 
Other Matters about the significant political corruption in this State; that is, the electoral redistribution? 
That primary corruption of our political system has never been addressed. There was silence on the issue 
of corruption on many fronts until this Bill was brought down, and that was done only when it was 
rumoured the Select Committee on the Western Australian Police Service would bring down its report. 
The Government has been tardy on this front. This piece of legislation is important, but it needs further 
scrutiny and further opportunity to improve it, so that we do provide an anticorruption process that is 
workable and effective, and will minimise the impact on not only civil liberties but also the rights and 
privileges this place has experienced for a long time. With cooperation, we will achieve this end. 

HON J.A. SCOTI (South Metropolitan) [4.04 pm]: It is not my intention to oppose this Bill. There are 
steps in the right direction throughout the Bill. I have not had the opportunity to give it the scrutiny I 
would have liked. Quite a lot has been happening in my electorate and unfortunately I have not been able 
to get advice about this important Bill in the way I would have liked. 

I have a number of concerns with the legislation. I will begin where the Leader of the OppoSition left off; 
that is, with community expectation. Following the Royal Commission into Commercial Activities of 
Government and Other Matters, the W A Inc royal commission, the community expected to see a total 
revamp of our investigative bodies that looked at corruption within government and government 
departments. Given the recent report of the Select Committee on the Western Australian Police Service 
and given what has happened in other States, people expected we would get a royal commission to act as a 
purge of the Police Force in Western Australia; to get those elements causing problems out In an 
inteIjcction to a previous speaker, the Attorney General said that that is still a possibility. I hope it is a 
probability, rather than a possibility. I, too, think there should be a more open look at those actions of the 
past that have not been dealt with properly. 

Hon Peter Foss: There is a difference between the specific items of the past referred to by the committee 
and a general royal commission into the police. The Wood royal commission has made certain statements 
about that difference. 

Hon J .A. SCOTT: I had hoped for a more general royal commission. In the short time I have been in 
Parliament, individuals and police officers have made me aware of many instances causing problems 
within the Police Force. 

Hon Peter Foss: Wood raised the question whether the royal commission would get rid of that or whether a 
more directed inquiry is a better way. 

Hon J .A. SCOTT: I feel there is a lack of confidence and the best way to overcome the problem is to have 
this - I do not like using the word "purge" - cleansing of the system to ensure we get a fresh start with the 
commission that is proposed to be put in place so that future problems do not arise. Many people inside 
and out of the Police Force, who are known to have committed very serious criminal offences, are running 
around free today, without having suffered any penalty for their actions. That is not right, and as a 
Parliament we should not allow that to continue. 

Like other speakers, I am disappointed this Bill pre-empted the recommendations of the Select Committee 
on the Western Australian Police Service. Quite frankly, that was a political act designed to show the 
Government was already dOing something about this issue. However, it has been some time since the royal 
commission put forward recommendations for a change to our investigative systems. The police select 
committee has taken up considerable time and effort of this Parliament, and it is a very bad mistake that the 
report and the recommendations of that committee have not been taken into account when this Bill has 
come before the Parliament. Sufficient time was not given in the other place to the consideration of those 
recommendations, and to a lesser extent sufficient time has not been given in this place. 

I certainly applaud the move away from the police conducting internal investigations, because that has not 
worked, despite Mr Falconer's support for it -

Hon Peter Foss: He has said that he supports this legislation. 
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Hon J.A. SCOTT: He may have done, but I have heard him say on radio that the police are the best people 
to investigate the police. 

Hon Peter Foss: He has been fumly in favour of the ACC's having a branch to investigate the police. 

Hon J.A. SCOTT: I am pleased that is so, but I have heard him make a comment which gives me the 
impression -

Hon Peter Foss: It is the wrong impression. He has been one of the strongest advocates of an independent 
investigation of the police. 

Hon J.A. SCOTT: I have certainly noted that he has used independent investigators - private ftrms - to 
look into the Argyle Diamonds matter. 

Hon Derrick Tomlinson: And other matters. 

Hon J .A. SCOTT: Yes, and with rather more success than he has had by using the internal investigations 
unit of the Police Force. 

Hon Derrick Tomlinson: We do not know yet 

Hon J.A. SCOTT: I suspect that it has already exceeded what was done by the internal investigations unit 
Hon Derrick Tomlinson said that we do not know yet. I certainly know that whenever someone has asked 
questions in the Parliament about the result of investigations that were commenced many years ago and 
which might be a bit embarrassing to the Police Force, we usually ftnd that just at the time when those 
questions are asked, those investigations seem to start up again. 

Hon Peter Foss: That matter is before the courts. 

Hon J.A. SCOTT: I am not referring to the Argyle Diamonds case. I am referring to other matters. Hon 
Mark Nevill has asked questions about the mysterious transfer to the Eastern States of cars with funny 
smoking stuff in their doors. I have asked questions about other matters, and I have been told that it will 
take considerable time to get the answers to those questions. Those answers should be relatively easy to 
obtain because I have given the numbers of the mes in which those answers can be found; I have copies of 
those answers, but I wanted them to be on the record. 

There is no doubt that there is a culture within the Police Force, as there is in many other organisations, 
where the agency goes into protection mode rather than deal with the problem. That relates to the matter to 
which Hon Reg Davies referred; namely, the role of whistleblower, or of people who want to speak out 
about wrongdoings in their department, for whatever reason. In most cases, not just in the Police Force but 
in all departments, those people are vilifted, and I have seen evidence of that occurring. It is a well known 
course of action throughout the world in all sorts of departments that people who blow the whistle become 
the people who are under suspicion and are often forced out of their job and driven out of the organisation 
altogether. 

A personnel practices survey that was conducted within the Police Force in 1989 not only revealed low 
morale, but also gave an insight into the culture within the Police Department. The response to the 
question "How I would be treated if I spoke up against the policy of the police organisation", revealed that 
an overwhelming 73.5 per cent of those who responded, which was 1 606 offtcers, were dissatisfted. The 
police offtcers at that time thought there was no way that their problems could be dealt with. To my 
knowledge, nothing has been done since that time to deal with that matter. 

With regard to the power of the Executive to override the privileges of the Parliament, I had originally 
intended to disagree with Hon Reg Davies, but now that I have heard him, I think he has made out a fairly 
strong case for how we should prevent that from happening. I hope this Bill can be amended so that will 
not happen. However, there must be some way in which we can look at the interaction between the 
Government or parliamentarians and the Police Force, because many questions have been raised in the past 
about that interaction. 

I turn now to an article in The West Australian of 9 April 1992, which states that former police 
commissioner Brian Bull told the Royal Commission into Commercial Activities of Government and Other 
Matters that -

We don't concern ourselves with time. We can afford to be very patient when we deal with such 
investigations ... 

He was talking about the investigations into the witness Peter Beckwith, who was dying at the time. As to 
the blue me -

Sir Roland: So you can sit by and see participants die as time bears them away? 

Les Ayton told the commission that police made no attempt to interview Mr Beckwith before he died in 
July 1990. The report continues -

Deputy Commissioner, Mr Bull held up a blue me about 2.5 cm thick which he said had been 
seized by the federal police from Robert Smith's premises and passed onto him. 

He laughed and said. They couldn't get rid of it quickly enough. He said he had read the me 
thoroughly and had come to the conclusion that he would take no action on it. It involved 
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politicians on both sides of the fence, and he said, I guess if I inquire into that I'll end up having to 
lock people up on both sides of the political fence. I'm not going to be involved. 

The question of the police not acting on evidence within the blue me was raised by the Foss Committee 
and in the second interim report of the Select Committee on Government Surveillance in June 1991, at 
paragraph 31. 

I will not continue with that matter, but the point is that when the police are not acting because they do not 
want to lock up members of Parliament, it also brings about the opposite situation: The probability in such 
cases is that members of Parliament may be fairly unsure whether they want to do anything about 
corruption or misbehaviour in the Police Force. It is a two-way proposition. We must provide for 
members of Parliament to be answerable for their actions. I wonder whether the proposed Anti-Corruption 
Commission will be able to look at the blue me. Perhaps the Attorney General can inform me about that 

Hon Peter Foss: What is it? 

Hon J.A. SCOTI: The blue me to which I referred. 

Hon P.R Lightfoot: The one that the former Commissioner of Police "sat on" for two years? 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order! 

Hon J.A. SCOTI: That is the one. I wonder whether the ACC will be able to access that me and deal with 
it, because it is very important for the public to know that no link exists between the police and the 
Parliament, in a corrupt sense, or when protection is offered one way or another -

Hon Peter Foss: The problem is that the me was "sat on" for years, and once the me wasusat on" there 
was a time limit for prosecution on one of the few criminal matters at the time, and both Burkes should 
have been charged. 

Hon J.A. SCOTI: Perhaps Parliament should consider those time limits in such matters. If people are able 
to stifle matters long enough, they will get away with it. It is not right, and the public will not have 
confidence in this place if we allow the situation to continue. 

Hon Peter Foss: Fortunately the committee is looking into that. 

Hon J.A. SCOTI: We are aware of a number of occasions when police officers have not been charged; 
they have been allowed to leave the force. Police officers to whom I have spoken, say it does not depend 
on the seriousness of the matter but on the seniority of the policeman and whether he is a member of the 
right group. Without doubt there are strong divisions within the Police Force. That was indicated by the 
select committee. Indeed, we seem to have two Police Forces at loggerheads -

Hon Peter Foss: That has been disassembled by the current Commissioner of Police. 

Hon J.A. SCOTI: At the same time as we consider such misdemeanours, we must make a strong attempt 
to build up morale within the Police Force. 

Hon Peter Foss: Commissioner Wood queried the adverse effect on morale. 

Hon J.A. SCOTI: In this case, when obvious misdemeanours have been allowed to continue for a long 
time, part of the problem with morale is the fact that a large sector of the public has no confidence in the 
force -

Hon Peter Foss: For some reason the public has the same confidence in politicians, which may not be 
justified. 

Hon J .A. SCOTI: Just because the public has a higher regard for the police than politicians does not mean 
that they are held in high regard. From my observations, many people have serious misgivings about what 
is happening -

Hon Cheryl Davenport: Young people have those low opinions. 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order! 

Hon J.A. SCOTI: Hon Reg Davies has already pointed out that 71 per cent of people under 35 want a 
royal commission. That is a strong response. They are not confident that police are acting fairly in 
apprehending the people gUilty of misdemeanours. Even the people who are apprehended will feel more 
comfortable with the outcome of those actions. When policemen are able to get away with very serious 
crimes, and are merely transferred or leave the Police Force before investigations are completed, justice is 
not seen to be done. Frankly, justice is not being done. It seems to have happened many times. That 
situation must cease. This Bill will tackle the problem. However, it will not tackle the less obvious 
problems in relation to promotion or non-promotion. Police who are members of a certain group are 
promoted more quickly than others. I may be wrong, because I have not checked the situation thoroughly, 
but some people seem to be able to obtain quick promotion. Some people are even able to hold positions 
above their substantive rank with some permanency - in some cases, for years. That is unfair. It is almost 
a corrupt reward in some cases. If we intend to build up morale in the Police Force, we must ensure not 
only fairness for all policemen but also that justice is seen to be done. The public must have confidence 
that fairness exists within the Police Force between all police officers. Police officers must be rewarded for 
their ability, not because they belong to a clique -
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Hon Peter Foss: It should be on merit rather than seniority. 

Hon J.A. SCOTT: I believe it should be a mixture, because after a certain time seniority should earn the 
officer something. 

Hon Peter Foss: Not necessarily to the top. 

Hon J.A. SCOTT: Not necessarily to a level above their ability, but certainly

Hon Peter Foss: There shoul~ be a recognition of both experience and capacity. 

Hon J.A. SCOTT: That is1right, there should be a recognition of both. Loyalty and sticking at things 
should have some sort of reward in this life. 

Hon Derrick Tomlinson intetjected. 

Hon J.A. SCOTT: Another area to which Hon Reg Davies referred was the cost of justice. I have heard of 
many cases of people - not necessarily within the Police Force but I am sure the situation is the same -
facing action that entails going through the courts, which costs a great deal of money. There is no way out 
of it and quite often people do not have the money to contest the case. As a result, they must wear the 
consequences because the case will cost them more than the charge, fme or whatever it might be. We must 
look very closely at the cost of justice in this State. I know this is digressing, but I heard recently of an 
action involving a family defending a case and the cost of the transcript was $12000. These people were 
invalid pensioners and that put them in a very difficult position. We should be looking at alternatives -
simple technology such as audio tapes that would cost probably $12 to achieve the same result 

Hon Peter Foss: There would be no transcript, just the audio? 

Hon J.A. SCOTT: Yes. They could then fmd the bit they wanted without incurring huge costs. Such costs 
are making justice available only to the rich of this State, especially as we see access to legal aid being 
made more and more difficult 

This Bill should not have been rushed through as it was. As a result of its speedy passage it is not as good 
as it could have been. That is a real pity because there has been a number of attempts in this State to try to 
get the system we want Each time there have been political reasons why that has not been achieved. We 
are selling short the people of this State by not taking our time and getting it right Generally, members 
want to see the best possible Bill. 

Hon Reg Davies: We sure do! 

Hon J.A. SCOTT: That is true on both sides and in the middle. 

Hon Reg Davies: And within the community. 

Hon J.A. SCOTT: Yes, the community wants to see the best possible Bill. The process through which this 
Bill has gone means that it will not be right; problems will crop up. I know that we find problems with all 
Bills, but it would be good to get this one right so that we do not have to come back in a couple of years 
and do it again. 

Hon Reg Davies: If you had the time, could you not iron out the problems? 

Hon Peter Foss: You can take time and a lot of argument Every model must be imperfect. The problem 
is that you always have the human factor. 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (Hon Derrick Tomlinson): Order! Perhaps Hon Jim Scott will be allowed to 
complete his speech. 

J.A. SCOTT: I believe the community wants a royal commission and I believe the processing of the 
should have taken more time - it is a shame that it did not. However, it is making some improvements 
therefore I do not intend to oppose it. It is just a shame for the people of Western Australia that it is 
what it could be. 

KIM CHANCE (AgriCUltural) [4.37 pm]: Like my colleagues, I support the Bill, but I do have 
reservations. Having said that, I would like to note how much I appreciate the contribution made in 

P3ItlClllar by my colleague Hon Nick Griffiths in opening the debate for the Opposition. The honourable 
member has raised matters in terms that are easy to follow; nonetheless they are complex matters that will 

serious consideration. I certainly look forward to the Attorney General's response. I also 
the contribution by the Leader of the Opposition, who has also indicated one by one the areas in 

the Opposition, Independent and Green members have indicated some degree of concern. 

Opposition and the Independents have approached the Bill in a mosaic fashion, because we have 
of the Bill that are criticised for being too narrow, aspects that are criticised for being too broad -

Peter Foss: Sometimes the same aspects. 

KIM CHANCE: Indeed. There are aspects that are criticised for being too soft and some that are 
as draconian -

Peter Foss: They are sometimes the same aspects again. 

KIM CHANCE: No, I do not think that is true in the second respect. Each point of view is relevant 
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and cogent, because this Bill crosses the minefield that lies between the community's desire to purge 
corruption and its wish to see civil liberties untranunelled. However, overlaying that minefield are the 
even more dangerous issues of parliamentary privilege, legal privilege and confidentiality by public 
servants. Those last three matters are most certainly black and white in terms of the legal facts. Again, I 
await with interest the Attorney General's view on those aspects. They seem clear to me and others, but 
that is the purpose of a parliamentary debate: We will be able to go through the issues in detail. 

If we take notice of the polls, we see that this Government is regarded in the community as being fairly 
successful in the broadest sense of the word. However, if we look at the polls in detail, we see that the 
Government has been less than successful in some areas. One such area is law and order, another is 
industrial relations and, associated with that, the way in which it deals with the public sector. However, 
above all, on the question of corruption, the community is at best unconvinced in relation to the 
Government's credentials. Failure, relative failure, or even perceived failure in respect of these issues are 
all predictable enough. 

We are heading towards the twenty-first century, yet this Government casts its mind with the morals of 
eighteenth century industrial relations rather than enters the new century with fairness and fair play as its 
criteria. It has the objective of weakening the umpire and the checks and balances in the industrial 
relations arena That may seem to be totally irrelevant but it is not. The Deputy Leader of the Opposition 
in the other place argued very clearly the difference between our parliamentary system and that in the 
United States, where it is recognised that systems can be corrupt 

Hon Peter Foss: Part of lobbying is to offer incentives. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: Quite, and they are very different systems. Some of the systems in the United States 
seem by our standards to be corrupt. 

Hon Peter Foss: The United States has an eighteenth century system which has not changed - that is why. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: Certainly, and the United States' Constitution makes guarantees which our 
Constitution does not under the Westminster system, although I am always a little disturbed when we talk 
about the adoption of the Westminster system. We do not have a Westminster system in Australia, but 
rather a mixture of the systems in Washington, Westminster and Switzerland. 

Hon Peter Foss: It is closer to the Westminster system than any others. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: That is true. In the United States there is a recognition in the system, albeit implied, 
that because parliamentary systems equate with power, power is the handmaiden of corruption. The United 
States' systems tend to address this by checking power with power. 

Hon Peter Foss: It has not been very successful. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: No, but the intent is there, and nor has the Westminster system been that successful. 

Hon Peter Foss: The way to hell is paved with good intentions. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: That we have not been successful is demonstrated by the fact that we have these 
ongoing problems, which I do not need to list now, which were addressed in the report by the Royal 
Commission into Commercial Activities of Government and Other Matters and the Commission on 
Government I will come to that in a moment. I thought it necessary to go through that because it is an 
important part of and is relevant to the policy of this Bill. This Government essentially attained its 
mandate on the back of a great amount of work which had been done by a number of people in the then 
Opposition, particularly the work of Hon Barry MacKinnon. He made it very clear that something was 
terribly wrong with the systems and the people who were rnnning the Government at that time. Having 
won government as a result of that work and later work which came out of the royal commission, an 
imperative was placed on this Government, more than on any other Government in Western Australia, to 
do something to implement the recommendations which had arisen directly from and as a result of the 
royal commission. 

Hon Peter Foss: Or address the problems in a public way. We did not necessarily have to agree with the 
recommendations. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: The royal commission made 114 recommendations - correct me if I am wrong - on 
how Western Australia should be better governed. In the debate in the other place the Premier was 
challenged to name one recommendation which had been implemented. Three and a half years into 
government, having been elected on the back of the findings of the royal commission and its 114 
recommendations, the Premier could not name one recommendation that had been implemented. 

Hon Peter Foss: I could tell you all the things we have done to address the real problems though. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: I am sure the Attorney General will when his opportunity arises. 

Hon Peter Foss: I would if I thought they needed to be mentioned. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: It is fair to say that a substantial number of those 114 recommendations are 
addressed in this Bill. This Bill came into the House in a pre-emptive manner two days before the release -

Hon Peter Foss: It was announced in March, notice was given the week before, and the Premier had to be 
here. 
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The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (Hon Derrick Tomlinson): Order! Perhaps we will let the member develop 
his argument. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: Thank you, Mr Deputy President. I thought I was doing it rather well. 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: I will not comment on that. I will simply allow you to address the Chair. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: Two days before the release of the select committee report which dealt with a vital 
issue on corruption, although not the only one, this Bill was introduced in a pre-emptive manner. The Bill 
addresses only some of the community's expectations about the way corruption should be tackled and only 
some of what the Commission on Government has called for. 

Hon Peter Foss: The Royal Commission into Commercial Activities of Government and Other Matters, the 
Commission on Government and the police committee have all come up with different recommendations. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: Indeed they have. I have acknowledged that this response has picked up some of the 
recommendations of the Commission on Government Let us consider for a while some of the vital areas 
in which recommendations were made which have been addressed by this Government Commercial 
confidentiality was identified as a problem and remains a problem. No action has been taken in the area of 
the Administrative Appeals Tribunal. The functions of the Auditor General have still not been broadened 
to the extent they need to be. There is still no sign of an independent archives authority, which was 
identified as an absolute must. The reform of the electoral system, which is the very base of the system of 
government in this country, was not only addressed in a shallow way but also dismissed very quickly 
because the National Party managed again to push over the Liberal Party in the playground. Still no action 
has been taken on revamping of the role of parliamentary committees, although I suppose that is as much in 
our hands as those of the Government. Still no action has been taken on the question of free speech and 
parliamentary privilege. On the question of the public funding of political advertising by government, not 
only has there been no action but also this Government has made it worse than it ever was. It has produced 
glossy documents containing photographs of the Premier. 

Hon P.R. Lightfoot: In what respect? How can it possibly be worse than it ever was? 

Hon KIM CHANCE: I do not mind the member making that point. I was about to concede that the former 
Labor Government did not have a record to be proud of in that area. 

Hon P.R. Lightfoot: It is not worse than that surely. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: It is. 

Hon Peter Foss: Like what? 

Hon KIM CHANCE: Even if it is not worse in quantitative terms and I cannot produce 20 documents more 
than were produced by the former Labor Government, and I do not know whether it is the case, the issue 
has been identified as a problem. 

Hon Peter Foss: Produce one example that is not legitimate. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: Two weeks ago we produced one in the House, which was the roads document. 

Hon Peter Foss: Do you think that is an example? A question was raised to which everybody wanted to 
know the answer. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: I know that we should not discuss matters such as this. 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Perhaps if the member discusses it with the Chair, the Chair will take note of 
his comments. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: Thank you, Mr Deputy President The Main Roads issue was the subject of the 
document to which I referred. The issue was over six months old before the document was released. The 
document was not accurate because it referred to new state funds whereas in fact some 43 per cent of the 
funds was old commonwealth money. 

Apart from the fact that it was untruthful and misleading, it was not a new issue; people were well aware of 
that issue. It served no other purpose than as a pre-election gimmick by the Premier and the Minister for 
Transport. 

Hon Peter Foss: Rubbish! 

Hon KIM CHANCE: The Attorney General can call it rnbbish all he likes, but it is a fact. 

Hon Peter Foss: It is rubbish. 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (Hon Derrick Tomlinson): Order! Perhaps the member should return to the 
point of this debate and continue to develop his argument rather than digress into irrelevant matters. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: I would be pleased to. 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: I would be pleased, too. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: The reason I diverted from the main subject is that we are discussing the policy of 
the Bill and that policy is reflected by the culture of government I return to the culture of government as 
exemplified by a statement made by the present Attorney General at Edith Cowan University in 1994. He 
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was not Attorney General at the time. I do not have his exact words before me; he can correct me if I 
misquote him. He said broadly that corruption was no longer an issue, but a matter that related to 
particular people and not to the system. That is, it was not the system but the people within the system that 
caused the problem. In his inimical way, Hon Ross Lightfoot recently put the same sympathy in more 
direct words - again, I do not have his exact words - when he said: "Let's get it straight: You are the bad 
guys; we are the good guys." 

Hon N.F. Moore: Spot on. There was never any doubt about it 

Hon KIM CHANCE: The Leader of the House confrrms that view. Sadly for both members, life is not 
that simple. Oppositions are not automatically corrupt, nor are Governments automatically good. 

Hon Peter Foss: Exactly; it depends on the individuals. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: However, the problem is systemic. This Government has had the finger of 
corruption pointed at it. 

Hon Peter Foss: At not one time has that finger ended up being pointed appropriately. One of the 
interesting things to come out of the most recent royal commission is that there has been no basis to the 
allegations. Look at the allegations you made against the former Government. 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order! Perhaps if the Attorney General were to confine his remarks to his 
reply to the second reading debate and Hon Kim Chance confined his remarks to the principle of the Bill, 
we might make some progress. 

Hon P.R. Lightfoot: Stop inciting us. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: I have no intention of inciting the Government. However, it must be said in the 
context of the interjection by the Attorney General that the finding of the Royal Commission into 
Commercial Activities of Government and Other Matters on W A Inc was that there was little illegality and 
no corruption. 

Hon Peter Foss: That is a nice whitewash. Did you read volume I? 

Hon KIM CHANCE: The Attorney General knows that the royal commission report said that. 

Hon Peter Foss: It said there was nothing in the two points you refer to that related to former 
Governments, but a whole lot of rather nasty activities in respect of your Government. I will read that out 
if you want it read out again. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: I do not think we need to do that I think I accurately quoted the royal commission 
report. 

Hon AJ.G. MacTiernan: What is even more of a worry is that the Attorney General knows what this 
current royal commission will say. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: That is a worry. In any case, the finger of corruption has been pointed at this 
Government. A former Liberal Premier has been imprisoned. A present member has been committed for 
trial. 

Several members inteljected. 

The PRESIDENT: Order! When I call order, it means keep quiet, for a start, and let the member who is 
addressing the Bill speak uninterrupted. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: We have seen gross abuses of State Supply Commission requirements. Allegations 
have been made that public funds have been used to assist employers on the waterfront to break the union 
movement. Questions have been asked in this place that have either been evaded or answered with 
untruths. The Minister for Labour Relations in the other place bas improperly obtained names and 
addresses from his department and used them for political ends. Sadly, corruption does not sit only on this 
side of the House: Corruption is systemic. Until members can at least concede that either side can be at 
fault in this matter, we will never address the question -

Hon Peter Foss: Of course we can; that is the point. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: I do not think the Attorney General said that when he made his statement at Edith 
Cowan University in 1994. The worst example of corrupt conduct by this Government through the misuse 
of executive power was probably the Marks royal commission. That travesty of justice bas forever 
condemned the Government, in my eyes at least, aud bas led to the degradation of the institution of royal 
commissions in the eyes of the general public. To understand fully how seriously the process of justice 
was corrupted by that royal commission, it is necessary to read the commissioner's report and then to read 
Hon John Halden's response shortly after the release of the report. While Hon John Halden was 
responding to the report and putting facts that I believe were stunning in the context of a report of a royal 
commission, at least government members as individual human beings bad the decency to look down and 
take it on the chin. They were embarrassed. They had reason to be embarrassed: It was a travesty. 

Hon Peter Foss:' Do you really want to raise this matter, Mr Chance? 

The PRESIDENT: Order, Minister! In the meantime, does this have anything to do with this Bill? 
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Hon KIM CHANCE: Indeed it does, Mr President 

The PRESIDENT: It certainly escaped me. 
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Hon KIM CHANCE: It is linked, perhaps peripherally, but it is linked nonetheless. The Bill we are 
talking about is to provide for better systems of accountability, probity and integrity in government. The 
policy and culture of the Bill have been put together by a Government that has the view that it can do no 
wrong. Following from that, it is necessary for me to indicate that it can and has done wrong. 

The Marks royal commission was a $3m publicly funded political stunt from beginning to end. Its report 
was contradictory; it reported lies as facts and it was legally and professionally incompetent. It was not 
even able to lie in a consistent way in that it managed to contradict itself within the space of a couple of 
pages. It drew hazy conclusions based on a perverted notion of what was reasonable probability. The 
commissioner's weird notion of reasonable probability involved discounting the evidence of a majority of 
witnesses whose views were supported by documentary evidence and then accepting the view of two 
witnesses whose evidence did not even broadly coincide with each other. 

Hon P.R Lightfoot: What is the document you are reading from? 

Hon KIM CHANCE: These are my speech notes; the member is welcome to them. 

The PRESIDENT: Order! I remind Hon Kim Chance that his use of the word peripheral was a real abuse 
of the word because peripheral means being at least close to the subject. I do not think what the member is 
talking about is remotely peripheral. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: Thank you, Mr President I take your advice and I will leave the matter because I 
did not have a lot more to say on it anyway. It was necessary to say those things to express how I felt about 
the way the political process was used with that royal commission. Before I leave that matter, I indicate to 
the House that the final conclusion of the report was that there had been no relevant use of executive 
power. 

Hon P.R. Lightfoot: You're not suggesting that the royal commission found that we were liars on this side 
of the House, are you? 

The PRESIDENT: Order! 

Hon KIM CHANCE: Even in that regard, I think the commissioner was wrong as an abuse of executive 
power was committed by the Government. In time we will be able to show that; it might take years but I 
assure members opposite that the facts of the matter will be dug out - they had better be buried very deeply. 

[Questions without notice taken.] 

Hon KIM CHANCE: In talking about whether people or systems are the harbourers of corruption, we must 
recognise that human nature is such that while most elected representatives, police officers and public 
officers generally are honest and good people, we will always have those who will see a proper process as 
an inconvenience and to be avoided to achieve a given result. 

Hon Peter Foss: Sounds like my Edith Cowan lecture. Did you read it? 

Hon KIM CHANCE: I have read only the newspaper report. 

Hon Peter Foss: That is why you are not going to. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: That is why we must ensure we have systems that shed light on issues that can be 
shrouded with secrecy in the normal course of events. That secrecy may take the form of administrative or 
commercial confidentiality or of unofficial or unwritten covenants. We must make a difficult decision on 
how far we can go in transgressing on human rights in the interest of the public good before going too far. 
That is very much the issue with this Bill. 

It also raises the question of the nature of accountability. The outcome of good anticorruption legislation 
should always be a more accountable Administration. Previously the Attorney General and I have debated 
our different views of what accountability is. As I understand it, his position is that a person - a Minister, 
for example - must be answerable for any action taken within his or her area of responsibility. The notion 
of collective responsibility also applies to a Cabinet Minister - a Minister should also be responsible for 
any action taken by a Cabinet colleague. Technically I have no argument with that view, except that it is a 
very narrow defmition of accountability and could be described more properly as responsibility. I accept 
that, but I view it as only one aspect of the broader question of accountability. The view of the Attorney 
General is essentially that of the Westminster concept of accountability. 

Hon Peter Foss: I think you have mucked that up a little again. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: I will leave that comment aside. That Westminster concept of accountability has not 
been practised in this country for years, if it was ever the practice. In the British Parliament it is accepted 
as being quite normal that if a Minister gives an answer to the Parliament that is misleading, that Minister 
resigns. In Australia that action has not generally been taken, unless it has been found that a Minister has 
misled the Parliament deliberately. 

My concept of accountability, although it may be a little different from that of the Attorney General, is 
based on the level of public expectation. Members of the public except open and visible accountability. I 
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do not believe they care whether we have a rule that causes a Minister to resign if an incorrect answer is 
given to the Parliament, particularly in the circumstances where that answer has been given in good faith 
and it was the result of a mistake made by a functionary. I agree with the Attorney General that a Minister 
should be responsible for the answer and that a duty resides with the Minister to advise the Parliament as 
soon as possible of the correct situation. 

Hon Peter Foss: Why don't you give your answer, instead of trying to explain mine, then I won't have to 
stand up and explain mine. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: My concept of accountability revolves more around openness and visibility than 
Ministers falling on their swords as a result of functionaries making mistakes. 

Those rights were recognised in the reports of the royal commission and the later Commission on 
Government and so far have not been addressed adequately by this Government If the Government wants 
to deal with waterfront employers and to pay their legal fees for a particular purpose, it should come out 
and say so and account for the legality and the propriety of its actions. The information should not have to 
be wrung out of it in the Parliament 

If a public asset is to be sold to a private company, proper accountability means to explain to Parliament, 
prior to the sale, why the normal tender processes could not have been followed in that case; what the price 
will be; and how the public will benefit from the sale. In other words, the Parliament should be advised 
when it is necessary, for one reason or another, to deviate from the normal process. It should not have to 
be wrung out of a Minister during question time. 

If a public function is to be contracted out, the very least the public should expect is that there be a detailed 
accounting of the comparison of the present cost of the in-house service and the projected cost of the 
contracted service. In each case, if the result does not turn out to be what the Government has projected it 
will be, the Government should be accountable for that. 

I am saying that we cannot have accountability without having visibility first Visibility is the all important 
guarantee of accountability. In each of those three examples I have given an image of the accountability I 
believe the public is looking for; that is, the ability to observe and comment on government action or 
intended action, and to call the Government to account for any failure of its programs. To the average 
person in the street this concept of accountability is far more relevant than is a Minister having to resign as 
a result of giving an incorrect answer. That is not always in the public interest. The Minister may have 
been an asset to the community in every other respect. 

Hon Peter Foss: That is not to do with resignation. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: The British system follows that point of view. How can it be projected that the 
public will benefit from a Minister's resignation if that person is in all other respects an asset to the 
community? 

The question that arises is whether this Bill presents us with an opportunity to deliver that form of openness 
and accountability that the community is seeking. I think it does in part, and to that extent it has the 
Opposition's support, but it misses the point in a number of areas, and it totally ignores the point in other 
areas. To the extent that editorial writers reflect public opinion, both this legislation and the Court 
Government's performance on the issue of corruption generally have fallen short of public expectations. 

Hon Peter Foss: They are the most unaccountable people in the world. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: We have had that argument; in my view, the Attorney lost it, but in his view, he won 
it The editorial in The West Australian of 26 June, when describing the Court Government's performance 
on corruption, used words such as complacency, self-contradiction and procrastination. It said that the 
Government had failed to convince the community that it was serious about purging corruption. 

Hon EJ. Charlton: You do not take any notice of that, do you? I wonder when we will have an editorial 
about how The West Australian carries on. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: The Minister would probably have to look to the Sunday Times for that 

Hon Peter Foss: They are not accountable. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: They are accountable, but that is not relevant to this Bill. The Australian similarly 
holds the view that the Premier is supporting a minimalist approach to police corruption. 

Hon Peter Foss: You said it was too much. 

Hon .KIM CHANCE: I did not say that. I pointed to the fact that the Opposition's argument is a 
patchwork, Simply because the Bill is a patchwork. 

Hon Peter Foss: You cannot make up your mind whether we have gone too far or not far enough. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: We can on each individual issue. It is just that the situation is different on each 
issue. 

It might be arguable whether the opinions of editorial writers do represent community values, but they do 
present a cogent argument and one that should not be dismissed lightly, because it certainly does require 
some consideration. 
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One of the key recommendations of the Royal Commission into Commercial Activities of Government and 
Other Matters was the need to reform our electoral system. To the extent that the traditional model of 
accountability relies on the process of Parliament and the use of parliamentary privilege to expose 
corruption and discourage corrupt practice, this House, because of the way it is structured, has been 
prevented from exercising its powers and its classic Westminster role. That is precisely the reason that the 
royal commissioners made those recommendations. While the Senate is structured very differently as a 
consequence of its federal role to protect the States' interests, it is nonetheless elected in a manner which 
almost guarantees that the party of government will never have absolute control over the Senate. That 
might be an accidental consequence - I would not argue with that - but the result is the same: Its relative 
independence from the Executive means that it can act as a House of Review. This House has never been 
able to do that. At any time that a conservative majority has existed in the other place, this House has had 
no role other than as a rubber stamp for the Executive. 
Hon Peter Foss: Why not talk about the Bill? You have not spoken about it at all. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: I am talking about the culture of the Bill, which is about corruption. We would not 
need this Bill if we had a system whereby this House could work as a House of Review. 

Hon Peter Foss: You can do better than that 
Hon KIM CHANCE: That was one of the points made by the royal commission, and I have never heard 
from the Government a cogent argument to the contrary. 

Hon Peter Foss: You just do not listen. 
Hon KIM CHANCE: Government in the State of Western Australia has existed up until 1996 without 
requiring specific legislation to deal with the question of corruption; perhaps we have needed it, but we 
have not been driven to introduce such legislation until now. I wonder whether members have thought 
about why that has happened. It has happened because the traditional means of guaranteeing that there will 
be no corruption in public administration have failed. One of the traditional systems of checking and 
crosschecking between the two Houses of Parliament is the electoral system. However, the electoral 
system, one of the traditional guarantees of checks and balances within a quasi-Westminster parliamentary 
system, has failed. 

Hon Peter Foss: Do you really believe that? 

Hon KIM CHANCE: That is an argument which the Attorney might need to take up with the royal 
commissioners, because that was also their view. The traditional role of a House of Review is to act as an 
anticorruption agency - to check on the excesses of the Executive. Where was the action of this House 
with regard to checking the misuse of executive power which resulted in the Marks royal commission? 

Hon EJ. Charlton: It was also because The West Australian continued to support them. You should quote 
from The West Australian in the 1980s. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: As much as the Government does not like to be told that it has failed in that 
fundamental area, that is a role of a House of Review, and if the Government cared to consider for a 
moment why there are so few examples in the Federal Parliament of corruption, it might like to think about 
the fact that it is because it has a House of Review with a system of electing its members which virtually 
guarantees that the Executive can never have control of the House of Review. I concede that that may be 
accidental, nonetheless it is the case. 

Hon Peter Foss inteIjected. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: The answer to that question was given by the Premier in the other place when he said 
that it is because federal MPs spend too much time on aeroplanes and cannot get into any trouble. That is a 
far more thoughtful and considerate response than the one that the Attorney has given me. 

That factor was identified by the royal commission as being of paramount importance, yet this Government 
has consistently ducked the issue because it does not suit its agenda. As I said, the Government was 
pushed over by the National Party in the playground. We now have the report of the police select 
committee, a report that was subject to leakage by a person or persons unknown to the media and to the 
Government That in itself is corruption. The Government clearly knew -

Hon Peter Foss: How? You said a moment ago we did not take it into account You are now saying -
Hon KIM CHANCE: I am saying that the Government tried to pre-empt it by the earlier release of its 
legislation. 

Hon Peter Foss: We announced it in March. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: Can the Attorney guarantee that no part of that report was ever discussed in Cabinet? 

Hon Peter Foss: I guarantee that I had nothing to do with it 

Hon KIM CHANCE: The Attorney has failed to tell me that it was never discussed in Cabinet. 

Several members inteIjected. 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (Hon W.N. Stretch): Order! There are too many inteIjections. 
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Hon KIM CHANCE: The select committee report into police corruption clearly did not suit the 
Government The Government did not want to have a specific police anticorruption unit. Clearly the 
Commissioner of Police did not want it. I believe the Government was well aware that the committee had 
made that recommendation. I know that because that is what I was told by a journalist from The West 
Australian days before the release, when I was asked to conftrm whether it had occurred. 

Hon Peter Foss: It is news to me. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: I made the assumption that if a journalist was aware of the fundamental 
recommendations, and far more than that, of this report, then certainly the Government would have known. 

Hon EJ. Charlton: Who told the journalist? 

Hon KIM CHANCE: That is something that the journalist would not tell me. 

Hon Peter Foss intetjected. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: It is interesting, because unfortunately I was not able to tell her anything. 

Hon Peter Foss intetjected. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: Of course not. The report had not been released. 

Hon EJ. Charlton: But it was public, was it? 

Hon KIM CHANCE: I feel confident that the same source that got it to The West Australian journalist was 
able to get it to the Cabinet. 

Hon Peter Foss: If it did. What if it did not? You are.making terrible assumptions that the Government 
had a copy of the report. It definitely did not. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: The Minister did not deny that it was discussed in Cabinet. 

Hon Peter Foss: We discussed that there would be a report because everyone knew there would be a 
report. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: What about the details of it? 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (Hon Barry House): Order! Members should let the member address his 
comments to the Chair. 
Hon KIM CHANCE: Thank you Mr Deputy President. So far we have been denied those checks and 
balances to which I have referred. Although belated, this response addresses some of the symptoms or, 
more correctly, manifestations of corruption in the community rather than the root causes of corruption. 
That we need this Bill is more a reflection on the deficiencies of the system than the people in it. We still 
have a system that bends the Parliament to the will of the Executive. We have a system which denies a role 
for this House as a House of Review. We have a system which makes our parliamentary committees tools 
of the Executive and we are not prepared to act on that. Again, I do not make that criticism of the 
Government alone because the Opposition clearly has a role in at least some of those issues. 

It is because we have failed to reinforce the traditional guarantees of parliamentary and executive probity 
that we are now faced with the need to legislate to enable yet another level of accountability. We have 
overlooked in this matter that the misuse of power can be effectively prevented only by the setting of an 
equivalent power against that held by the Executive; in other words, the system of checks and balances that 
we are so happy to talk about, but not to implement. When we do enact this Bill - and we will - I hope it 
will help, but we will hamper the extent of progress towards a more open and honest Administration if we 
continue to ignore the more important and fundamental issues that were raised by the royal commissioners. 
In particular I count the process of electoral reform as a key part of that. I am disappointed that I will not 
be able to fmish my comments. 

HOD Peter Foss: We might get onto the Bill. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: As the Attorney General said, I wanted to deal with specific elements of the Bill. 
However, I think that what I have said is more important at this stage because we will deal with matters 
concerning the policy and culture of the Bill later in Committee. I do not think the Government has a great 
deal about which to hold up its head in respect of this Bill. Although other members have described its 
progress as rushed, I do not join them. 

RON A.J.G. MacTIERNAN (East Metropolitan) [5.53 pm]: I also will support this legislation, flawed 
thongh it is. For the reasons set out most ably by the speakers before me, the Opposition's support is very 
reluctant. It is concerned in two different directions: First, that this legislation will create grave problems 
for members of Parliament in discharging their duties and interfere in their capacity to properly represent 
their constituents. The second aspect which concerns me is more clear-cut and I shall focus more on that 
today, namely, that the attempts in this legislation to deal with police corruption and police misconduct are 
grossly inadequate. Under this legislation, as far as I can see, a single body and a single set of 
commissioners will be responsible for the investigation of allegations of corruption and serious misconduct 
in the public sector generally, including members of Parliament, a very broad definition of public sector 
workers and in the Police Force. 

As has been said here today, and cannot be said too often, it is the clear judgment of the Select Committee 
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into the Western Australian Police Service that it is entirely inappropriate to have a single body dealing 
with the two arms of investigation into corruption. It is the experience of other jurisdictions that one body 
cannot properly discharge both those tasks. The matter is covered in the select committee report under the 
section dealing with the Queensland Criminal Justice Commission and the New South Wales Independent 
Commission Against Corruption. However, a fuller description is contained in the interim report of the 
New South Wales royal commission published in February 1996. 

Although some of these points have just been canvassed by Hon Nick Griffiths, I want to cover this point 
in full because it is a crucial aspect of and a fatal flaw in this legislation. The royal commission in New 
South Wales considered wbether it was sufficient to give ICAC, the overarching body, the responsibility 
for supervision or investigation of complaints against police or whether it was necessary to establish a new 
single purpose body. It said that after careful consideration it did not favour the establishment of even a 
dedicated unit within ICAC for these reasons: First, there was a public perception that ICAC had failed to 
tackle police corruption or to use its coercive or other powers with sufficient determination or initiative, 
necessitating the establishment of the royal commission. The Independent Commission Against 
Corruption had been set up for a couple of years and it had quite clearly not done its job. Exactly the same 
thing must be said about the Official Corruption Commission. . 

Hon Peter Foss: The big difference is that ICAC had the powers and did not use them. The Official 
Corruption Commission has not had the powers, but has done what it can. 

Hon A.J.G. MacTIERNAN: Interestingly, we see a model that contains the structure that the Government 
supposedly now wishes to adopt -

Hon Peter Foss: We say this is not an ICAC model. 

Hon A.J.G. MacTIERNAN: In terms of its relevant characteristics it is certainly a body which is in charge 
of and has responsibility for investigating corruption in the public sector generally, and responsibility for 
investigating corruption and misconduct within the Police Force. 

Hon Peter Foss: Differences are greater than similarities. 

Hon A.J.G. MacTIERNAN: If anything, the sort of structure proposed or, rather, not proposed in this 
legislation will make it even more flawed than the ICAC model. At least within the ICAC model there is 
some separation of powers. I will outline the critique. 

Hon Derrick Tomlinson: This is close to the CJC model and would be more pertinent in comparison. 

Hon A.J.G. MacTIERNAN: The point is whether it is effective to have one body dealing with the two 
issues. Certainly from the analysis in this interim report, the points are germane even if there are 
differences in the ICAC structure. 

Hon Derrick Tomlinson: You are talking about the relevance of ICAC as being the model. Wood referred 
to ICAC. He did not refer to other models and he did not refer to the CJC, for example. The ICAC in 
Hong Kong is a successful example of the unified model. 

Hon A.J.G. MacTIERNAN: I am interested, because in the report of the Select Committee into the 
Western Australian Police Service Hon Derrick Tomlinson comes down against the integrated model. One 
of the references he makes is to the failure of ICAC. 

Sitting suspendedjrom 6.00 to 7.30 pm 

Hon AJ.G. MacTIERNAN: I have been pointing out that the Opposition supports this legislation but its 
support has been tempered by its concern that the legislation does not seriously address the problems. I 
was focusing on my major concern; that is, whether we are setting up a model that will be able to deal' 
properly with allegations of police corruption and misconduct. I embrace the comments by the Select 
Committee on the Western Australian Police Service that police corruption is more dangerous to the 
wellbeing of society than any other public sector corruption; that if corruption in the Police Service is 
controlled, it is easier to control corruption in other public sector organisations. That select committee 
points out the special powers and responsibilities of the police which put them into a different category 
from other persons within the public sector, including members of Parliament. That is certainly borne out 
by my experience over many years, including those I spent in the commonwealth Department of 
Employment, Education and Training worldng around the State and around the nation in Aboriginal 
employment areas, and in my time as a legal practitioner and as a member of Parliament dealing with 
constituency problems. It seems to me that the police corruption and misconduct that most profoundly 
affects people's everyday lives is not the spectacular arrangements with brothel madams, nor the dealings 
with vice tsars, nor the interfacing with organised crime that often has become the more notorious and 
publicised -

Hon Peter Foss: Organised crime is important. 

Hon A.J.G. MacTIERNAN: I agree, but the more frequently encountered problem that impacts on many 
people's lives is the conduct of the police in the way they mount criminal investigations, and their 
preparedness to fit up certain persons with evidence. Obviously this does not apply to all police, but within 
the Police Force in Western Australia, like other police forces unfortunately around much of the western 
world and presumably elsewhere, a culture deems it okay in many instances to get a confession or to 
fabricate evidence in order to get a conviction. That is often justified on the basis of a pre-trial 
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determination by the police that the person is in fact guilty - a determination which, in my view, is often 
very wrong, setting aside all the greater principles of the need to embrace the rule of law. 

Hon Peter Foss: I will tell you an interesting story later outlined by the Chief Commissioner of Scotland 
Yard. 

Hon A.J.G. MacTlERNAN: I look forward to that. 

In many instances, we see perhaps an even greater abandonment of the principle in that police may not 
believe a person has committed the crime; but they are having difficulty getting evidence, so they fabricate 
it or verbal the person. At times, the police do not like certain personalities - those who they believe might 
be guilty of something else - and this is the only thing to get them on. Possibly in the worst case the police 
want to get their strike rate up, and they are prepared to grab whoever might be at hand in order to get a 
conviction. 

Tonight I want to talk about a case of a constituent, about which I have not corresponded with the current 
Attorney General -

The PRESIDENT: Order! I hope that the member will relate this to the Bill. 

Hon AJ.G. MacTIERNAN: It is defmitely related to the Bill, Mr President. As I was explaining, many of 
the most worrying forms of corruption and misconduct in the Police Force are not the big ticket items or 
dealings with organised crime but the daily encounters that police have with ordinary citizens, many of 
whom find themselves the subject of forced confessions and, in court, being convicted on fabricated 
evidence. 

The PRESIDENT: Does that have something to do with ,the Bill? 

Hon A.J.G. MacTIERNAN: Mr President, the Bill purports to have something to do with that It may be 
that you share my view that the Bill may be inadequate to address this important task. 

The PRESIDENT: The President does not have a view. 

Hon A.J.G. MacTIERNAN: That is a very good point, Mr President. 

Prior to the dinner break I was attempting to point out the various comments made by Commissioner Wood 
regarding the failure of the Independent Commission Against Corruption in New South Wales to 
adequately address the issue of police corruption. We heard various intetjections at that time. Therefore, 
during the dinner break I checked again both the Bill and the second reading speech. Nothing in the Bill or 
elsewhere regarding how the new Anti-Corruption Commission is proposed to work would suggest that the 
observations made by Commissioner Wood are not germane here; that is, the observations by him as to 
why we should not have a single body addressing corruption or misconduct -

Hon Peter Foss: He suggested the educational function was a problem. 

Hon A.J.G. MacTIERNAN: He said far more than that. 

Hon Peter Foss: I notice that your amendments will try to put that back in. 

Hon AJ.G. MacTIERNAN: My reading of his comments was that that was not the part he thought was the 
most problematic by any means. These are important observations and they are very germane to the 
consideration of this legislation. This is bearing in mind a proposal that there be a separate division within 
ICAC. I note that in the legislation before us there is not even the question of a special division that is 
expressly -

Hon Peter Foss inteljected. 

Hon AJ.G. MacTIERNAN: The legislation that this Parliament has before it does not even contemplate a 
separate division. The criticisms of the ICAC structure would apply doubly in relation to the sort of 
structure we are contemplating, which appears to be totally integrated. 

Hon Peter Foss: You did not take up that point in Mr McGinty's Bill. 

Hon A.J.G. MacTIERNAN: We are the House of Review. 

Hon Peter Foss: Why has your party changed its view on whether it should be a separate division? 

Hon AJ.G. MacTIERNAN: My understanding of the Labor Party's position as determined within Caucus 
was that we should support the select committee's recommendation that there should be a separate body. 
However, in dealing with the piece of legislation that was before us, because it was not possible for us in 
the context of the debate to move for an entirely separate body, we attempted to -

Hon Peter Foss: I wonder why you did not take up that point at that stage. 

Hon AJ.G. MacTIERNAN: Very simply because we did not have the benefit of the select committee's 
report. 

Hon Peter Foss: You had the Wood report. 

Hon A.J.G. MacTIERNAN: It is the select committee's report that has drawn to our attention -

Hon Peter Foss: You are referring us to the Wood commission report. Why not pick it up with that? 
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The PRESIDENT: I ask the honourable member again to keep to the Bill. If she thinks she is keeping to 
it, she should direct her comments to the Chair. She should ignore the Attorney General, because he is 
endeavouring to use his right of reply concurrently with her right to speak:. I will be interested to see 
whether he wants a right of reply. 

Hon AJ.G. MacTIERNAN: It gives us an opportunity to address some of his misunderstandings and I 
actually welcome the opportunity, even though it breaches the Standing Orders. 

When we drafted our legisl~tion we did not have the benefit of the select committee report. As the 
Attorney General has quite nghtly pointed out, the Wood report came down earlier. We had not dedicated 
ourselves to looking at the Wood report In fact, it was only after the select committee reported that our 
attention was drawn to the substance of the matters that are contained within the Wood report and, indeed, 
that the very great significance of those comments for our legislative framework was highlighted. As a 
result of that, we then developed and refmed the position that we took - we adopted the position that had 
been taken by the select committee. 

It is unfortunate that the Government did not allow itself the lUXury of considering seriously this important 
report, and that it went ahead with the model, which we are now told by the Minister was prepared the 
week or the month before. That is a great travesty and an indictment of the Government's view of the 
committee system, but that does not come as any great surprise. We had a committee which was well 
travelled and well read and which spent over two years considering a very important and serious report, 
and the Government made its determination - according to what it has said here today - without any 
consideration of the contents of that report. Of course, the Opposition did not do that and was quite 
prepared to change its position when the committee drew its attention to some very great concerns about 
having a single, integrated body. There is no distance at all in this regard between the position taken by the 
Leader of the Opposition in another place and me in respect of this Bill. 

There is a very great concern that those aspects of police investigations can be kept separate and 
independent from the rest of the corruption fighting organisation. Commissioner Wood states that a 
dedicated police corruption unit is not favoured for several reasons, including -

... because of the Significant competing functions of the ICAC relating to other public sector 
matters, and its role in corruption prevention and education generally, there is a risk that the 
resources of the Division would be drawn away from police corruption, particularly if a major 
inquiry was undertaken in some other area; 

Hon Peter Foss interjected. 

Hon AJ.G. MacTIERNAN: That is a very great concern. The Opposition endorses the finding of the 
select committee that the most fundamental and serious form of corruption is police corruption. In the 
model that the Government is proposing there is a very real risk that that focus on that most important issue 
could be distracted by other inquiries of a more general nature and our view -

Hon Peter Foss: There is a fundamental difference here. Special investigators are brought in on occasion 
to carry out the investigations. You can have as many as you need. 

Hon AJ.G. MacTIERNAN: Theoretically one could, but presumably this body will be operating under the 
general principles of fmancial management and it will have a finite budget At a time when there is a 
particular line of inquiry, for example, something like W A Inc, that might distract the attention of the body 
and ceitainly attract-

Hon Peter Foss: That could happen to anyone. 

Hon AJ.G. MacTIERNAN: The point is that by putting them in together there is a real risk - not just a 
theoretical risk - that the police investigation, which is dealing with the most important aspect of 
corruption, will be subverted or become second string to these other inquiries. It will not always happen, 
but there is a very real concern that it will. 

The report also goes on to say that there is the potential for internal tensions to be created. It further 
states -

competition could exist in access to technical services and surveillance, with the potential for 
divided loyalties; 

That is very relevant even in the model including special investigators. The report points out that the 
security of the police components of the investigations would be difficult to maintain in an environment in 
which a common organisational culture existed, and staff from different sections mixed at work or socially. 
It further points out that by the nature of its general work in the public sector, an integrated body faces an 
ever present danger of being caught up in political controversy that might affect its credibility and level of 
commitment. In addition, it might affect the capacity or the confidence of other bodies with which it would 
have to interface, such as the Australian Federal Police, the National Crime Authority and so on. It might 
result in their having a lesser degree of confidence in disseminating sensitive information to a large 
multifunctional agency with a larger staff. They are very sensible and germane comments. 

The structure we are putting in place here runs all of the risks as set out by Commissioner Wood. Although 
we embrace the fact that at last we will have a body that is external to the Police Force undertaking 
investigations of corruption and misconduct, it is nevertheless a very sad day that we have missed the 
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opportunity to do this job properly and set up, as recommended by the select committee, a special body 
dedicated to that task. Only a special body dedicated to the task can avoid all the pitfalls set out so clearly 
by Commissioner Wood. 

With your indulgence, Mr President, I will give one example of the sort of alleged police misconduct with 
which members are faced on a regular basis in their electorate offices. It is important to. understand that 
this sort of problem affects many ordinary people's lives and has an impact on often innocent people for 
the rest of their lives. The case I draw to the attention of the House shares many characteristics with a 
number of cases that drew special comment from the Select Committee on the Western Australian Police 
Service. It was particularly reminiscent for me of those terrible cases involving James Heaney and Jeanie 
Angel. In this case my constituent, who has authorised me to name him, is one Vincent Narkle. He was a 
young man of around 20 years at the time and had attended at his uncle's place. I flrst became involved in 
this case in early 1994 when his parents came to see me shortly after he had been convicted for sexual 
assault on a young woman. They wanted help because he was caught in the most horriflc of catch-22 
sitnations. He had been told that he could not get parole unless he was prepared to take part in a sex 
offenders' treatment program. 

Hon Derrick Tomlinson: This was in prison? 

Hon A.J.G. MacTIERNAN: Yes. 

Hon Peter Foss: It has changed. 

Hon AJ.G. MacTIERNAN: Yes. I have raised this case a couple of times with the officers in Estimates 
Committees. At that time he was told that he was unable to get parole unless he was prepared to undergo 
sex offender's treatment He said, "Yes, I am prepared to do that" and he fronted up for the program. 

Hon Derrick Tomlinson: Had he pleaded innocent or gUilty? 

Hon A.J.G. MacTIERNAN: Innocent. 

Hon Derrick Tomlinson: So in order to undertake the treatment he had to admit guilt? 

Hon AJ.G. MacTIERNAN: Yes. He said, "Yes, I want to go on parole. I will go on the program - no 
worries." However, he was barred from the program because he continued to assert that he was not guilty 
of the offence of which he had been convicted. It is a disgraceful abuse of professional conduct that a 
psychologist should automatically deem a person who asserts his innocence to be in a psychological state 
of denial, which is described as an abnormal mental state in which a person refuses to acknowledge the 
reality of his conduct. 

Hon Peter Foss: I think a lot of police also think that is the case with denial. 

Hon A.J.G. MacTIERNAN: That is right, but it becomes far more alarming when a psychologist will do 
this on a deeming basis. As I wrote to the department, this was psychobabble of the most ill-informed 
kind. One needs only a passing acquaintanceship with the criminal justice system to recognise that many 
people inside prison are not gUilty. 

Hon Derrick Tomlinson: It applies to people outside prison. 

Hon Peter Foss: It might also be suggested that people who genuinely deny that they had committed an 
offence might need more psychological help than those inside. 

Hon A.J.G. MacTIERNAN: It is alarming that in this case they would not countenance the possibility that 
a person who claimed innocence was innocent. We can do nothing about the fact of conviction. There is a 
rnle of law. The complaint is not that he was in gaol, but that the psychologist had deemed a diagnosis 
without any reference to the person or the circumstances of his case. 

Hon Derrick Tomlinson: A double jeopardy in those sorts of cases was that a prisoner was required to 
admit guilt in order to undergo the treatment program. If the prisoner did not undergo the treatment 
program he would be denied access to parole. 

Hon AJ .G. MacTIERNAN: That is right. That was the outrage that led his parents to contact me. 

The PRESIDENT: Order! I am following what the member is saying, but I cannot pick up anywhere what 
it has to do with this Bill. 

Hon AJ.G. MacTIERNAN: If I may go on, perhaps in the next couple of sentences you will see, 
Mr President. This case having been raised in this manner led me to look at its circumstances. During the 
examination of the case I became very aware of the grave uncertainties in the conduct of the case. I came 
to the conclusion that there was a grave doubt as to whether this young man had committed the offence of 
which he was convicted, as a result of which, as Hon Derrick Tomlinson says, he was subject to a double 
jeopardy. He has now completed his time in prison and fmished the sentence. He protests his innocence as 
much as he ever did before and is very keen to clear his name. I want briefly to run down the 
circumstances of the case. The complaint of rape arose from an incident that occurred on 28 April 1992. 
The victim complained that she had been subject to sexual intercourse by two men at an address in 
Midvale. In her statement the following day she identifled the flrst assailant as "an Aboriginal guy with 
brownlblond short straight hair which was dyed". The second assailant was identifled as a person whom 
we will call M. 
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Hon Derrick Tomlinson: She knew M? 

Hon A.J.G. MacTIERNAN: The person is identified only as M. 

Hon Peter Foss: Did she know him? 
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Hon AJ.G. MacTIERNAN: I understand she did. The victim was taken that night to the Sexual Assault 
Referral Centre. No evidence was fou.nd of bodily fluid or hair other than the victim's. The next day after 
this incident Vincent returned to the house of his uncle. He made no secret of the fact that he had been at 
the house the night before. j He believed that he had not been involved in the incident He was perfectly 
open and frank about the fact that he had been at the house at the time. He did not hear from the police for 
about a month. Then one morning about seven or eight o'clock the police arrived at his family home, 
where he was living with his parents. When Vincent's mother inquired what they were doing with him, the 
police said they were taking him for a little drive and a chat At that time he was still half asleep in bed. 
He was taken out to the car for this little chat. He ended up in the Midland Police Station. He was there 
for between seven and eight hours, from what I gather from the police records. During that time he said he 
was bullied, threatened and abused by the police. He is a fairly timid young man from Katanning. He said 
that he was beaten around the head by the police and that a number of police officers came in and booted 
the chair from under him. He had a few minor juvenile offences, I understand, but he had never been in 
serious trouble before. 

Hon Peter Foss: No violent offences? 

Hon AJ.G. MacTIERNAN: No. It is interesting that the police records that I obtained today show that 
they had him at the police station and the interview occurred between 1.30 and 3.30 pm. However, the 
evidence of his mother made without knowledge of those records is different She said that they took him 
at eight 0' clock in the morning. Obviously, there is a five hour period before the formal interview started, 
which is not referred to in the record of the interview. 

Hon Derrick Tomlinson: Were there video records of the interview? 

Hon AJ.G. MacTIERNAN: No video recording was made, and no independent witness from the 
Aboriginal Legal Service, Arrest Express or any of the other agencies was present at any stage. It is not 
surprising that a young man like that after a period of six or seven hours in police custody, if he was, as he 
alleges, subject to that sort of treatment, would have signed a begrudging confession. At all stages before 
then and at all times after he denied the contents of that confession. As far as I can piece together the story 
it appears that shortly after having obtained the confession the detective involved, Detective Potter, 
presented himself at the house of the victim with a series of some six photographs and asked the victim to 
identify her assailants. In the transcript of the pre-trial conference the young woman says that Steve went 
around to her house and showed her some photographs. The witness identified Vincent as the first 
assailant 

Hon Peter Foss: Is this after the interview? 

Hon AJ.G. MacTIERNAN: As far as I can gather from putting together the documents and evidence, it 
appears that that was after the incident 

Hon Derrick Tomlinson: Was there a line-up? 

Hon AJ.G. MacTIERNAN: No, there was just a series of six photographs. 

The PRESIDENT: Order! For goodness' sake, let the lady fmish her speech. 

Hon AJ.G. MacTIERNAN: A number of factors in this case are reminiscent of the Heaney case. One 
aspect that stands out clearly is that the photograph she identified of Vincent was totally at odds with the 
evidence she gave immediately after the alleged attack when she described a person with short, straight 
blond hair and who was not very dark in colour. Vincent is dark and has curly brown-black hair. Just as 
with Heaney, an identification was made from photographic evidence some time after the alleged incident 
and there was no evidence of the way the photographs had been put together. Of course, no independent 
person was present at the time of the identification to know whether what happened was what was found to 
have occurred in the Heaney case when there was prompting by the police officer. We know that the 
police officer involved established a friendly relationship with the victim such that the victim identified 
him simply as Steve. 

Hon Peter Foss: Are you suggesting it was or was not a rape or that this person was or was not involved? 

Hon AJ.G. MacTIERNAN: That is difficult to say. Without doubt the young woman had sexual 
intercourse with a number of men, none of whom was Vincent What that amounted to was unclear. 
Following a verbal, photographic evidence was presented in what well may be a controversial manner. A 
witness made an identification which was completely at odds with an identification made when the victim 
was fresh in her recollection. However, even more puzzling is that three other witnesses who were present 
on the night all gave the police statements containing evidence of other men being outside with the victim. 
These assaults were alleged to have taken place outside in the backyard. None of those who gave evidence 
puts Vincent in the backyard at any time with the young girl. In fact, one of the witnesses expressly 
excluded him from being in the presence of that girl. 

The situation becomes even more extraordinary when we consider in more detail one of the sworn 
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statements, which is from a man I will refer to as D.S. Not only does D.S. fit the original desCription given 
by the young lady, but in his statement he aclmowledges having sex with her at the time and at the place 
Vincent was supposed to have done it. He identifies the second plaintiff as the person who came out after 
him and presented himself to the young girl. 

Hon Peter Foss: The second who? 

Hon A.J.G. MacTIERNAN: I am referring to M. He says that when he was fmishing his business, 
M arrived in the backyard and D.S. got up and went inside. D.S.'s physical description matches the 
physical description the young lady gave of her first assailant. 

Hon Derrick Tomlinson: Was he charged? 

Hon A.J.G. MacTIERNAN: No. 

Hon Derrick Tomlinson: Was it deemed to be consenting intercourse? 

Hon A.J.G. MacTIERNAN: Presumably. Unfortunately his evidence was not called at trial. We cannot 
determine why it was not called by the defence, but it certainly should have been called by the prosecution. 
I will not go into any more detail of the case because I have limited time. 

The PRESIDENT: Order! The member has four minutes to tell me what this has to do with the Bill. 

Hon A.J.G. MacTIERNAN: It has a lot to do with the Bill. 

The PRESIDENT: The member keeps saying that. 

Hon A.J.G. MacTIERNAN: It is an illustration of the sort of incident, abuse of power and misconduct that 
has an impact on the lives of ordinary people. It is the sort of incident that we must deal with. I will take 
up the individual incident later with the Attorney General. 

It is important for us to change police culture. It is important to develop a police culture where that sort of 
conduct will become most unlikely and will be frowned on by other police. Police who believe they can 
take short cuts and who believe that young people, Aborigines and working class people are fair game for 
them in order to get a conviction must be rooted out of the Police Force. We must set higher standards in 
the Police Force and also ensure that officers are adequately skilled and can collect evidence intelligently 
and honestly so they can get convictions without being seen to resort to these sorts of tactics to sustain a 
reasonable statistical performance rating. Part of the problem is that some police officers find it difficult to 
do the job properly and, therefore, they take these short cuts. They put those who are vulnerable within our 
community through their paces and come out with these unfair outcomes. I have had many dealings with 
the family of the young man involved in this case. It has profoundly affected not only him, but the entire 
family. They feel deeply aggrieved, as does the young man, by what has occurred to them. There can be 
no worse thing for a person than to be found guilty of something that one lmows one is innocent of and for 
there to be no way forward to clear one's name. The Opposition is pleased that a separate body will 
investigate complaints against the police. However, we are fearful that the model the Government has set 
up will not be adequate to meet the task. I hope that during Committee we are able to extend these aspects 
of the debate a little further. 

nON CHERYL DAVENPORT (South Metropolitan) [8.10 pm]: My comments will not be lengthy, but 
it is appropriate that I contribute to the debate. I admit from the outset that I have neither the legal nor 
technical expertise to examine the Bill's detail in the manner of some of my colleagues. However, I shall 
concentrate on the implications of this legislation on the Western Australia Police Force, plus the fact that 
the Government's timing in introducing this legislation devalues the committee system of this House. 
Undoubtedly, the Official Corruption Commission Act needs reform, and the organisation requires 
appropriate resources. Therefore, I will be interested to hear from the Attorney General in his reply to the 
second reading debate the resources to be committed to ensure that the Anti-Corruption Commission 
proceeds appropriately. It is pointless to create this form of commission without providing the necessary 
resources in personnel and finances. 

A number of official inquiries have commented on this need for reform, not the least of which was the 
1992 Royal Commission into Commercial Activities of Government and Other Matters report, at a cost to 
the State of between $3Om and $4Om. The Commission on Government has been critical of the OCC as 
has the Director of Public Prosecutions and, of course, the recent interim report of the Select Committee on 
the Western Australian Police Service. Therefore, it is useful three and a half years later to reflect on the 
observations of part II of the W A Inc royal commission report. The section headed "Investigation of 
Corrupt and Improper Conduct" in paragraph 4.9.1 reads -

It is unsatisfactory that there should be public speculation and innuendo without the means of 
effective resolution. Often, matters such as these are not suited to parliamentary investigation. 
Nor are they amenable to complete or thorough investigation by existing accountability and law 
enforcement agencies. Existing accountability agencies such as the offices of the Ombudsman, 
the Auditor General and the Public Service Commissioner and existing law enforcement agencies 
such as the Commissioner of Police and the recently established Director of Public Prosecutions 
are able to some extent to investigate matters of official corruption and improper conduct of 
public officials. However, none of those agenCies has the single and comprehensive function of 
investigating and reporting on such matters. The Official Corruption Commission was established 
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in 1988 to receive and refer certain specific allegations of official corruption. It has been 
described, in some of the submissions received from members of the public as a "post box" for 
official corruption complaints. It has very limited powers of its own. 

Paragraph 4.9.2 reads-
The Commission believes it to be of the utmost importance that this State should establish, 
without delay, a body with the discrete function to investigate and report, in a timely manner, 
upon complaints of c;>fficial corruption and impmper conduct by public officials. 

It is useful to reflect on those comments made three and a half years ago. It was stated that the OCC was a 
place to which complaints were mailed, and I remember doing jnst that in relation to a candidate who I 
believe had behaved corruptly during the 1989 state election campaign. We were advised by the Electoral 
Commissioner that the OCC was the place to direct complaints relating to election campaigns. However, 
we received a response only to the lodgment of the official complaint, and the matter was never taken up. 

For a long time this commission has needed reform. I recall sitting thr9ugh lengthy sessions of Parliament 
during which members opposite, particularly the current Attorney General, insisted that action should be 
taken to ensure the better operation of such bodies. Why have we waited three and a half years for this 
response? Paragraph 4.9.11 of the royal commission report contains the following recommendation -

The office of Commissioner for the Investigation of Corrupt and Improper Conduct be established 
in accordance with the requirements set out in Appendix 2. 

Paragraph 4.9.12 then reads -
It should be within the authority of the proposed Commissioner to investigate complaints 
concerning police corruption and misconduct. We anticipate, however, that the Commissioner, in 
his or her discretion, would only investigate matters which justify the attention of the 
Commissioner, referring lesser complaints to the Commissioner of Police and other relevant 
officers within the police force, for inquiry and subsequent action as necessary. 

It was recommended in 1992 that the police needed some investigative means other than within their ranks. 
Three and a half years after the expenditure on the W A Inc royal commission, this Bill was introduced. 
The other section of the royal commission report which is relevant to this debate is appendix 2 entitled 
"Detailed Proposals concerning the establishment of the Office of the Commissioner for the Investigation 
of Corrupt and Improper Conduct". Page 2-3 of the appendix, item 0), reads -

A "public official" should be defined widely to include the holders of all public offices and all 
persons employed within the public sector, including ministers of the Crown, members of 
Parliament, and persons involved in or employed within local government and the police force, 
but excluding the Governor and members of the judiciary. Under current laws, practices and 
procedures, misconduct by members of the judiciary is a matter for Parliament 

Interestingly, at that early stage it was recommended that the definition of "public official" should include 
police. When this Bill was introduced in another place, no provision dealt specifically with police. 
Through my reading of debates in the Legislative Assembly, it appears that following discussions between 
the Premier and Hon Derrick Tomlinson, the Government saw fit to introduce the far-reaching definition of 
public officers to include police. I congratulate Hon Derrick Tomlinson for his diligence in. enSuring that 
the Government understood the importance of including the police within that definition. It would have 
been an absolute travesty, given the work by the select committee, for the Bill not to mention police. The 
Original Bill may have included police officers in its defmition, but that was not certain. 
This Government embarked upon an exercise in cynicism by pre-empting the findings of the report of the 
Select Committee on the Western Australian Police Service. On the very day this report was tabled in this 
House the Government announced that it would introduce this Bill. A great deal of my time has been taken 
up by the committee system of this House. I know, from conversations I have had with Hon Nick Griffiths, 
the amount of time and effort which was expended by the members of that select committee. Members on 
this side of the House know that Hon Nick Griffiths would never divulge what was discussed in that 
committee, but I know he spent a lot of his time worlting on that committee. By not giving this select 
Committee the time to deliver its report and the Parliament and the community the opportunity to undertake 
an in-depth study of it, the Government has devalued the work of all the members of the committee. I have 
spent time on the Legislation Committee with both the Attorney General and Hon Derrick Tomlinson and I 
know they are both very diligent workers within the committee system. I imagine that on this occasion the 
work Hon Derrick Tomlinson has put into this term of reference has been nothing short of a great 
contribution. The Government has devalued the amount of work and effort that members put into the 
committee system by not having the decency to allow this select committee's report to lie on the Table of 
the House for at least a month to allow the contribution of the committee to be taken into account. 

In its report the select committee stated that it was important that a special purpose police anticorruption 
commission should be a stand-alone body with its own commissioner and officers and that a standing 
committee of this House of Parliament should oversee its operations; in other words, to act as a watchdog. 
!his Government is being unfair to the backbench members who have put a tremendous amount of work 
mto the committee system. This Government is not the only Government which has neglected to take up 
some of the suggestions made by various committees of this place. When my party was in government it 
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chose not to do that as well. It calls into question why this House should bother having a committee 
system if the Government does not take notice of the committee's deliberations. 

I ask the Attorney General to give an assurance that the Anti-Corruption Commission will have the power 
to investigate police corruption or serious misconduct; for example, the treatment by police of Joseph 
Detbridge. Many examples have been drawn to my attention and I am sure that members opposite have 
been made aware of the sort of mistreatment young people receive from members of the Police Service, 
which often leads them into an early entry into the criminal justice system. Will this Bill ensure that young 
people have a place to go? The Youth Legal Service has advised me of instances where young people have 
not made a complaint when the police have mistreated them and, as a result, they have become involved in 
the justice system. Young people do not trust the system. 

I want to be reassured that the amendment moved in the other place will ensure that young people will have 
the right to take their complaints to the commission and that they will not, yet again, end up being victims. 
Already many young people have had their lives destroyed because they have nowhere to take their 
complaints. It is a great pity, given the concerns expressed during the term of the previous Government by 
members of this Government, that this legislation which addresses the whole question of corruption, within 
both the public and police sectors, has been introduced within months of a state election. In the last three 
and half years there has been plenty of time to introduce the legislation. 

HON DERRICK TOMLINSON (East Metropolitan) [8.28 pm]: I will take up the remarks made by Hon 
Cheryl Davenport about police dealings with young people. I share some of the concerns she expressed. It 
is not a matter which the Select Committee on the Western Australian Police Service had the opportunity to 
investigate, but as Hon Cheryl Davenport indicated, when she and I served on the Legislation Committee it 
looked at the juvenile justice system in New Zealand The entire committee was concerned that the 
methods of dealing with young people by the Western Australia Police Service might be inadequate. The 
Select Committee on the Western Australian Police Service has presented an interim report and I draw the 
attention of the members of that committee to the fact that the final report of the committee is not required 
to be handed down until 28 November 1996. Notwithstanding that, I anticipate it is highly unlikely that the 
committee will have the opportunity to address term of reference No 6; that is, whether the police have 
appropriate methods to deal with young people. 

Hon Peter Foss inteIjected. 

Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON: I am sure the Government wrote it into the terms of reference because of 
the concerns the Legislation Committee had about the relationship between the police and juveniles in 
Western Australia. . 

I acknowledge the work of the select committee in this term of reference. It has been demanding in many 
ways, not only in time but also in emotional commitment From time to time the committee has been 
concerned about its integrity being jeopardised, not by the actions of its members, but by suspicious actions 
of persons who are in no way associated with the Parliament, either as members or staff. All of us had 
some anxiety from time to time about the sensitivity of the information before us and the consequences for 
all of us. The committee did not spend three years considering the third term of reference; that is, whether 
the self-regulation procedures of the Police Service are adequate and what alternatives it would 
recommend. Appendix B of our report indicates that we first met to discuss this term of reference on 
Wednesday, 15 June 1994 and we last met on 6 June 1996. Therefore, we put almost two years into the 
report 

Hon Cheryl Davenport: That is why I said the Government should have been given far more time to look 
at it. 

Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON: I think the report will probably get a great deal of attention from time to 
time because it has some interesting things to say. Whether it is right or wrong we will leave for other 
people to judge. 

In all committees, the most demanding time is during the preparation of the report. We commenced 
preparing the report at the end of December last year. We had some preliminary drafts by February. 
However, it was not until May that we were in a position to start editing the final report. We met on 
Wednesday, 1 May, from 9.35 am to 12.15 pm; on Friday, 3 May for two hours; on Monday, 6 May for 
two hours; on Wednesday, 8 May for two and a half hours; on Friday, 10 May for two and a half hours; on 
Monday, 13 May for two and a half hours; on Wednesday, 15 May for two hours; on Friday, 17 May for 
two and a half hours; and on Wednesday, 22 May for three hours. On Wednesday, 22 May, we put our 
signatures to that report. It was in that period from 1 May to 22 May that the committee met intensively, 
three times a week, on Mondays, Wednesdays and Fridays, for two and three hours and we went through 
the report word by word. We rewrote parts of the report and edited out parts of the report until we had a 
report with which the committee was satisfied. I have absolute confidence that, during that time, not a 
single member of the committee divulged anything about the report. The report was not completed and 
was not signed until Wednesday, 22 May. It then went to private contract printing. I think it was returned 
to the committee office on Friday, which must have been 14 June. 

I saw the report for the flfSt time on Monday, 17 June. I gave notice of tabling it on 18 June and it was 
tabled on 19 June. Therefore, the report did not exist in this form until the Friday before the committee 
tabled it That is most important, as it has been said that the Government developed its legislation to pre-
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empt the recommendations of the committee because the Government was in some way concerned about 
those recommendations, which were not completed until 22 May. A press release dated 12 March 1996 
stated that the Premier, Richard Court, announced the strongest package of anticorruption measures in the 
history of Western Australia. It said that the package involved a major strengthening of the Official 
Corruption Commission and amendments to the Criminal Code to improve the accountability of Ministers 
of the Crown, members of Parliament and members of government corporations, and the creation of a joint 
parliamentary standing committee on official corruption. 

Hon Cheryl Davenport: No~ing about police, though. 

Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON: Let us be clear about this. The press release also said that, under the 
changes to the Official Corruption Commission, an investigations unit would be established as part of the 
OCC - note it was still called the OCC at that stage - to investigate allegations involving corruption and 
criminal activities by public officers, including Ministers of the Crown, members of Parliament and police. 
That was on 12 March 1996. 

Hon Cheryl Davenport: Why was it necessary to make sure the amendment was as stated? 

Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON: At the time the committee was deliberating on its recommendations, it 
would appear to me government was also drafting the legislation which the Premier announced on 
12 March. The question has been asked whether government should have consulted the committee. No. 
We are not a creature of the Government; the select committee is a creature of this House. There is no way 
the propriety of this House would allow acceptance, let alone expect -

Hon J.A. Scott interjected. 

Hon J .A. Cowdell: Except when it gets to the Chamber and it is a no amendment Government. 

Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON: Let me deal with one concern at a time. The concern is that there was 
some collusion between members of the committee and the Government in the drafting of the 
Government's legislation. There was no opportunity for that collusion because the two processes were 
occurring side by side. The next concern was whether the committee should have consulted government 
because the Premier announced on 12 March the Government's intentions in respect of the Official 
Corruption Commission. Does it follow that, because the select committee was looking at alternative 
strategies for addressing the regulation of criminal conduct, corruption, and serious misconduct within the 
Police Service, we should have approached government and asked for its intentions because we would like 
to make sure that there was some agreement of minds, if not agreement about procedures? No. The 
committee chose not to take that route. The concern has also been expressed that we could have consulted 
the Commissioner of Police. In fact, the Commissioner of Police came before the committee. It discussed 
with him the Delta program, the proposals for the professional standards unit, and whether the professional 
standards unit should continue to be responsible for corruption within the Police Service or whether it 
could be referred to an external authority . We could also have met with the chairperson of the Official 
Corruption Commission. In fact, Mr Justice Wickham wrote to the committee with some suggestions for a 
discussion paper. We chose not to do so. Therefore, the recommendations of the committee are a result of 
the investigations, the work and the deliberations of the committee. 

It is not a matter the committee invented simply by sitting down and being imaginative about what could be 
done. In fact, the committee travelled extensively, and there has been some criticism about that. It took 
four trips; three within Australia and one overseas. The committee's frrst initiative - we were dealing with 
a matter which is always enshrouded with some uncertainty and we wanted to meet an authority that had 
undertaken a similar investigation within Australia - was to visit New South Wales where we met the then 
chairperson of the Independent Commission Against Corruption, Mr Ian Temby. He gave us some very 
useful advice on procedures that we should follow. At that stage the ICAC was preparing its report on the 
Milloo investigation involving Roger Rogerson and Neddy Smith. 

The second trip within Australia visited the police jurisdictions in South Australia and the Northern 
Territory. Committee members looked at the structures in place for regulation of the police service within 
South Australia and the Northern Territory. During a subsequent trip within Australia the committee 
visited Victoria and met the Ombudsman and the internal investigations unit of the Victorian Police 
Service. The committee travelled to Queensland and met the Criminal Justice Commission. It then 
travelled to New South Wales and met the Ombudsman, the chairman of the Independent Commission 
Against Corruption and the chairman of the Wood royal commission. During those trips within this 
country, the committee looked at the procedures in place in Australian jurisdictions for dealing with police 
misconduct, serious misconduct and allegations of corruption. 

In additiou, the committee visited the Independent Commission Against Corruption in Hong Kong. That 
body could be construed as having a similar jurisdiction to the model being presented in this legislation. 
The committee visited England and looked at the police complaints authority and it visited the Procurator 
Fiscal in Scotland. 

Hon N.D. Griffiths: I did not get there; I had to leave. 

Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON: I cannot comment on that because I did not travel with the committee on 
that occasion. I did not go overseas. I regret having not done so because I would have benefited from it. 

In addition, committee staff visited New York and met the authors of the Mollen report, of the Commission 



3844 [COUNCIL] 

to Investigate Allegations of Police Corruption and the Anti-Corruption Procedures of the New York City 
Police Department, and had a close look at the structures in place for regulation of the New York City 
Police Department. Having looked at all of those jurisdictions and all of the available models, the 
committee proposed the model contained within its report - a police anticorruption commission. 

Much of the debate this evening has centred on the Wood royal commission and its comments about the 
Independent Commission against Corruption in New South Wales. Paragraph 5.20 on page 91 of the 
Interim Report of the Royal Commission into the New South Wales Police Service states -

Careful consideration has been given to the option of establishing a dedicated Police Corruption 
Unit or Division within the ICAC, as was canvassed in a number of submissions. It is not 
favoured for several reasons ... 

The submissions recommending a dedicated police corruption unit or division within ICAC, rejected by the 
Wood royal commission, are instructive. Those submissions were made by the Police Officers 
Association; the New South Wales Council for Civil Liberties; the New South Wales Ombudsman; the 
New South Wales Police Service; and the Police Board of New South Wales. The New South Wales 
Police Service or its agencies were plugging for a unit within the Independent Commission Against 
Corruption, but the Wood royal commission rejected that. On pages 91 and 92 of its interim report, it 
explains why it came to the conclusion that that model was inappropriate for New South Wales. The 
assessment of the Wood royal commission is instructive when it talks about the appropriateness of a 
specialised police investigative unit within ICAC and its determination against that model. The first 
assessment of ICAC, in paragraph 3.118 on page 68 of the interim report states -

The ICAC has greater powers than those of this Royal Commission, for example, telephone 
interception powers. However, when ICAC has tackled police corruption the results have been 
limited. The Milloo investigation -

This is the one involving Roger Rogerson and Neddy Smith -

- was its most significant investigation in this area, yet in retrospect it seems to have been an 
opportunity lost, which resulted in limited convictions and the enforced departure of few corrupt 
officers from the Service. At the conclusion of that inquiry Mr Temby QC, then CommiSSioner, 
publicly stated that maybe it was time to leave the Police Service alone for a while to 'prove its 
capacity to achieve its own reforms which are likely to be the most lasting and beneficial'. It may 
be that, as a result, there was a degree of relaxation, both by the Police Service and the ICAC, in 
relation to corruption within the Service. If so, that was an unfortunate outcome of Milloo. 

If the relationship between Roger Rogerson and Neddy Smith and all of the attendant corruption within the 
New South Wales Police Service that flowed from that relationship had been vigorously investigated, the 
shocking revelations of the Wood royal commission would have been brought out earlier. The Independent 
Commission Against Corruption had those powers, but it chose not to pursue the investigations vigorously. 
It said, "Leave the Police Service alone for a while, to prove its capacity to achieve its own reforms." At 
paragraph 3.119 of its interim report, the Wood royal commission states -

The ICAC has had the opportunity to be aggressively proactive in the light of the material 
supplied by the NCA, i~SWCC and the Ombudsman concerning corruption. However, 
investigative techniques of the kind adopted by this Commission appear not to have been 
favoured, and corruption has continued, of a kind and to an extent which appears to be Significant. 

There is no doubting the powers of the New South Wales Independent Commission Against Corruption. In 
the estimation of Commissioner Wood, ICAC had greater powers than did his royal commission. 
However, it chose not to pursue the corruption that was revealed in the Roger Rogerson-Neddy Smith 
investigation. 

One must accept that the Wood royal commission was not favourably disposed to the ICAC model. 
However, that was not because of the model. The interim report of the Select Committee on the Western 
Australian Police Service of October 1995 gives a quite different estimation of the same model operating in 
a different jurisdiction - the Hong Kong Independent COmmission Against Corruption - and with a quite 
different commitment and outcomes. Therefore, it is a question not of the model being inappropriate, but 
of the willingness of the officers involved, and the Government which provides the resources for that 
independent commission, to pursue allegations of corruption. That is not merely within the Police Service, 
because both ICAC New South Wales and ICAC Hong Kong have a responsibility to pursue corruption 
across the whole of the public sector, but Wood found that most of the work of those two bodies, if they 
chose to pursue it, would relate to police corruption. In ICAC Hong Kong, there was a vigorous pursuit of 
police corruption; in ICAC New South Wales, there was not It was a question of choice. It was not a 
question of power, of authority, or of the organisational model of the investigative authority. 

Wben the Wood royal commission addressed the question of whether there should be a dedicated police 
corruption unit or division within ICAC, as was proposed largely by the submissions of agencies or bodies 
associated with the New South Wales Police Service, or a new purpose built agency, it rejected the 
proposal for a dedicated unit or division within ICAC. Its reasons are pertinent to ICAC New South Wales 
but are not pertinent to that model which has been applied in New South Wales. Its reasons are that there is 
a public perception that ICAC has failed to tackle police corruption or to use its coercive and other powers 
with sufficient determination and initiative, necessitating the establishment of the royal commission. 
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One cannot compare ICAC New South Wales with the Official Corruption Commission in Western 
Australia. ICAC New South Wales had all the coercive powers of a royal commission, plus. 

Hon J.A. Scott Was it well funded? 

Hon DERRlCK TOMLINSON: It was exceedingly well resourced. It had a staff of 120 persons. It 
pursued such people as the Premier of New South Wales with some vigour. It did not pursue police 
officers with the same vigour. The Wood royal commission said that the public perception of ICAC New 
South Wales was that it was not very resolute in the pursuit of police corruption. 

The OCC of Western Australia as it now exists, not as it is proposed in this legislation, is nothing more 
than a post box without powers. It can conduct preliminary investigations, and it must then submit 
allegations to other agencies for investigation. If a complaint against the Western Australia Police Service 
was lodged with the OCC, the OCC would undertake a preliminary investigation, and if it determined that 
there was merit in pursuing the case further, it would refer the matter to the Commissioner of Police, who 
would refer it to the internal affairs unit. The Select Committee on the Western Australian Police Service 
reached the conclusion that the internal affairs unit of the Western Australia Police Service is an 
inappropriate body to undertake such investigations. 

The reasons that the Wood royal commission rejected the ICAC model and chose to have an independent 
and dedicated police corruption unit are elaborated upon at pages 91 and 92 of its report. I refer members 
to that part of the report, because it is a statement about the operation of ICAC New South Wales. It is not 
a statement about the Queensland Criminal Justice Commission. The Wood royal commission did report 
on the Queensland Criminal Justice COmmission, on the New Zealand model, on the United Kingdom 
Police Complaints Authority, and on the Canadian experience, I think in Ontario. It, too, looked at 
alternative models and reached the conclusion that ICAC with a special investigative unit was not 
appropriate to New South Wales. It rejected the ICAC model and recommended the establishment of a 
police corruption commission. Why did it decide that? The report states in paragraph 5.32 on page 94 
that-

The PCC should be empowered to assign specific investigations to the NSW Police Service to be 
conducted under PCC supervision. It should have a role in recommending preventative action 
arising out of its inquiries, and in carrying out its audits on any aspect of policing, at any time. 
Further it should have a power to refer special investigations involving Police Service tenders and 
procurement contracts to the ICAC, which has specific expertise in that area of public sector 
performance. 

It did not dismiss ICAC entirely. The Wood royal commission recommended that those matters which 
were appropriate to the special skills which were demonstrated by ICAC during its operation, and which it 
recommended be investigated by the police corruption commission, should be referred to ICAC. It 
dismissed the idea that ICAC New South Wales was an appropriate body in which to house a special 
investigative unit. 

I have laboured that point because it is particularly important that members understand that what the Wood 
royal commission recommended was on the basis of what was appropriate to the circumstances of New 
South Wales and on the basis of its assessment of the lack of effectiveness which had been demonstrated 
by ICAC, in spite of its comprehensive powers to pursue police corruption. It then behoves us to consider 
the two models which have been advanced. I stress that the model the Government has advanced and 
which it announced on 12 March and introduced in legislation on 19 June, and the model which the 
committee advanced and tabled in its report of 19 June were developed concurrently, but in isolation. 
There was no dialogue between government and the Select Committee on the Western Australian Police 
Service. There was no leak to the Government of the deliberations by the committee. I defend the 
committee against the allegations made in this House that at all times the Government was informed about 
the deliberations of the committee. As far as the committee was concerned, the Government had no 
knowledge of what the committee was deliberating until the report was tabled. 

Hon Reg Davies: And quite right. 

Hon DERRlCK TOMLINSON: Unfortunately continual allegations have been made that the 
Government's presentation of its legislation on the same day as the committee report was tabled was a pre
emptive strike because it was in some way intimidated by the committee's recommendations. 

Hon Reg Davies: It was poor form though. 

Hon DERRlCK TOMLINSON: When did the committee intend to table its report? It intended to table it 
at the beginning of April. Why did it not report at the beginning of April? At that time an important trial 
was to commence in the Supreme Court dealing with matters contained in the select committee's report. 
The Director of Public Prosecutions asked that if we were considering reporting about 3 April, we not table 
anything in the Parliament which would jeopardise that trial. That was the committee's intention. Hon 
Reg Davies nods in agreement. 

Hon Reg Davies: Let it be noted. 

Hon DERRlCK TOMLINSON: We did not fmish our report. Hon Reg Davies was absent on 
par~iamentary business elsewhere when I read to the House the list of meetings in May at which we 
dehberated and the number of hours we deliberated on the final draft of the report. We did not fmish the 
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report in April, but that was our intention. If we had presented it in April and government had announced 
its decision in March, guess what the allegation would have been? "Government announced its intentions 
in March because it wanted to pre-empt the report of the committee which came down on 8 April." 

Hon Kim Chance: Sounds fair. 

Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON: If, however, we had presented the report on 3 April or 8 April, guess what 
the allegation would have been if government had waited until 19 June to introduce the legislation? "This 
tardy Government is avoiding its responsibilities." Members cannot have it both ways. 

Hon Kim Chance: We did not try; that is your theory. I would have applauded the Government for its 
speed. 

Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON: All this House now has to decide -
Hon J.A. Cowdell: Is whether it is your model or the Government's model. 

Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON: I note the Opposition has accepted the Government's model. Speaker 
after speaker on the other side of the House has said, "We accept the legislation, but with these 
reservations." The reservations are about a pre-emptive strike, collusion between the select committee and 
the Government, and some fear that the recommendations of the select committee were in some way 
threatening to government 

Hon Reg Davies: Have you no concerns about the government legislation wbatever? 
Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON: Of course I have concerns about the government legislation. I remind 
Hon Reg Davies that the final two paragraphs of the report read -

The Committee has found that corruption and serious misconduct within the W APS is far greater 
than has previously been acknowledged, even thougb it is and bas been known by its Senior 
Executive. 

The Committee has cited specific cases where a judicial inquiry is required in the public interest 
Some submissions provided to the Committee may give rise to further instances where a judicial 
inquiry is required. 

Hon Reg Davies: Do you agree with that? 

Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON: I certainly do agree with that. I will take some credit for writing those 
parts of the report which deal with the death of Stephen Wardle, the Mickelberg case and the Argyle 
Diamonds affair. I will take responsibility for the statement which reads -

It is likely that only an independent judicial inquiry will resolve the issues raised by the Argyle 
Diamond affair. 

I also take responsibility for saying -

Nevertheless an independent judicial inquiry will be necessary to prove whether the police 
handling of the Mickelberg case was beyond reproach. 

The committee said, lilt is another matter whicb will be resolved only by judicial inquiry." I signed that 
report and I do not resile from any of those recommendations. However, I fmish with a fmal quote from 
the final paragraph -

The Committee's recommendations give direction for positive action. If they are not implemented 
the only other course available is the establishment of a Royal Commission into the W APS with 
wide terms of reference. 

I signed that also and I stand by it The question that must then be resolved for my conscience is whether 
those recommendations are adequately dealt with in the proposal for the Anti-Corruption Commission. 
There were four recommendations and of those four I suggest that only one is not dealt with in this Bill. 

Hon Reg Davies: The Ombudsman? 

Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON: I accept that, but the Ombudsman is subject to different legislation and 
cannot be dealt with by amendment to the Official Corruption Commission legislation. The only matter 
not dealt with is the educative authority of the police and the Anti-Corruption Commission. 

Hon Reg Davies: Will it have veto? 

Hon DERRICK TOMLINSON: In Committee we will deal with an amendment foreshadowed by the 
Opposition relating to the educative function of the police anticorruption commission. I will reserve my 
remarks until then. However, although I do not resile from the recommendations of the select committee, it 
is my opinion that the substantive principles advanced by the committee are dealt with by the 
Government's amendments to the Official Corruption COmmission and, like the OppoSition, I support the 
amendment 

HON BOB THOMAS (South West) [9.10 pm]: Like other members of the OppoSition, I support the 
legislation because it is an important step in the right direction. However, the Bill is deficient Therefore, 
we should seriously consider amending it, otherwise in future we will need to deal with the legislation 
again to improve it 
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I wish to address the issue of self-regulation of the police. Under proposed section 7HB a body will be set 
up to oversight the investigation of police. The Select Committee on the Western Australian Police Service 
bas recommended that a specific body be set up - that is, the police anticorruption commission - which 
would be monitored by a select committee of Parliament. That is the way to go. The select committee 
report is very thorough, but it probably touches only the tip of the iceberg of corruption in our Police 
Service. Having dealt with many police officers in Western Australia, I believe that corruption is not 
systemic within the Police Force but it is certainly endemic in certain sections. The select committee 
report indicates that COrrupti9n tends to be confmed to the cm. The committee investigated a number of 
the more high profile, incidehts that have occurred over the past 10 years - the Mickelberg case, Operation 
Foxtrot, Operation Bravo Quebec, and the Heaney, Angel and Eucla cases. In every instance, it is noted 
that the self-regulatory provisions within the Police Force have been inadequate. The internal affairs unit 
or the internal investigation branch has crawled allover those cases but even though the matters were 
supposed to have been properly investigated and the guilty pe!)ple brought to book, that has not been the 
case. For instance, in the Eucla case the conviction of two drng runners was overturned, and later a charge 
of petjury was laid against three police officers. I refer now to the judgment in that case by Justices 
Rowland, Seaman and Ipp dated 7 April 1992, at page 11 which reads -

In summary, what this evidence discloses is: (1) Doubt has been cast on the evidence of Sergeant 
Fairclough that he had arrived in Eucla from Esperance by 5 o'clock on the afternoon of the 11th 
May and at that time obtained the oral confessional statement from this accused. 

At page 12, the justices refer to evidence of Constable Johnson, a female officer, and state -

This by itself would have little direct impact on the trial if, as occurred, that confessional evidence 
was not admissible. Its importance, however, becomes relevant because Constable Lee and 
Constable Brennan each had given statements that one of them was present when each of the 
appellant and McCoull were being interviewed at 5.00 pm by the Sergeant. The evidence before 
us given by the Probationary Constable would add further doubt to the credit of these two 
Constables. ... This was not the only large discrepancy arising from the police evidence. 

Further on Justice Ipp says -

In consequence of the fresh evidence led before this Court it is apparent, for the reasons expressed 
by Rowland and Seaman JJ that aspects of the police evidence were unsatisfactory to a serious 
degree. It follows that there is a real prospect of any new trial against the appellant failing. 

That was the fmding of the three appeal court judges who made damning indictments on the police 
evidence presented to the court -

Hon Mark Nevill: I would not call it damning. One said that there was a doubt and the other said that 
Constable Johnson's evidence cast further doubt. 

Hon BOB THOMAS: It was stated that the evidence was unsatisfactory to a serious degree. At a later 
trial, Sergeant Fairclough and two constables were found guilty of petjury, even though the internal affairs 
branch had investigated the case and had failed to identify that situation. It appears from the select 
committee report that they were more interested in protecting their own. 

Hon Mark Nevill: That is not the police officers. That is the internal investigations branch. 

Hon BOB THOMAS: That is right. At page 24 the select committee report states -

The lIB is the investigative branch charged with receiving and examining complaints from the 
public about police behaviour and carrying out investigations of those complaints. 

However, at page 44 talking about the Angel case, the committee states -

This matter was considered by the 1m as part of its inquiry into allegations of improper and 
inadequate police investigation made in support of a claim for compensation. It was dismissed by 
the lIB, apparently with little scrutiny. 

At page 48 the committee states -

... rather than objective appraisal, their primary intention was to protect the police officers from 
the charges of incompetence laid against them. 

I raise these issues because I have grave concerns that this legislation does not go far enough and will not 
address the major problems we have with our Police Force; that is, the self-regulatory bodies which are 
charged with enSuring that police corruption and improper behaviour are detected and wiped out, and the 
guilty punished. One need only read the select committee report to note that numerous cases have been 
referred to both the internal investigations branch and the internal affairs unit - some involving serious 
corruption - but few charges have been laid. It appears that the attitude was that it would be very difficult 
to prefer charges against those officers, and the acceptable outcome was for the officers involved in that 
corruption to be forced to leave the Police Service. That is not a satisfactory situation. Proposed section 
7HB, which deals with investigation of the police, does not go far enough. 

The second reading speech reads -

It is intended that the commission will use its own investigators and facilities for only the most 
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serious allegations which require independent investigation. Proposed section 7HB sets out 
matters for which the commission must have regard in deciding whether further action is to be 
carried out by the commission or whether an allegation should be referred for further action. 
Those matters include -

(a) the seniority of any public officer to whom the allegation relates; 

(b) the seriousness of the conduct or involvement to which the allegation relates; 
and 

(c) the need for an independent investigation rather than an investigation by a 
public authority ... 

I do not think that that is satisfactory for the Police Force. In each of the cases to which I have referred we 
are not dealing with senior officers; we are dealing with people at the detective -

Hon Peter Foss: The paragraph you referred to is the one that stops the police investigating themselves. 
You read out three paragraphs and halved the one that really matters. 

Hon BOB THOMAS: Is the Minister telling me that if someone refers an incident to the ACC in which a 
detective has been involved in providing false evidence to a trial, it will not be investigated by someone 
within the Police Force? 

Hon Peter Foss: That is exactly what paragraph (c) is all about You did not read it. 
Hon BOB TIIOMAS: I have spoken to other people who tell me that that is not necessarily the case. 

Hon Peter Foss: All they can do is read the legislation. You did not read it and I suppose they did not 
either. 

Hon BOB TIIOMAS: I raise that because I want to present a case study relating to a very serious incident 
not dealt with by the select committee. I am heartened by the assurance the Attorney General has given 
tonight that this case will not be investigated by the police. 

HOI) Peter Foss: That is the whole point of it. 

Hon BOB TIIOMAS: I will present the case study to the House to show that the existing self-regulatory 
controls are not working. 

Hon Peter Foss: I think we all agree with that. 

Hon BOB THOMAS: I have taken up this issue and I am not satisfied with the response from the Police 
Force. It involves a prisoner in the Albany lockup who approached me earlier this year and asked me to 
visit the prison to talk about his case. He believes that evidence presented at his trial in 1992 was 
fabricated in two ways: First, the record of interview taken at the police station was incorrect and was 
fabricated and, secondly, the evidence given at his trial could not possibly be correct. I will not use the 
name of the prisoner or the police involved. The case involves a person of German or Russian decent who 
was living in Perth, but who then moved to the eastern wheatbelt and was running a family farm. 

Hon B.K. Donaldson: Was that the rentral or the northern wheatbelt? 

Hon BOB TIIOMAS: It was in the eastern district. This man's wife told him that she was a computer 
programmer and spent quite a bit of time working away from home. He was given a tip-off by someone 
some time in 1992 that his wife was working as a prostitute in Kalgoorlie. He followed her to a place 
where she had a rendezvous with some chap. He described it as a place west of the entrance to Kalgoorlie. 
When he barged into the house he saw his wife in her underwear and some naked men. One of them saw 
him walk in the front door and he ran to his clothing and retrieved a gun and pointed it at the prisoner, who 
then fled to his farm. 

Hon Mark Nevill: On foot? 

Hon BOB TIIOMAS: No, in his truck. 

Some time later he was visited by the police. He admits that he had been growing marijuana, but he 
pointed out to me that it was for his own use. He was charged with a drug offence and was released on 
bail. After he was released on bail he left the family farm and went to stay with friends at Pingrup. As a 
provision of bail he was required to report to the police station at various times. On 14 November 1992 he 
did that, arriving at the police station between 9.00 and 9.10 am. He drove into town with the farmer's 
wife, who had a medical appointment While he was at the police station, three detectives arrived - two 
from Kalgoorlie or Merredin and one from Perth. These officers wanted to interview him. He did not have 
his lawyer present so he refused to answer any questions. He told me that the duration of the interview was 
between five and 10 minutes. As a result of his refusing to answer questions, the detectives said they 
would search the farm at which he was staying. He pointed out that they did not have a search warrant and 
they said that he was on bail and they therefore did not need one. He agreed to go with them to the farm at 
Pingrup. 

This person was reporting at the police station at Lake Grace, which is approximately 80 kilometres away 
or about a 45 minute drive from the farm. He had the keys to the car and needed to drop them back to the 
farmer's wife, who was at the doctor's surgery. The detectives agreed that they would take him to the car 
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and then to the surgery to give the keys to the farmer's wife. They searched the car at the same time, which 
took about five minutes. One of the detectives then went into the surgery and asked for the farmer's wife 
by name. She responded and the detective gave her the keys. I have read the statutory declaration from the 
farmer's wife, who stated that she received the keys at about 9.40 am and the statutory declaration from the 
doctor, who stated that the farmer's wife was seen as a patient at about 9.40 am. The police and the 
prisoner then drove to the farm, leaving Lake Grace at about 9.40 am - and the journey takes about 
45 minutes. They would have arrived at the farm at 10.25 am, or certainly before 10.30 am. 

The prisoner saw the farmer? s daughter and said that he had been interviewed by the police, but as his 
lawyer was not present he did not answer any questions. He asked the farmer's daughter to ring his lawyer 
and apprise him of the situation. I have seen the evidence submitted to court that the prisoner's lawyer 
tendered a memo showing that the farmer's daughter rang the lawyer's office at about 10.43 am. That 
confirms the fact that the interview was fairly brief. 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: I wonder how this ties in with the Anti-Corruption Commission. 

Hon BOB THOMAS: It relates to the internal investigation powers of the police. I am illustrating why we 
need to change this legislation. The Attorney General has very kindly pointed out to me that the Bill 
contains a measure that allows external, independent agencies to investigate the police. 

A search was done at the farm and the prisoner said that he was then taken back to Lake Grace and locked 
in a cell. The detectives went for their lunch and left Lake Grace Police Station at 12.30 pm to return to 
Merredin. The Commissioner of Police provided that information to the prisoner because a copy of the 
Lake Grace Police Station occurrence book was submitted as evidence in the form of exhibit KC 5 during 
his trial. Page 1 shows the detectives arrived independently at the police station, one arriving at 8.30 am 
and the other arriving at 9.00 am, and that at 12.30 pm two detectives left with the prisoner for Merredin 
CIB. The prisoner's recollection of events is that there was a short interview, a trip to Pingrup and back to 
Lake Grace where he was deposited in his cell, and after lunch he was taken back to Merredin. If one 
thinks about it, Lake Grace to Pingrup is about 80 kilometres. It would take 45 to 50 minutes to drive there 
and 45 to 50 minutes to drive back with perhaps half an hour's search at the farm. Therefore, it makes 
sense that the police would have been able to leave by 12.30 pm as shown in the occurrence book. 
However, the information provided at his trial by those detectives contradicts the information provided by 
the occurrence book. I will read to the House some of the evidence given to the court. I will refer to the 
transcript of proceedings of 15 July 1992. At page 261, one of the detectives, whom I will call Detective 
B, was questioned by Mr Percy. I take it that is Tom Percy who was acting for the accused. It reads -

You saw him at approximately what time? - Well, he was due to be at the Police Station at 
9 o'clock thatmoming and I think he came in about 10 past 9. 

That confirms the prisoner's recollection of events. 

Detective A was asked the question by Mr Trowell for the accused -

Detective, can I ask you this? The conversation, the initial conversation, with [the prisoner] took 
approximately how long? - Approximately an hour and a half. 

Detective A repeated that a bit later. He said -

Yes, during that interview I was the officer designated to record the interview, or the person to 
take notes, and I actually wrote down what was said by [Detective B] and I wrote down the 
answers given by the accused. 

A further detective, Detective C, was asked by Ms Maxwell for the Crown -

At the conclusion of the interview did you have an opportunity to read the notes prepared by 
[Detective A]? - Yes, I did. 

What comment can you make as to the accuracy of those notes? - They were an accurate record of 
that conversation there that day. 

The record of that conversation was read out at the prisoner's trial on 15 July 1992. The record of the 
interview was 2744 words long. It took 18 minutes to read the record of that interview to the court. The 
2744 words must have taken quite a long time to write. My electorate officer can type at well over 
60 words a minute. If she typed the record of the interview, it would take her 45 minutes at a good typist's 
speed. I doubt whether I could write at 10 words a minute, but if I could, at 10 words a minute those 2 744 
words would have taken 4.5 hours to record. 

Hon EJ. Charlton: Perhaps you should write a book on it. 

Hon BOB THOMAS: The officers when subject to questioning went on to say that they spent some time 
after this interview rereading the record to make sure it was accurate. It would take at least 18 minutes for 
them to do that. We are talking not about a few minutes, as the prisoner said, but at least a couple of hours. 
That means that if the prisoner had been taken to the farm at the time suggested by the police officers, he 
W(;lU.ld have been taken at 11.00 am. If he had been taken at 11.00 am, he would have spent 45 minutes 
drivmg there, there would have been a search and they would not have been back at the police lockup at 
Lake Grace by 12.30 pm. However, the occurrence book shows that they left the police lockup at Lake 
Grace at 12.30 to go to Merredin. According to my calculations, if they were correct and they wrote this 
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record in longhand, which is what the detectives said in court, it would have taken at least three or four 
hours to write it, and then they checked it. Therefore, it would have been at least 12.00 noon before they 
went to the farm. They could not have been back in time to leave Lake Grace by 12.30 pm to go to 
Merredin. Another interesting aspect of this is that a specialist gave evidence at the trial. I forget what was 
his speciality. He indicated that the language used in the statement read out to the court by the police 
officers was not the language used by the prisoner. He is either German or Russian and does not speak: 
English fluently, but the answers given in the statement were in very fluent English. 

As a result of the concerns raised by the prisoner I took up this matter with the Commissioner of Police. I 
wrote to him earlier this year and asked him to review the case. I was not sure whether it should be 
referred to the internal investigations branch or the internal affairs unit. I did not know which was correct. 
I certainly felt that the probity of the evidence given by the detectives was in some doubt I wanted the 
commissioner to refer it to the relevant regulatory body so that the information could be double-checked 
and if there were some wrongdoing by those detectives, some action could be taken. I forget on which date 
I wrote to the Commissioner of Police. I received an answer on 13 May from the superintendent of the 
internal investigations unit The superintendent wrote in the second paragraph of his letter -

The internal investigation into the discrepancies has been completed by a senior officer with the 
Internal Investigations Unit and following further interviews with the officers involved, it has 
been resolved that there was no impropriety or misconduct on the part of those officers. 

I do not believe that at all. They could not possibly have recorded in longhand a statement of 2 744 words 
and spent at least an hour and a half driving from Lake Grace to Pingtup and back, gone to lunch and left 
the police station at 12.30 pm. It should be obvious to the internal investigations unit superintendent that 
the numbers do not add up, but this is the justification that the superintendent has given me -

During the course of the internal investigation, particular emphasis was placed on the content of 
the interview with a view to assessing if any false evidence could have been included, however it 
was noted that in the notes taken, no admissions were made by [the prisoner] and the evidence 
was overall of no significant value to the case. It is assumed that if the officers intended to falsify 
the notes of the interview or otherwise provide false evidence to secure a conviction, then that 
evidence would lean towards the guilt of [the prisoner]. As this was not the case, then it would be 
reasonable to assume that no impropriety occurred. 

The superintendent based this on assumption rather than sitting down and doing the sums and 
independently checking the evidence given by the detectives. If there is a logical explanation for the 
detectives being able to take a statement of 2 744 words in longhand and still spend at least an hour and a 
half driving out to the farm and conducting a proper search of that farm, after leaving the police station at 
12.30 pm, I will accept it. However, it is not feasible that this could have occurred in the time frame given 
by the detectives. That casts significant doubt on the evidence given in the court and to the internal 
investigators of the Police Force. The superintendent is correct that the information relating to the time 
frame I talked about did not have any significant influence on the outcome of the trial. It was referred to 
during the trial and during the appeal. However, other more significant evidence, which was collected by 
those detectives, was used to obtain the conviction of this prisoner. 

If this evidence about the times is wrong and it can be shown to have been manufactured or deliberately 
fabricated by those detectives, it will cast significant doubt on the evidence that was more significant in this 
case. An independent investigation of this case should be conducted instead of the obfuscation I have 
received from the internal investigation unit I am pleased to hear the Attorney General tell me that cases 
of this nature will not be investigated by the same agency; that is, in future they will not be investigated by 
the police. If this legislation is passed and an opportunity exists for this matter to be presented to the Anti
Corruption Commission and investigated by an independent investigator, I will forward this information to 
that body. I commend the Bill to the House. 

[Resolved, that the House continue to sit beyond 11.00 pm.] 

HON MURRAY MONTGOMERY (South West) [9.44 pm]: I will speak: in support of the Bill, but I 
assure members that I will not speak: for three-quarters of an hour. There is a reason for that In discussion 
on this Bill a lot of attention has been given to the tie between term of reference No 3 addressed in the 
report of the Select Committee on the Western Australian Police Service and the Bill before the House, and 
the fact that most of the recommendations in that report are addressed in some form in this Bill. It is 
interesting to note that much concentration has been focused on the establishment of a royal commission. 
However, the Bill and the recommendations of the select committee are not aimed at setting up a royal 
commission. A royal commission is suggested by the committee only as a fall back position. The 
committee said mainly that it wanted an anti-corruption commission in place. The commission is given the 
authority and direction under the Bill to look at police in a direct sense. 

Hon Reg Davies: Specifically where in the Bill is that contained? 

Hon MURRAY MONTGOMERY: New section 6F(I)(a) states that the functions of the commission are

to receive or initiate allegations of corrupt conduct, criminal conduct, criminal involvement or 
serious improper conduct about -

(i) police officers; 
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That specifically indicates that the commission will take that on board. The Bill refers in subparagraph (ii) 
to other public officers. Therefore, it will have two roles. 

Hon Reg Davies: It will not have two separate roles. 
Hon MURRAY MONTGOMERY: They are two separate items. The frrst item is police officers and the 
second is other public officers. In that sense at least it is recognised that police will be looked at as a 
separate entity from public officers. 
Hon John Halden: The Ombudsman currently has the power to look at the police separately, and it does 
not work. . 

Hon Derrick Tomlinson: The Ombudsman does not have those powers. He can initiate investigations on 
his own motion, but he has the power to review investigations conducted by the internal investigations 
branch. 
Hon MURRAY MONTGOMERY: I am trying to illustrate that as the committee wrote the report, some 
compromises were made. The amendment to facilitate that was made after the report was tabled. 

Hon Reg Davies: Which amendment was made? 

Hon MURRAY MONTGOMERY: The reference to "police officer" was inserted as a separate item. The 
original draft of the Bill in the other place referred to "public officer", and police were not mentioned. 

Hon Reg Davies: It refers to police officers and other public officers. It does not tell me about two 
separate bodies. 

Hon Peter Foss: Your report did not even suggest that 
Hon MURRAY MONTGOMERY: I raise the point because it takes that step forward to address the issue. 

Hon John Halden: It must be the smallest step known to mankind! 

Hon MURRAY MONTGOMERY: That is an interpretation the member may place on it. 

Hon John Halden: It is nonsense. 
Hon MURRAY MONTGOMERY: The member may refer to it as nonsense. 

Hon John Halden: It is the most minor technical amendment possible. 

Hon MURRAY MONTGOMERY: It was claimed that the legislation did not contain that provision. I 
referred to the Official Corruption Commission Act, which indicates that a standing committee of either 
House of Parliament, or a jOint standing committee, should be established. At least that is possible - the 
legislation identifies it It will be appointed to "monitor and review the performance and functions of the 
commission". That at least suggests that a standing committee be appointed of this place, the other or both 
places. 

Hon Reg Davies: Where is it? 

Hon MURRAY MONTGOMERY: That is in the Official Corruption Commission Act. 

Hon Reg Davies: Where is the committee? 

Hon John Halden: Haven't you been on it? We all have. 

Hon Peter Foss: A motion is currently before this House from the other place. 

Hon Reg Davies: Amendments are also currently before the House. 

Hon MURRAY MONTGOMERY: The connection exists. The debate indicates that the recommendations 
from the select committee report have at least been somewhat addressed. I do not agree with the entire Bill 
as it could be well and truly beefed up and made much stronger. However, it is a step in the direction 
needed. 

Hon Reg Davies: You are saying that it is second best. 

Hon MURRAY MONTGOMERY: No, I did not say that at all. 

Hon Peter Foss: The Opposition is saying that it could not be made stronger as it is too strong already. 

Hon MURRAY MONTGOMERY: While debate rages across the Chamber between other members, I will 
try to make my point. The Bill moves some way down the track to implementing the recommendations of 
the select committee report. 

The other aspect which seems to have been forgotten is that of public officer. The other half of the Bill, 
which relates to the investigation of public officers, arose from the select committee's investigations of the 
New South Wales Independent Commission Against Corruption, which spent most of its time investigating 
public officers and forgot about the police. Interestingly, when we were in New South Wales, ICAC was 
lDvestigating local authorities, which is the other arm with which the Anti-Corruption Commission shonld 
be, and is to be, involved. The organisation should look at both the police and public officers. 

Hon John Halden: We do not have two sides to the organisation. 
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Hon MURRAY MONTGOMERY: There must be two sides; that is already stated -

Hon Peter Foss: They are with the special investigator. 

Hon John Halden: There is one side. It is one animal - it is not in parts. 

Hon Peter Foss: That is not a committee recommendation. 

Hon MURRAY MONTGOMERY: ICAC investigated all areas, but the investigators covered public 
officers and, as Hon Derrick Tomlinson said, ICAC took up the role of looking at police and the Neddy 
Smith and Roger Rogerson affair. However, it failed to follow that through and bring the matters into the 
open. If it had succeeded, the Wood royal commission would have been held earlier. The two parts of the 
body relate to public officers and police, and the one authority deals with these matters outside the Police 
Force. That is appropriate. 

Hon John Halden: Is that not what ICAC did? You are telling me about the ICAC model, but I am 
repeatedly told that ICAC did not work. 

Hon Peter Foss: You must not have heard Hon Derrick Tomlinson. 

Hon John Halden: I discounted that 

Hon MURRAY MONTGOMERY: The ACC is directed along such lines with one major difference; that 
is, ICAC was given no direction regarding where it should investigate and police were regarded simply as 
public officers. 

Hon John Halden: Where is the direction here? 

Hon MURRAY MONTGOMERY: The ICAC chairman decided where he would go and how he would 
investigate matters. This legislation identifies as one part of its function the investigation of police officers 
if a complaint is received and -

Several members interjected. 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (Hon Barry House): Order! I suggest that the member address his comments 
to the Chair so he will not invite interjections. 

Hon MURRAY MONTGOMERY: I will take your advice, Mr Deputy President I believe ICAC ran out 
of direction because senior officers lost the will to investigate police when the opportunity arose. ICAC 
was working on cases which could have opened up corruption prior to the Wood royal commission. 

The select committee report is interesting in that regard as pages 3 to 7 try to define where "corruption" and 
"misconduct" start and fmish. That should be considered and studied as that definition is in the eye of the 
beholder - some see corruption where others see misconduct. The Fitzgerald report offers a practical 
model. I do not propose to read pages 5 and 6 of that report, but that defmition is the crux of the issue of 
where the commission should begin to investigate a matter and where it should divide itself. This Bill is a 
step in the right direction in dealing with corruption in the Public Service and I support it. 

RON J.A. COWDELL (South West) [10.00 pm]: The most interesting question before this House might 
be what happened to the poor bugger who got sprung with the farmer's wife? 

Several members interjected. 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: I support the second reading of this Bill, but I certainly will not support some of its 
clauses in Committee. Let us take note of the various reports before the House because the Government 
appears not to have done that The reports I refer to are the second report of the Royal COmmission into 
Commercial Activities of Government and Other Matters, the second report of the Commission on 
Government and, of course, the much quoted interim report of the Select Committee on the Western 
Australian Police Service. 

I was heartened to hear the speakers in this debate. I cannot but agree with the critique of this legislation 
offered by Hon Murray Montgomery and Hon Derrick Tomlinson. Hon Murray Montgomery did bring to 
the attention of this House that this Bill could well be beefed up; the exact point the Opposition is making. 
He also made the point that it is at least a step in the right direction; a point the Opposition is willing to 
concede. He said that this Bill is a step in the right direction and it is better than nothing, but we could do 
far better. I could not agree more with that member of the select committee. The chairman of the select 
committee, Hon Derrick Tomlinson, did offer -

Hon John Halden interjected. 

Hon Peter Foss: That is an unjustified attack on Hon Derrick Tomlinson. 

Hon John Halden: Rubbish! It happens every three months in this place. 

Hon Peter Foss: It was an unjustified attack and the member is quite right - he does it all the time. 

Hon John Halden: I am sick to death of his behaviour; he is a disgrace. It brings the committee system 
into disrepute. 

Point of Order 

Hon PETER FOSS: I ask that the remark be withdrawn. 
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The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (Hon Barry House): Order! I did not identify any specific remark. Perhaps 
the Attorney General will identify it. 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: The member referred to Hon Derrick Tomlinson as a disgrace and I ask that the term 
be withdrawn. 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: It is not normal practice to ask for that term to be withdrawn. The 
conventions of this place dictate that if a member takes offence at a comment, the member who made it 
should be invited to withdraw it. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: I decline the convention - I do not know that it exists. 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order! It is a convention of this place, but I will not insist on the withdrawal 
of that remark. 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: It is not a matter of convention; I am saying it is unparliamentary language. 

Hon Kim Chance: It is not. You are wrong, so sit down. 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order! In the context in which it was used it was not unparliamentary and 
there is no point of order. 

Debate Resumed 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: I appreciated the critique of this Bill offered by Hon Murray Montgomery I took 
note of the critique of this legislation offered by Hon Derrick Tomlinson and the Government would do 
well to take note of his comments. He said that the internal affairs unit of the Western Australia Police 
Force was not an appropriate body to conduct the sort of investigations which are needed. He pointed to 
the Independent Commission Against Corruption situation in New South Wales and the proposal for a 
special investigative unit in that State. That is not seen as appropriate by the Wood royal commission; 
however, it is in favour of a specific police corruption commission, which was the finding of the select 
committee of this House. 

As Hon Derrick Tomlinson noted, the problem with ICAC was that it pursued Premiers, not police officers, 
with vigour. What does this State have? It does not have a police anticorruption commission which was 
advocated by the select committee. It does not even have a designated unit within a wider corruption 
commission. 

Hon Peter Foss: Where does the select committee say it should be separate from the Anti-Corruption 
Commission? 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: I ask the Attorney General to let me proceed. 

Hon Peter Foss: You are making a false statement. 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: No, I am not. I am saying that by having a broader commission -

Hon Peter Foss: Why don't you quote from the select committee's report? 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: I am choosing not to quote from that report: I am taking up the points made by 
Hon Derrick Tomlinson in his contribution. 

Hon Peter Foss interjected. 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order! 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: The Opposition's concern is that in the wider commission, not even with a 
specifically designated unit, the Anti-Corruption Commission will cast too wide a net. It will be involved 
in a whole range of concerns. Its powers have been widened to include improper conduct, corrupt conduct 
and so on. This State may very well fall into the same situation that New South Wales did with its ICAC, 
where insufficient attention was paid to the major area of corruption which was police corruption. Quite 
correctly, Hon Derrick Tomlinson raised this concern. It will be a concern so long as this House follows 
the Criminal Justice Commission or the ICAC models which, to some degree, the Government is doing in 
this legislation. I will proceed to some points made in the Attorney General's second reading speech. He 
said-

On 12 March the Government announced the strongest package of anticorruption measures in the 
history of Western Australia. 

That is questionable given that it does not stack up with the advice of the Royal Commission into 
Commercial Activities of Government and Other Matters, it does not compare favourably with the 
Commission on Government's recommendations, and it does not compare favourably with the 
recommendations of the Select Committee on the Western Australian Police Service. However, never to 
be inhibited by the true situation, the Attorney General went on to make all sorts of grandiose claims about 
the Government's already strong record in this area and made four points in support of those claims. The 
flfSt was the Freedom of Information Act 1992 which was, of course, passed by the previous Labor 
Government -

Hon Peter Foss: It was improved enormously by this House. 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: - and of course was watered down by some amendments brought in by the current 
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Government The second was the Public Sector Management Act enacted in 1994, which became 
operative on 1 October 1994. One might almost say it was an Act to further politicise the Public Service of 
Western Australia. 

Hon Peter Foss: Nonsense! 

Hon J .A. COWDELL: The Attorney General said "nonsense". 

Hon Peter Foss: You are a disgrace. 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: In December 1995, the Commission on Government said about the Government's 
wonderful 1994 achievement that the Public Sector Management Act was viewed as flawed in that it did 
not appear to have made adequate provision for the investigation of misconduct in the public sector or the 
enforcement of standards. That is the great record of the Government. We all know that the Commissioner 
for Public Sector Standards in that setup is a farce indeed compared with the old Public Service 
Commissioner. The Attorney General then referred to the Government's strong record in the appointment 
of a new Commissioner of Police. I do not know what that is supposed to mean. Is it a reflection on 
former Commissioner Bull or on his deputies who did not succeed him in being appointed as the 
Commissioner of Police? That is presented as a substantive change by this Government The third change 
suggested by the Attorney General as part of the Government's strong record is the amending of the 
Official Corruption Commission Act -

Hon LD. MacLean interjected. 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: It is Hon lain MacLean's legislation that is being considered at the moment The 
Official Corruption Commission Act was amended in 1994, once again in direct contradiction of the advice 
of the royal commission. The royal commission, as members will recall, had before it the proposed draft 
amendments that were passed by this Government in 1994. It said -

The draft Bill presented by the Select Committee in its September 1992 report would seek, but 
only in a limited way, to ameliorate these problems. The functions of the OCC would remain 
defined by relevant provisions of the Criminal Code .... The draft Bill is narrow in its scope and 
effect. Whilst it may be considered a step in the right direction -

Where have we heard that before? To continue -

- it is but a very tentative one. 

The fmal impressive record of the Government was the establishment of the Commission on Government 
in 1994 and its work being almost complete. It is almost dead and buried by this Government with 
probably 10 of the 200 recommendations adopted so far! 

I will remind the House of other relevant recommendations by the Commission on Government. This Bill 
is another tentative step, not built on a strong record, as the Attorney General claims, but based on a very 
shaky and haphazard effort, traversing the Freedom of Information Act, the Public Sector Management 
Act, a new Commissioner of Police, the last attempt to amend the Official Corruption Commission Act, 
and, of course, taking note of some of COG's recommendations. Even in this piece of legislation, no 
reference is made to the essential need to address specified matter 13 with respect to whistleblower 
legislation or specified matter 11. Both of those were seen as parts of the whole and the Government has 
made no move to address that second vital factor. We have seen a faltering start, a poor record, and now a 
poor piece of legislation before us. As Hon Murray Montgomery said, that it is better than nothing - a poor 
piece of legislation that can be beefed up. That is the point the Opposition is making. It agrees with the 
comments of government members who have served on relevant committees, whether they be the Joint 
Standing Committee on the Commission on Government, whose reports are before this House, or the select 
committee. 

Hon Reg Davies: Cruel but fair! 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: Cruel but fair. The Attorney General, in his speech, said-

The Government has resolved that it would not be appropriate to establish a new commissioner or 
commission when there is already in place an independent body .... There is already an important 
body of knowledge that should not be lost by simply repealing the Official Corruption 
Commission Act and replacing the commission with a new and unconnected commission. 

I warn the Government that we must be careful that this virtue of carryover is not our undoing when we 
note the attitude of the old Official Corruption Commission, particularly in steadfastly opposing many of 
the initiatives that are outlined in this Bill. In arguing vehemently for the model of the old Office of 
National Assessment in checking on what the other investigatory bodies are doing, but having no proactive 
function itself, I noted the very scathing critique of the commissioners that was forwarded to the 
Commission on Government and to the parliamentary committee that was considering the Commission on 
Government, decrying the model that we are heading towards. The Government will have to take care 
about a carryover of ethos because there is no commitment in the current Official Corruption Commission 
to the new model. 

The Attorney General noted clause 9(11) of the Bill as the grandfather clause, which provides that the 
changes of the membership provisions will not apply to those persons who held office as members of the 
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commission on 12 March 1996. In line with my previous comments, it appears we are having some 
movement of personnel and that is entirely appropriate. There is no need for such carryover provisions as 
the Attorney General commends to the House. The Attorney General in his second reading speech states -

It is important that the commission will have as one of its primary functions the assembling of 
evidence for furnishing to the Director of Public Prosecutions to be admissible in the prosecution 
of a person for a criminal offence. 

It is important that the new 900Y should have its own staff in that regard. The second reading speech 
continues -

In its interim report dated February 1996, the Royal Commission into the New South Wales Police 
Service noted that the function of disseminating evidence for criminal prosecutions where 
appropriate is not included in the Independent Commission Against Corruption Act as a "principal 
function" ... That royal commission has recommended a Police Corruption Commission to 
investigate police in New South Wales. 

Indeed, ICAC and a separate distinct commission were recommended to look at the police so that both 
areas could be appropriately addressed, something we have not done. The Attorney General mentioned this 
in his second reading speech, but has chosen not to learn from the wisdom of New South Wales which 
recommended two specific commissions with distinct functions. 

Hon P.R. Lightfoot: We did learn it from the previous Government. That is what we have created. 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: Was that the Greiner Government? 

Hon P.R. Lightfoot: No. We have just given it some teeth. 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: In his second reading speech the Attorney General further states -

The jurisdiction of the commission is to be expanded. It will now be able to investigate 
allegations relating to a greater number of crimes under the Criminal Code as listed in schedule I 
to the Act. 

We will consider in detail later whether there is sufficient scope for the items under the Criminal Code that 
are to be covered. It is all very well to spend our time defming the finer points of improper conduct; 
however, some of the far more serious offences under the Criminal Code are listed as being beyond the 
jurisdiction or scope of the commission being set up. The second reading speech continues -

. . . where conduct is of a quality that involves an offence or a disciplinary breach for which a 
Public Service officer employed under the Public Sector Management Act could be dismissed. 

A "public officer" is defmed to include Ministers of the Crown, Parliamentary Secretaries and members of 
Parliament. The second reading speech continues -

These people will therefore be brought within the jurisdiction of the commission, which will be 
able to investigate any allegations of corruption, crime and serious improper conduct that relates 
to them. 

There certainly needs to be differing codes that are appropriate to some public officers, as opposed to 
others. That needs to be defmed. I notice in the second reading speech a doctrine is advanced that states -

In order to observe the proper separation of powers, the commission will not be able to receive or 
initiate an allegation about the holder of a judicial office unless the allegation relates to corruption 
under section 121 of the Criminal Code. 

I presume the exception applies to the Governor as well as the judiciary. The second reading speech 
announces the doctrine of separation of powers, having nobbled the Executive and the Legislature, but 
leaving out the third separate power, the judiciary. We need to consider why two wings of our polity, the 
Executive and the Legislature, should be covered, but the judiciary and part of the Executive, in the 
Governor - should be left out under some spurious half-theory of separation of powers. 

Hon Peter Foss: Why did you propose it in your Bill? 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: The compulsory reporting requirements -

Hon Peter Foss: Why was it proposed in the McGinty Bill? 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: This House is considering the Government's Bill. 

Ron Peter Foss: Yours was a more extreme determination; it is very convenient for the member to go deaf! 

Ron I.D. MacLean: You should read your own legislation. 

Ron Kim Chance: You have pointed out the error of our ways. 

Ron Mark Nevill: Why should the judiciary not be in there? 

Ron Peter Foss: You should fmd out. It was interesting that you should put it in your Bill. 

The pEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order! We will hear from the Attorney General at a later stage of the second 
reading debate. 
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Hon J.A. COWDELL: The Attorney General commended the legislation to us by saying-

Where the commission refers an allegation about a member of the Police Force or Police 
Department to the Parliamentary Commissioner, he may, notwithstanding provisions of the 
Parliamentary Commissioner Act 1971, proceed to investigate that allegation whether or not the 
Commissioner of Police has had a reasonable opportunity to investigate the matter to which the 
allegation relates. 

That is another example of the Attorney General starting out with the wonderful and impressive record of 
the Government. Here we have but a slight extension of the powers of the Parliamentary Commissioner 
and only at the instigation of the Official Corruption Commission, now the Anti-Corruption Commission -
a glaring fault where we need to revamp not just the commission but the other instruments of government, 
to enhance the capacity of the network referred to by the OCC in all its submissions. Of course, there is no 
sign in the list of magnificent government achievements of the enhancement of the powers and the area of 
coverage of the Parliamentary Commissioner, as is necessary. 

In support of the Bill,c.he Attorney General states -
The commission may report to another Minister or a standing committee instead of to each House 
of Parliament if, for any reason, the commission considers it appropriate to do so. 

Once again, Parliament becomes an optional extra. It says "may" not "shall". Somewhere in the second 
reading speech there is a reference to a parliamentary supervisory committee. Although it has never been 
set up by the OCC, reference is made to it as though it exists. It exists as a phantom in the mind of the 
Attorney General - no members are on it; it does not operate. It is referred to as fact, once again. It is like 
the rest of the record of the Government with no extra powers being given - that is what has been requested 
by the Parliamentary Commissioner for years; with no real achievement; and with phantom committees. 
We are supposed to be placated by this. 

The parliamentary supervisory committee may be a new committee or a standing committee. Pursuant to 
the recommendations of the Commission on Government, it should have a role in the appointment of the 
commissioners. Not only will the committee not have a role there, but it is also an optional extra. It may 
be formed. The second reading speech says that the commissioners may report to it, not shall; that is, it 
may be set up, and it may be reported to. 

Hon Peter Foss: Only a Parliament can set up a committee. 

Hon J .A. COWDELL: That is a wonderful achievement of this piece of legislation! The Attorney General 
wonders why his backbenchers offered a critique of the legislation. The Opposition also has to offer such a 
critique. Towards the end of the second reading speech, in commending this legislation to the House, the 
Attorney General states -

Investigations requiring the use of the powers of a royal commission will be conducted by special 
investigators whom the commission will be able to appoint to investigate and report to the 
commission on an allegation, or allegations or class of allegations, specified in the instrument 
appointing the special investigator or in a written notice from the commission. 

That gives us confidence - all the powers of a royal commission, to be delegated by some bod on some 
terms of reference, at the entire discretion of the commission, and with the Parliament having no say in the 
appointment of the commissioners and the commissioners being five leagues removed from the Parliament! 
At least at the moment when we set up a royal commission we can debate the terms of reference. The 
delegation powers are a wonder! There are about five subclauses under the clause where the 
commissioners can delegate to delegate to delegate. 

Hon P.R. Lightfoot: That is only three. 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: That is a fascinating exercise. 

Hon Reg Davies: It was reluctant to delegate its powers to a select committee. 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: Indeed. 

The Attorney commended the proposed legislation to amend the Listening Devices Act to give the 
commission power to authorise officers of the commission to use listening devices. Of course, we are 
heartened by that; we hope it will qualify under the commonwealth legislation. However, as Hon Derrick 
Tomlinson noted in his speech, that power did not do the Independent Commission Against Corruption any 
good. 

The second reading speech states under the heading "Accountability" that-

This Bill will develop the commission into an independent investigatory body with extensive 
powers. It is therefore fundamental that the commission be accountable to the Parliament. The 
Government has already adopted the recommendation of the 1992 Select Committee on the 
Official Corruption Commission Act to establish a jOint standing committee to monitor the 
performance of the commission. 

The Government has adopted the recommendation of the 1992 select committee, but it has not yet 
appointed anyone. 
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Hon N.D. Griffiths: It has adopted the recommendation. That is the important thing! 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: Yes. It is like the funding disclosure legislation, which is on the books but still has 
not been proclaimed; we are comforted by that fact. but it does not mean anything because it is not 
operational. 

Hon N.D. Griffiths: This is an incompetent government 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: The Attorney concludes with the assurance - and I presume, given the clauses of the 
Bill, he felt the need to include this assurance -

Hon Peter Foss: Not at all. 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: To which part am I referring? 

Hon Peter Foss: I know to what you are referring. 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: He states -

The Government has advice that neither the Official Corruption Commission Act nor the proposed 
amendments to that Act will in any way expressly impinge on the immunities provided by section 
1 of the Parliamentary Privileges Act 1891 and that. therefore, the privilege conferred by that 
section prevails over any provision of the Official Corruption Commission Act as it is proposed to 
be amended. I confirm that the intention of the Government is that the immunities provided by 
section 1 of the Parliamentary Privileges Act will not be affected by this Bill. 

I hope that advice is sound, and I note it is the intention of the Government not to affect parliamentary 
privilege. I note that the seventh report of the Joint Standing Committee on the Commission on 
Government. which is before this House and is somewhere on the Notice Paper, like the phantom 
parliamentary supervisory committee, unanimously endorses recommendation 61 of the Commission on 
Government that -

The Parliamentary Privileges Act 1891 should not be amended to permit any waiver of the 
immunities conferred by Article 9 of the Bill of Rights 1689. 

The report states -

The Committee supported the above recommendation and agreed with the Commission on 
Government's stance as expressed on page 369 of their frrst Report: 

... All of the original fundamental reasons for granting Parliament its privileges still 
pertain in the modem world. By their freedom to say what they feel they must, without 
fear of suit or retribution outside Parliament, its members defend all of our individual 
freedoms. Any diminution or qualification of Parliament's immunities would eventually 
erode the rights and freedoms of every citizen. The freedom is absolute because the need 
for it is absolute. We therefore recommend there be no amendments to the 
Parliamentary Privileges Act 1891 to permit any general or specific waiver of 
parliamentary privileges. 

Hon Peter Foss: Do you understand what waiver is? Obviously not 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: I conclude by commenting that. in the words of the government backbench, we 
welcome this legislation as being better than nothing, but we expected something more. 

RON MARK NEVILL (Mining and Pastoral) [10.36 pm]: I support the Official Corruption Commission 
Amendment Bill on the basis of what two of my respected colleagues on the government side of this House 
have said to me, one outside the House tonight. and the other in debate; namely, that this Bill is better than 
nothing. I suppose that is not very solid ground on which to support a piece of legislation. I agree with the 
comments that have been made by my colleagues about this Bill. They have made some fairly detailed 
speeches, particularly Hon Nick Griffiths, and they have outlined many of the flaws that exist in this 
legislation. 

I will not speak at length about this Bill, but will make some general comments. We had a royal 
commission into government business dealings in this State in the early 1990s which was supposed to 
reveal corruption in government in this State. That royal commission cost some $4Om, and some expenses 
will still be incurred as a result of retaining the legal counsel who worked on that royal commission. It had 
unprecedented powers. That royal commission did not fmd any corruption in politics in this State, and I do 
not think it made any fmdings of illegality. It made a few findings of improper conduct, but that has no 
meaning in law because it has not been defined, so it cannot result in a charge. 

Hon I.D. MacLean intetjected. 

Hon MARK NEVILL: The public has a very strange view about the level of corruption in politics. 

Hon LD. MacLean intetjected. 

Hon MARK NEVILL: I have been in politics for 14 years and I have never been offered a bribe. 

Hon LD. MacLean intetjected. 

Hon MARK NEVILL: If Hon lain MacLean kept his trap shut and listened, he might learn something. 
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The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (Hon W.N. Stretch): Order! I remind Hon lain MacLean to cease those 
undertones of intetjections. 

Hon MARK NEVILL: He has been going for about three minutes. 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: I am aware of that. 

Hon MARK NEVILL: If he has something to say he should say it 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order! I think the member has the message. 

Hon MARK NEVILL: The public thinks all politicians are corrupt Unfortunately, we seem to reinforce 
that view by our comments about each other in this Chamber, be they snide intetjections or just direct 
allegations of one member being less corrupt than another. We spent $4Om, yet the Royal Commission 
into Commercial Activities of Government and Other Matters, with three commissioners and a battery of 
Queen's Counsel, did not find any corruption in this State. 

As I said, rumours circulate among the public about corruption. I was talking to a person in Fremantle the 
other day when I was trying to register my car. He asked me what was my occupation and I said that I was 
a member of Parliament The topic of corruption came into the conversation. We discussed a few things 
and he had the view that my colleague, Julian Grill, was corrupt I asked what was the basis for that view. 
He said, "Just talk." He related a story that I had not heard about Julian Grill bumping off a person in 
Kalgoorlie over a mining lease. I have heard lots of rumours and innuendos but never that one! 

Hon Reg Davies: It is a wonder it was not Shirley Finn. Someone has always bumped her off. 

Hon MARK NEVILL: If it is a member of Parliament it is a new version. Stories about corrupt politicians 
float around the commnnity all the time. The simple fact is that there is not much truth to them, but we 
seem to convince ourselves that there is. I know it is not actually corruption, but a rumour went around in 
the late 19808 that Brian Burke was having an affair with his secretary Brenda Brush. His wife is a fIrst 
cousin of mine, someone whom I hold very dearly. That rumour was traced back to having been started by 
a group within the Police Force. Although that is not a rumour of corruption as such, those stories take on 
a life of their own. It is about time we started disabusing people of the view that politicians are corrupt. I 
do not believe it is true. 

One of the main victims of this innuendo is my colleague Hon Julian Grill. He has been investigated 
continually for six years. His offlce has been raided on three or four occasions when investigators spent 
seven or eight hours looking for various documents. His home has been raided in the early hours of the 
morning, always when he was not there. As a typical lawyer, Julian Grill has kept almost every piece of' 
paper he has received since 1970. He has rooms full of it in his offlce in Kalgoorlie. If he were up to 
funny business he would destroy every document he had that was not needed for the tax department. It is 
all available; there has never been a suggestion of destroying or hiding documents. Every time the police 
seek information from him he must pay his accountants to update his books and his lawyers to clarify the 
details. That has cost him hundreds of thousands of dollars over six years. I wonder where it will all end. 

There was no basis for the last charge he faced in court The prosecutor fInally decided to drop the charge 
on the basis of new evidence. However, the police had that evidence four years earlier. I think there is a 
good case for malicious prosecution or incompetency or whatever police can be charged with. I do not 
know what can be done in that regard. Members can imagine the effect of that scrutiny on someone's 
family. The police have approached Julian Grill's clients from the early 19708, long before he became a 
member of Parliament They asked one woman whether she was happy with the way he handled her 
father's estate. She said he did a wonderful job. They asked her about it a couple more times. She could 
not understand what was going on. She was ordered not to reveal the conversation to Julian Grill. I think 
she told his wife after about the third visit by the police. That is the extent to which they have trawled 
through his affairs. They went through his mother's and father's fInancial affairs for the preceding 10 
years. 

Hon N.D. Grifflths: Does he know from what part of the Police Service they came, and what outside 
agencies, if any, they were responsible to or were reporting to? 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Orderl 

Hon MARK NEVILL: I think in recent years it was the task force attached to the Royal Commission into 
Commercial Activities of Government and Other Matters. They were under the control of the Offlcial 
Corruption Commission, initially part of the royal commission investigation task force and then under the 
aegis of the Director of Public Prosecutions. They were jointly controlled by the DPP and the Offlcial 
Corruption Commission. 

In answer to a question in the Estimates Committee in another place we found that the Director of Public 
Prosecutions had had nothing to do with that unit for about 12 months. I am not sure who is driving that 
investigation. However, after that charge was dismissed the police were at it again; they are still 
investigating him. I got a phone call early one morning from a rather distressed daughter of Julian Grill 
saying that the police were at his house going through her father's belongings and she asked if I could go 
over there. I drove to his place in Perth and found the police sitting at Julian's desk with all the legal 
correspondence between Julian Grill and his lawyer for his defence. They were going to take it away. 
When I said that they could not take it away as it was covered by legal professional privilege, they said, 



[Tuesday, 9 July 1996] 3859 

"We will return it if it is." Members know what they would have done with it; they would have 
photocopied it. 
Hon P.R. Lightfoot: This is very interesting, but it has nothing to do with the Bill. 

Hon MARK NEVILL: It has much to do with this Bill. We are setting up a body that will continue that 
sort of work. We must ensure there are protections for people in this legislation. It is very relevant 
Hon P.R. Lightfoot: It is a long bow. 
The DEPUTY PRESIDENr: Order! 
Hon MARK NEVILL: It turned out the police were looking for one cheque in that raid. I examined the 
warrant signed by the resident justice of the peace at the Criminal Investigation Bureau, who must sign 
dozens of them a day, and it was cast in wide terms to gather any documents relating to Mr Grill's fmancial 
affairs. They were looking for one cheque of 1994. Had they asked him for a copy of that cheque he 
would have given it to them. They probably already had a copy. It was an excuse for them to have another 
trawl through his affairs to find something - a fishing expedition. That has been taking place for six years. 
It has cost Julian Grill hundreds of thousands of dollars and must have cost the police millions of dollars. 
Where are the protections for people in situations such as that? 
Hon Peter Foss: It is the most difficult point in the whole Bill. 

Hon MARK NEVILL: It is. It is a question of getting a balance between the powers to inspect and the 
rights of individuals. 
Hon Peter Foss: Absolutely. 

Hon MARK NEVILL: That is why I believe some kind of operational review committee must be 
established. I do not know what the proposed joint standing committee will do. Whatever happens the 
body must have an operational review committee with people based in Parliament. 
I will leave aside Hon Julian Grill's affairs because I want to move to other areas. However, it is important 
that members understand the trauma that situation causes someone's wife, children and extended family. 
One can imagine the trauma caused when a person's friends have been interviewed, and everyone who has 
ever donated money to the person's campaign has been interviewed and intimidated from donating ever 
again because they do not want another visit and demands for a statement by the police regarding what the 
donation was for - and the rest of the procedure that the police go through. 
I am not aware of any corruption involving members of Parliament or the judiciary. However, I have in 
my possession a blank warrant signed by a magistrate. It is certainly illegal, and it may have been done 
with the best of intentions, but I do not know whether it is corrupt. 
Hon Peter Foss: It is certainly improper behaviour and it is capable of lending itself to corruption. I think 
the public has a different view about corruption than that applied there. 
Hon MARK NEVILL: The crucial area for the Anti-Corruption Commission is the police. We cannot 
have corruption in the judiciary or politics without the connivance or support of the police. I have no doubt 
about that. I do not think that politicians and the judiciary are important, although they should be open to 
scrutiny. 

Hon Peter Foss: If there is corruption at the top of goverument, it is hard for police to resist. If there is a 
corrupt Minister for Police or Premier, it is serious. 

Hon MARK NEVILL: If the Minister for Police is corrupt, he is extremely vulnerable. However, if we 
have a corrupt Commissioner of Police, because of the hierarchical nature of the Police Force it is much 
more difficult to root out. Ministers change more rapidly -

Hon Peter Foss: If we have a corrupt Premier, it is endemic corruption. 
Hon MARK NEVILL: Most of what we call police corruption is really an abuse of power. 

Hon Peter Foss: All the cases today have been an abuse of power. 
Hon MARK NEVILL: Exactly. The Eucla case was possibly an abuse of power, in the first instance. It is 
not what I would call serious, but it is something that should be handled by the Police Force. 
Hon Peter Foss: They are the ones we know about. 

Hon MARK NEVILL: The other abuse was the way the internal investigation was undertaken. I do not 
know if I would call that corruption. 

Hon Peter Foss: The other corruption of taking money is harder for the ordinary person to discover. 

Hon MARK NEVILL: I have been a member of Parliament for 14 years and no-one has ever suggested a 
bribe tome. 

Hon Peter Foss: I am talking about the police. 

Hon MARK NEVILL: That is always a danger with the police. We all know that they receive free meals, 
and so on. I suppose that is the start of bigger things, and that is the sort of thing that must be rooted out. 
My point is that much of what we see in the Police Force is the abuse of power and not what I would call 
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corruption. I believe corruption exists in the Police Force, and that corruption is at the top. I have asked 
questions in this place but that matter is not being addressed in a full-frontal manner. They are trying to 
sweep it under the carpet because they are worried about public confidence in the Police Force. We must 
tackle that situation head on -

Hon EJ. Charlton: We have never had a mechanism to tackle it. 
Hon MARK NEVILL: That is correct During the 1980s we wanted to have a separate body to scrutinise 
the police. The best we could get through this House was a division of the Ombudsman's role. Debates at 
that time indicate a lot of resistance to that by the conservative side of politics. 

Hon EJ. Charlton: I remember Ministers defending the police with much vigour. 

Hon MARK NEVILL: The Minister is correct. Every Minister for Police in this State going back to the 
year dot has defended the integrity of internal investigations. Our policy was to have an external review of 
police but it would never have passed through this House in the 1980s. 

Hon Peter Foss: You would have succeeded in the 1990s. 

Hon Reg Davies: I tried very hard to form a select committee and I had to rely on the then Opposition for 
support. 
The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order! Debate is about to conclude. We will hear the Attorney General sum 
up shortly. 
Hon MARK NEVILL: My point is that there has been resistance from whoever was in government to have 
a crack at the Police Force. Frankly, I thought that Police Commissioner Brian Bull had cleaned up the 
Police Force. That is how naive I wasl It was not until I began to look at police matters three or four years 
ago that I received an avalanche of files -

Hon Peter Foss: His indolence was appalling. 

Hon MARK NEVILL: I do not know the man, so I will not comment 

We have had a few showcases in this State. The Waghorn and Christmass case was disgraceful, as was the 
Eucla case. I can only judge from my personal observations, and I think those cases and probably some 
others were show trials by people at the top of the Police Force to make it appear that they were rooting out 
corruption, when they knew about matters much closer to home in the higher ranks. They made an 
example of people in the lower ranks. 

Hon Peter Foss: The Delta program has removed a large number of senior officers. I am not saying they 
were corrupt, but it is an important starting point to change the culture of the Police Force. 

Hon MARK NEVILL: I start from the presumption of innocence. However, when serious questions are 
asked about the behaviour of a police officer in the Criminal Investigation Bureau who receives all 
incoming, sensitive information and has access to all telephone tapping transcripts and records; and when 
there is a cloud over that officer's head, and the Commissioner of Police and the Minister will not answer 
questions about that person, it shakes my faith in the Police Force. 

Hon Peter Foss: I will try to follow up that one. 

Hon MARK NEVILL: I will not have confidence in the Police Force until I receive some answers on that 
matter. 
Hon Peter Foss: I will take up the matter. 

Hon MARK NEVILL: I hope the Attorney General does. I do not know whether it is an Indian saying, but 
someone said that the truth is like a stench; the more it is covered up, the more it seeps through. Eventually 
we will know what happened in the Brennan case, and there will be some very embarrassed people. I have 
already mentioned that the power to compel witnesses must be balanced by some mechanism of the 
operational review committee. I am not sure how that will fit with the joint standing committee but we 
must have some oversight of the powers that this body will receive. The other issue that worries me about 
not having a separate division lOOking after police is that this body will have some sort of Chinese walls 
where police officers who will be looking at the public servants -

Hon N.D. Griffiths: They are non-police public officers. 
Hon MARK NEVILL: They will come under the same body as the people looking at the police. 

Hon ND. Griffiths: Chinese walls are a con. It is an expression used by people who have conflicts of 
interest and who want to disguise them. 

Hon MARK NEVILL: 1 am very pleased to hear a lawyer say that Chinese walls are a con because the law 
is the area in which ~Y are used most often. 
Hon N.D. Griffiths: There is a lack of honesty on the part of people who use that to justify their conduct 

Hon MARK NEVILL: This commission will need some very thick Chinese walls. Other cases are 
unresolved. One snch case involves the Mickelbergs, and I do not think there is much doubt in the minds 
of members of Parliament that the Mickelberg brothers were victims of police officers tampering with 
evidence. The electrostatic deposition analysis has been around for two years. 
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Hon Reg Davies interjected. 

Hon MARK NEVILL: It shows that three pages were altered; they were written after page 15. A couple of 
earlier pages were rewritten and Lewandowski testified in court about the original handwriting, and he was 
specifically asked that question. That is clear perjury. That matter still needs to be resolved. 

The case of Frank Newman from Donnybrook, who invented the shearing handpiece, has been going on for 
years. I found out recently that the police who did the investigation for the Official Corruption 
Commission never investigated the two main witnesses in that case - they are waiting for them to die. It is 
absolutely amazing. Wbether the man has a case to answer is one issue, but when the police do not take 
statements from the two main witnesses corroborating his whole story and the OCC is supervising the 
investigation, I wonder. I was going to make some comments about the Eucla case, but that can wait. I 
have grave misgivings about this Bill, but as some of my colleagues on the other side have said, it is better 
than nothing. I support the second reading. 

HON PETER FOSS (East Metropolitan - Attorney General) [11.03 pm]: I thank all members who have 
contributed to this debate. This is one of those Bills that when courts go back to read the second reading 
debate they will fmd matters of substance and usefulness in understanding not only the interpretation of the 
B ill, but also the mischief behind the Bill and the matters that went through Parliament's mind when trying 
to decide what to do with the legislation. In particular, I thank Hon Nick Griffiths, Hon John Halden and 
Hon Mark Nevill. The way in which they picked out some of the salient points very well dictates the sort 
of problems that this Parliament faces. 

It bas been interesting to hear some of the remarks that have been made. Hon Mark Nevill made the point 
that this body has the capacity to be used as an instrument of persecution. Unfortunately, that is one of the 
problems with any conferral of power - it is a form of corruption in itself. There is no simple answer to this 
issue. I hesitate to use the old quote "Who will guard the guardians themselves", not because I do not 
believe it is a good quote but because of its Greek context, which relates to looking after wives. However, 
it is often used in the other context of guardians of a particular nation. When one puts a person in a 
position of power, what does one then do to ensure that that person does not abuse that power? 

One of the things we have most commonly done in our system to check on people who have power - for 
instance, the Executive and Parliament - is to set up people who are independent of accountability. It is 
one of the strange things about our system: We make the Auditor General, the Ombudsman, the 
Information Commissioner and people such as that reasonably free of accountability. 

Hon AJ.G. MacTiernan: It is freedom from the Executive. 

Hon PETER FOSS: I agree. It is not a form of accountability that would be acceptable for Parliament. 
One quite rightly would not accept from the Executive an annual report containing only those matters that 
the Ombudsman or the Executive chose to put in it. I am not saying that it is wrong; I am saying that one 
of the strange vagaries of our process is that by freeing people from the supervision or the responsibility of 
a Minister one is putting them in an accountability structure that would not be acceptable as far as the 
Executive is concerned. I am simply saying that that is one of the contradictions in our system. 

Hon N.D. Griffiths: We should change that to make those officers accountable to Parliament in a proper 
way. 

Hon PETER FOSS: There is a form of accountability that is less than the accountability we -

Several members interjected. 

Hon PETER FOSS: I am not saying it is wrong. It is one of the strange quirks of our method of giving -

Hon A.J.G. MacTiernan interjected. 

Hon PETER FOSS: It is the same with judges - we give them an independence and there are pluses and 
minuses. It is one of the strange things we have to do in order to provide judicial independence. We often 
have complaints about judges that we are unable to do anything about because until the person reaches the 
stage where they are not of good behaviour Parliament does not have the capacity to act. I support that, but 
it is one of the contradictions inherent in any form of independence. 

It is a similar case with the Anti-Corruption Commission: We must give it independence from the 
Executive and the political process. We must set it up in such a way that it is not able to be used as an 
instrument of government or even as a political plaything by Parliament We have a process of nomination 
that is not even in the hands of the Executive, and that is fairly unusual. We have two members of the 
judiciary - Chief Judge and the Chief Justice - and the Solicitor General, who bas under his Act the 
independence of a judge, nominating the people who are appointed to the commission. That is an unusual 
process. We can say that we did not appoint the commissioners - they are appointed by the Governor on 
the recommendation of these people. 

Hon N.D. Griffiths: They are all executive appointments. 

Hon PETER FOSS: Yes, that is right, but we cannot pick this person or that person; we have no choice 
about the person. 

Hon Reg Davies: Can we veto? 
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Hon PETER FOSS: Arguably we could. Ultimately the Governor must act on the recommendation of the 
Executive Council. So we could probably veto them, but we cannot pick someone nor can we have the 
capacity for them to continue within our control. 

Hon N.D. Griffiths: We can veto by not recommending them to the Governor. 

Hon PETER FOSS: Yes, but that is an academic point. The fact is that we have given them independence 
from the Executive, which is intended to take them to a more rarefied atmosphere and to ensure that they 
behave in a way that is different from the hurly-burly of politics. That is the theory with judges: Once they 
are appointed they stay until retirement at the age of 70 years because it is felt that by giving them that 
independence they will not be beholden to anyone and, therefore, they will act in a responsible manner. 
That has been a political theory for some time, and in general it has worked, but it can occasionally go 
wrong. 

Hon Mark Nevill has picked up the point: What if these considerable powers are not exercised properly? 
There is no doubt that they are considerable powers. One thing members cannot say about the amendments 
proposed is that they do not confer enough power - they very definitely do. 

Hon Reg Davies: They have a good set of dentures. 

Hon PETER FOSS: Like a shark, it has grown a second and third set of teeth. 

Hon Mark Nevill asked what happens if the commission does not exercise its powers properly. That is a 
very good question. The problem in our society is that we must have something of this nature. If we do 
not have those people, where are we? Where are we if we do not have government? We have to trust 
people with the powers of government. We always run the risk that the people involved will misuse those 
powers. 

Hon N.D. Griffiths: We can see it now. 

Hon PETER FOSS: I will disregard that. I am purposely trying not to get into controversial areas. We 
have a good chance of having a good debate. We must keep it that way if we can possibly do so. 
Hon Mark Nevill set the tone quite correctly. 

We then have the problem that unless we trust somebody somewhere along the line we will need to have 
another body behind the Anti-Corruption Commission to supervise it. lnterestingly enough, one of the 
theories behind this legislation is almost that Concern was expressed about how we give those powers and 
have some sort of control and where it goes wrong. Members might recall that when we frrst made our 
announcement with regard to conferring the powers of a royal commission, complaints were made, 
particularly by the Law Society of Western Australia, about standing royal commissions - the fact that we 
do not have terms of reference and all the other concerns. In the course of developing this legislation we 
were very mindful of this problem and the suggestion was made that the power should be exercised by a 
special investigator with legal qualifications and supervised by the ACC. A distance has been quite 
purposely put into the legislation that special investigators should be people who get in there with 
missionary fervour. That is where these things start off. 

Hon Mark Nevill: McCusker made a better job as a special investigator of Rothwells than did the royal 
commission. 

Hon PETER FOSS: That may be exactly the point. He was responsible to a Minister. The examples given 
by Hon Nick Griffiths, Hon Mark Nevill and Hon Alannah MacTieman deal specifically with the problem 
of the abuse of power. Generally speaking it starts off with zealotry. It does not start off because people 
want to be corrupt or be bad pennies; they have the best of motives in mind. 

Hon AJ.G. MacTieman: That is not always true. 

Hon PETER FOSS: I can accept as a generalisation that there will be exceptions. I said that I would give 
members an interesting story on this point. When I was at law school the then commissioner or chief 
constable of the metropolitan police came to speak to us. To the horror of all the law students he gave an 
example of a murder case that had been solved by an examination by police which took place over a period 
of over 24 hoUrs. He was quite pleased with the fact that they had solved this murder by extracting a 
confession from the person accused after having examined him for well over 24 hours. At the end of his 
speech there were questions. A hand went up, I think it was mine, and he was asked, "How do you justify 
getting a confession when you have examined a person for over 24 hours? Surely wouldn't anybody after 
that period of time confess just to bring the thing to an end?" This person, who was an extremely eminent 
police officer, replied, .. Ah, yes, but we only do that when we mow they are gUilty." A shudder went 
through the entire audience because - I think Hon Alannah MacTiernan made the point - there is some 
external capacity in police to know when people are gUilty which then justifies the abuse of power. 

Hon Mark Nevill: Verdict now, trial later. 

Hon PETER FOSS: They mow they are gUilty and it does not require evidence. They get the evidence 
afterwards. The member is quite right. 

Hon Mark Nevill: They knew they were guilty when they fitted them up. 

Hon PETER FOSS: He did not say that they had fitted him up but that they genuinely got a confession -
but after about 28 hours of continuous examination. 
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Hon AJ.G. MacTiernan: They got a confession out of Jeanie Angel in much the same way. 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: I am not disagreeing; I am saying that there is a problem often driven by mistaken 
zeal. That is the reason the suggestion was made that the commission itself should not be getting down 
into conducting special investigations. It should not be the one in there with the zeal but should take the 
lead by seeking to supervise the investigation and to take a slightly more judicial - perhaps that is the 
word - approach to it As a result we have set up the process whereby although the commission will make 
decisions on reports and so forth, it will do so on the basis of evidence brought to it by a special 
investigator. 

Another obligation imposed on it by the legislation is that it must act according to the rules of natural 
justice and make decisions quite judicially. I hope the way in which commission members will be 
appointed and the independence they will have will provide some means of distancing them from the 
necessary zeal that others should have. I agree that zeal is necessary to root out corruption. Probably more 
than anything else the commission will need zeal and persistence but it must also have the ability to look at 
what has been done without becOming totally absorbed in the pursuit 

The other advantage - this deals with another point raised - will be its capacity to deal with a large number 
of investigations. One cannot guarantee that the need for investigations will keep in line with the number 
of commissioners and flow in regularly. The advantage of special investigators is that one can have people 
doing steady work but also add investigators with the powers of royal commissioners as the need arises. 

Hon A.J.G. MacTiernan: What sort of work will they do in the meantime? 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: They might very well be people like Mr McCusker. 

Hon Reg Davies: Who appoints the special investigators? 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: The Anti-Corruption Commission does. There will be nothing to stop it bringing in a 
barrister from Western Australia or elsewhere to conduct the inquiry. 

Hon AJ.G. MacTiernan: You know from your experience of the Building Disputes Committee of the 
problems of bringing in part time barristers. 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: Who is suggesting part time barristers? One would bring them in as full time 
investigators in the same way one would establish a royal commission, which has a commissioner and 
counsel assisting. People would be taken not on a part time basis but on a full time basis. That is the 
whole idea. It is defmitely intended that an investigator when appointed will carry out an investigation full 
time. The alternative is that the commission must exercise those powers. Even if a special investigator 
covers only police or officials, what is to say that there will not be too many investigations of that type 
turning up? This legislation gives the capacity to have a number of investigations running at the same 
time. We certainly would have some investigators who were not simply full time on a particular case but, 
having fmished one case, would move on to the next one. 

The Government has said that it will provide the necessary resources. It has said that $1m is available for 
that sort of work. If more is required, more will be given. For the time being $1m will go in. The 
commission keeps its money. It is not told, "If at 30 June you have not spent it, it must go back." It as a 
fund into which the money goes, and the commission keeps the money. 

Hon Reg Davies: The commission accumulates it 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: Yes. At this stage we will put in $lm year for that sort of investigation. If the 
commission needs more, we can put in more. In any event, the ACC will have the $lm and money will 
accumulate. 

Hon Reg Davies: Is that in the budget now? 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: Yes. Although it was not an idea that we came up with originally, that method of 
conferring the power of a royal commission was developed. It was to meet another requirement One of 
the big concerns we had was to give the commission the powers of a royal commission. One of the 
important aspects of the abuse of that is that we really must say to people what sort of investigations they 
can carry out If we have a public investigation, we must have public terms of reference. The idea of a 
public hearing with public terms of reference is that anybody who has an interest has the capacity to 
appear, to ask to be heard and to speak. The point is that it is not only the person being investigated who 
may end up maligned or who has an interest, but also a person whom we may not know may have an 
interest in the matter and may not know a hearing is taking place. It is a two stage investigation. The 
Government considered the issues involved in using royal commission powers. It is important that people 
who are called before the special investigator know at that stage the general nature of the investigation. If 
they were called and told that they must answer some questions, but were not told what the investigation 
was about, that would be improper. 

The question of public hearings gave the Government some concern. It was a considerable worry that that 
power should be exercised by a bureaucratic body. Generally speaking, royal commission power is as the 
name suggests - a direct emanation of the Executive rather than of the bureaucratic body. If the public 
hearing of evidence is important, the way to achieve that is for the Government to state publicly that a royal 
commission should be established and to provide the terms of reference, and the Government should take 
the political responsibility for ordering it. We are now dealing with matters of constitutional law and 
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responsibility. The suggestion was made that it would be improper to enable public hearings to take place 
without terms of reference, and the responsibility must be taken by the Executive for the use of that 
executive power. I admit that from a practical point of view, if the Anti-Corruption Commission said there 
should be a royal commission, it would be a pretty extraordinary Government that could resist that 
However, at least it could look at the telTIlS of reference. It would have the capacity to add its own 
response to it Government has a responsibility to look at the telTIlS of reference of royal commissions. It 
has the capacity to persuade the public that the telTIlS of reference should be varied or slightly broader. 
Whatever it is, it will come under enOlTIlOUS pressure and it must act. 

Hon Reg Davies: It also bas the capacity to restrict the telTIlS of reference for political purposes. 

Hon PETER FOSS: It could. 

Hon EJ. Charlton: And it should. 

Hon PETER FOSS: If it can sell that to the public, it will be successful; if not, it has a problem. However, 
it brings in political accountability. Somewhere along the line there must be political accountability for 
some of the things that occur. The theory behind it is that these matters cannot be entrusted just to the 
police or the Official Corruption Commission. The buck must stop somewhere, and the appropriate place 
is Cabinet. That theory was arrived at after many more hours of debate than has taken place in this 
Chamber on this Bill. It was not a simple and obvious solution, but it appeared to have the balance. The 
Government must do something; it cannot totally abrogate citizens' rights. Somewhere we must strike a 
balance. It is not easy to do that The difficulty of that is illustrated by the different models around the 
world and the various views that have been put forward by people. 

Comparisons were made in this place today between the Commission on Government, the Select 
Committee on the Western Australian Police Service, the Fitzgerald inquiry, and the Independent 
Commission Against Corruption in New South Wales and what the Wood royal commission says about 
that. Members will not find a consistent thread throughout them. There are many theories. One point that 
arises is that it depends a lot on who is appointed. The character of the person who is appointed is probably 
more important than many other factors. Obviously, if the body is not given any power, it cannot be 
expected to be spectacular. If it is not allowed to tell anybody what it is doing, we cannot expect to be 
impressed by what it does. That has been the big problem with the OCC: It has had no power and no 
ability to tell anybody what it has done. People with whom the OCC can communicate will generally say 
that they believe it bas been effective. However, we cannot ask them how or what the commission has 
done and why. Admittedly, that is Parliament's fault, but the OCC has worn that. It bas worn also the fact 
that it has been a postbox. We cannot criticise the commission for being a postbox; Parliament created it 
that way. What the legislation created was imperfect. 

Hon Reg Davies: I hope we have learnt from that. 

Hon PETER FOSS: I think we have. The Government has been accused alternately of being too speedy 
and too dilatory. On 6 December 1995 the COG report was tabled. On 12 March the Government 
announced its response to that. Three months might seem a long time to some people; however, I do not 
think this is an unusual Government for taking three months to arrive at a response, especially considering 
that that included December. The Government did not do much planning between 6 December and the end 
of the year. Members may recall that we were all in this place. January was the time for a certain amount 
of rest and recreation. That left February and up to 12 March. In the process of government - working out 
matters and having them agreed to, put through Cabinet and announced - that was a fairly speedy response 
to the Commission on Government report. It really took about six weeks. 

Hon Reg Davies: I think COG took less time to come up with its recommendations. 

Hon PETER FOSS: Yes. However, the big difference between COG and the Government is that the 
Government must wear it in the end. As every member of this House knows, there is nothing easier than 
being an armchair politician. How many times have people told members what they should be doing in 
Parliament? It is so simple, because in the end the difference is that we wear it and they do not. 

Hon Reg Davies: They were speedy. 

Hon Mark Nevill: The Commission on Government lacks political input. It has deliberately excluded it. 

Hon PETER FOSS: We must discuss that some time. Unfortunately, the one thing it lacks is someone 
who has been through the experience of this place. As I said, it is rather like someone trying to write a 
book on how to drive a Ferrari when he has never sat in one. I am sure we all have good ideas from seeing 
it done on television; however, that is not enough. 

Having made its announcement on 12 March, the Government had to draw up the legislation, have it 
agreed to by all the people to whom it had to be circulated, go back over the arguments that have been put 
forward in this place - these arguments are not simple - get it into the party room and give notice in the 
Parliament. The Government gave notice in the Parliament exactly three months after it told the public it 
would introduce the Bill. The legislation it introduced is exactly the legislation it announced on 12 March. 
It was unfortunate that the Premier had a Council of Australian Governments' meeting in the Eastern 
States. Even though he gave notice of the Bill that week, he was not able to do anything about it until the 
following week. Many statements have been made about its unfortunate timing. The introduction of the 
Bill would have been a week earlier if not for that meeting, and it would have been earlier than that if it 
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could have been done faster. I believe that three months from 6 December to 12 March when the 
announcement was made, and three months exactly from 12 March to 12 June when notice was given, was 
a speedy response. 
Hon J.A. Scott Isn't it under your portfolio? 

Hon PETER FOSS: No, I am handling the Bill today because I had some involvement with it; however, it 
is the Premier's Bill and most of the work was done through the Premier's office. A suggestion was made 
that a deficiency in this Bill is that the police and the Public Service are not separated. Hon Alannah 
MacTiernan said that she quoted from the Wood royal commission, a report which had been out for a 
while. She said that she beca:ine aware of the Wood commission recommendation to separate the two areas 
as a result of the police select committee report. Interestingly, the Wood royal commission report did not 
recommend that the police corruption commission be separate from inquiries into the Public Service. 

Hon Reg Davies: The select committee report condemns the OCC. It is almost saying that it should be 
disbanded and an independent commission be established. 
Hon PElER FOSS: Rather than interpreting what has been said, I will quote -

Hon Reg Davies: I will tell you what the committee said. 

Hon PElER FOSS: I do not know what the committee intended, but I do know what the report said. 

Hon A.J.G. MacTiernan: Read it in context. 

Hon PETER FOSS: The recommendation was that an "anticorruption body external to the Police Service 
be established". That is the essential aspect which I accept. Interestingly, the Commissioner of Police has 
been most vigorous in supporting the view that if we are to have an anticorruption body to supervise the 
police, it must be external to the Police Service. The recommendation continues -

The external body will be referred to as the police anticorruption commission for the purposes of 
this report 

It then outlines its tasks. The report does not state that it must be totally separate. 

Several members intetjected. 
Hon PElER FOSS: Members opposite have been claiming this, but the report does not state that view. 

Hon N.D. Griffiths: It is a police anticorruption commission, not a public sector anticorruption 
commission. 

Hon Reg Davies: Ask Derrick. 
Hon PElER FOSS: Hon Derrick Tomlinson said that he supports the Bill. I am only reading the report 
The extraordinary limitation I placed on myself was to read only what the report states. Some members 
opposite have not bothered to do that. 

Hon John Halden: The committee surely knows, not you. 

Hon PElER FOSS: I know what the committee members have written. 

Several members intetjected. 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (Hon Barry House): Order! The . Attorney General should direct his 
comments through the Chair, in which case other members need not intetject. 

Hon PElER FOSS: I can see the embarrassment of members opposite. They have claimed that it must not 
be connected with another body which looks at general corruption; however, the discussions and 
recommendations do not say that. The report states as a theory that the investigation should be separate 
from the police. The Wood royal commission report does not discuss the body being separate from ICAC. 
Members heard Hon Derrick Tomlinson and Hon Murray Montgomery on this point: Neither of them 
stated in essence that they should be separate. 

Hon Reg Davies: What about Hon Nick Griffiths and Hon Reg Davies? We said the opposite. 

Hon PElER FOSS: I have heard what the members said. If that was the view, I am surprised that they did 
not ask the committee to put it in the recommendations. 

Hon Reg Davies: In condemning the OCC and recommending this other body, we thought you would 
understand that we did not want it to be associated with the OCC. The report recommended abandoning 
theOCC. 
Hon PETER FOSS: If members of the committee thought that it should not investigate other forms of 
corrupt conduct, it would have said so. I may be wrong, but I thought that that was the case. 

Hon AJ.G. MacTieman: I refer you to the appendix. The select committee went to the trouble of pointing 
out that the Wood report made a recommendation that the police corruption commission be separate from 
ICAC. 

Hon PETER FOSS: If the committee wanted to make that recommendation, all the more reason for it to do 
so. 
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Hon John Halden: This is the argument of black is white. 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: My point is made. 

Hon AJ.G. MacTiernan: Read xxm, Attorney. 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order! Some of those points should be made in Committee. 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: I can read the recommendations; I read them to the House. Certain members opposite 
do not like to hear them as they do not suit their preconceived ideas. It is interesting that members opposite 
claim that the Government disregarded the Commission on Government report, which recommended that 
the two aspects be held together. We were told that the Government should listen to the Royal 
Commission into Commercial Activities of Government and Other Matters and the Commission on 
Government. The legislation was prepared on the basis of COG, which recommended that the two aspects 
be together. Page 102 of the COG report No 2, part 1, reads -

The arguments for a properly empowered and resourced independent body are strong. We have 
examined the information available on independent police complaints authorities and have 
decided that this is not an appropriate model for Western Australia. 

I emphasise that point. It continues -

In our view, it is important to reinforce the notion that the Police Service, whilst being a special 
case, is part of the public sector, and should be seen as such by members of the public and of the 
Police Service. 

That is interesting, is it not? 

Hon A.J.G. MacTiernan: It is interesting, but not as well informed as Commissioner Wood. 

Hon P.R Lightfoot: It is better informed than you, with respect 

Several members intetjected. 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: It covers an important point: If we take that point of view, one must ask why 
Mr McGinty, presumably with the support of Caucus and the Labor Party, introduced the Commissioner 
for the Investigation of Corrupt or Improper Conduct Bill well after the Wood royal commission report was 
released. 

Hon AJ.G. MacTiernan: I explained that to you. 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: The member's explanation was that she found it in the police select committee report, 
but it is not in there. 

Hon A.J.G. MacTiernan: I read it out to you. 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: The OppoSition had a change of mind. 

Hon A.J.G. MacTiernan: After we read the report - that's what it was for. 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: When I asked the honourable member for the logic and asked her to refer me to the 
appropriate part of the police committee report, she referred me to the Wood commission report. 

Hon John Halden: No, she did not. 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: Yes, she did. The Wood commission report has been available all along. Even in her 
intetjections, she quoted that report. However, despite that report, Mr McGinty and the Labor Party 
introduced a Bill which did not support that view. It did not even allow the special investigators to have 
the capacities encompassed in the Government's Bill. 

Several members intetjected. 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order! Let us bring debate back within the standard of rules; that is, no 
intetjections. 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: I do not suggest that members opposite should be embarrassed about it. 

Hon AJ.G. MacTiernan: I am not embarrassed at all. 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: It is healthy to change one's mind on occasions. 

Hon AJ.G. MacTiernan: You should try it some time. 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: In this kind of legislation, nothing is more consistent than the inconsistency of 
approach in various jurisdictions. There is nothing more consistent than the inconsistent way those bodies 
have operated. It is clear that there is no simple solution. Each is dependent upon the individual 
circumstances of the case. Suddenly today the Opposition has embraced the suggestion that a body to 
investigate police corruption should be separate from the Anti-Corruption Commission. Earlier this year 
the Leader of the Opposition, Mr McGinty, had a different point of view. I do not criticise anybody for 
changing his mind and opposition members should not be embarrassed about changing their minds. They 
do not need to say they have read the Wood royal commission report -

. Hon AJ.G. MacTiernan: We read the report and realised how rife corruption is. 
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Hon PE1ER FOSS: Members opposite should not be embarrassed about having to refer to the Wood royal 
commission report because they cannot find the words they are looking for in the interim report of the 
Select Committee on the Western Australian Police Service. I am not being critical of opposition 
members; their present view shows a healthy change of mind. However, before opposition members 
become wedded to any particular solution, I suggest that in the same way they changed their minds from 
having one body to having two bodies, they could change their minds on the basis that what they are 
arguing about is not a matter of substance, but a matter of form. 

Hon A.J.G. MacTiernan: It is. a matter of substance. 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: The'model before the House is excellent. In my explanation about special 
investigators I outlined why the concerns raised by the Opposition are not appropriate in this case. 

Hon Reg Davies: What do you think about the select committee's report? 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: It is very good and, generally speaking, I adopted it. 

Hon Reg Davies: Do you like the recommendations in it? 

Hon N.D. Griffiths: He has not looked at them. 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: Hon Nick Griffiths thinks that the Government bas not looked at them and I believe it 
has. I will not try to convince the member otherwise. 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (Hon Barry House): Order! Members are becoming involved in a committee
style debate. I asked the Attorney General to cease interjecting when other members were speaking and 
now the boot is on the other foot and members should cease interjecting while the Attorney General is 
summing up. 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: I have read the select committee's report and the recommendations are good. One 
area of the report with which I do have a concern is the suggested educational role. My concerns are the 
same as those expressed by the Wood royal commission. It could be argued -

Hon N.D. Griffiths: It is an arguable case. 

Hon PETER FOSS: It is. The Independent Commission Against Corruption was tied up in being a mind 
bender. We must be very careful about this because it could put the Anti-Corruption Commission in a 
more zealous role than might be ideal. There are problems with the educational role, but because 
somebody goes wrong with a particular setup does not mean that everybody goes wrong. It is possible to 
have an educational role without it going wrong, in the same way as it is possible to have the two together 
without their going wrong. Wood said one thing about one way and something else about another way. I 
have great sympathy with his concern about the educational role. 

Hon Reg Davies: It is interesting that one of his main advisers served on the Fitzgerald royal commission. 
He obviously learnt from that experience. 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: The next point is whether we are going too far on the question of self-incrimination, 
legal professional privilege, executive privilege, right of entry and the powers of a royal commission. I 
have spoken to representatives of the Official Corruption Commission to ascertain how they envisage the 
Anti-Corruption Commission working. They said that one of its most important roles would be to actually 
secure prosecutions. It should not only expose corruption, but precede it with getting somebody convicted 
of an offence. Strong emphasis has been placed on gaining evidence which will lead to convictions. The 
mere exposure of corruption without actually dealing with corruption can sometimes be counterproductive. 
People ask what happened and the Fitzgerald royal commission is a classic example. Public evidence was 
given about all sorts of corruption, and who was convicted? 

Hon N.D. Griffiths interjected. 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: It is important that people be convicted. 

Hon Reg Davies: Justice must be seen to be done. 

Hon N.D. Griffiths: It was not done in that case. 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: The concern is that if people are not convicted perhaps they were falsely accused in 
the frrst place. When somebody takes an action to set aside a finding of the commission and they succeed, 
how many people know it is happening? What happened to Colin Edwardes with respect to the Kyle 
inquiry is a classic example. He was given half a line on page umpteen of the newspaper and the findings 
were given slightly better coverage. 

With corruption it is important, if it is there, to take it to an appropriate prosecution. For that reason the 
OCC considers that police powers are more important than the powers of a royal commission. The police 
powers enable the police to gather evidence. The problem with some of the compulsory powers of a royal 
commission is that where people are forced to incriminate themselves their evidence cannot be used in 
evidence. Having gathered the evidence the problem facing a royal commission is that it cannot use that 
evidence to prosecute. It is hard when one is able to cross-examine a person appearing before a royal 
commission, but when the case goes before a criminal court one cannot cross-examine one's witnesses. 
Obviously the powers of a royal commission do not include that provision. For instance, it does not have 
the power to seize. If one seizes under a warrant one can use any document one finds whether it is 
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incriminating or otherwise. It certainly applies to compulsorily obtaining testimony. The police powers 
are important I understand that that part of the investigation will certainly form a very important part of 
what the commissioners do. I refer members to two media releases by the OCC. One is dated 19 June and 
the other 21 June. The release dated 19 June reads-

This proposed legislation contains original thought and in some respects, with amendments to the 
Criminal Code, is a new deal in an Australian State for the exposure of wrong-doing by public 
officers across the State and elected Services. 

Its main features are: 

1. It does not set up an oppressive standing inquiSition. 

2. It pays proper regard to the continuing rule of law and the rights of innocent people. 

3. It provides adequate power in the Commission through the developing network of State 
and Local Government agencies to initiate and supervise general investigations into 
crime and serious improper conduct 

4. It also provides that the Commission may carry out such investigations itself. 

5. The Commission's investigators may, by arrangement with the Commissioner of Police, 
have powers equivalent to police officers. 

6. It provides for the Commission to appoint for a particular enquiry a special investigator 
with powers similar to those set out in the Royal Commissions Act 

7. To protect the rights of the citizen it. provides that a special investigator is to hear in 
private. 

8. The Commission may not make fmdings. The Commission may report to an appropriate 
authority on the facts disclosed by an investigation in such a way that penal or other 
action will be a matter for those responsible for the execution of the due processes of law 
or of proper practice. 

9. The Commission will have power to make recommendations and, in particular, to 
recommend the appointment of a Royal Commission. 

10. The compulsory and voluntary informer provisions and those with the protection of 
informers and investigators are preserved. 

11. The Commission will be a Body Corporate. Its executives and other officers will be 
responsible to independent part-time Commissioners -

That provision has been changed and the chairman will now be a full time commissioner. To continue -

- nominated and appointed in much the same way as at present. It may and may be 
required to report to Parliament and to the Standing Committee. 

Under the rules of Parliament, the Parliament will maintain control. To continue -

12. Further improvements to the legislation are likely to be made as a result of debates in the 
Parliament and of later experience and with the aid of the proposed Standing Committee 
and other Parliamentary Committees. 

13. To change the name of the Commission to the Anti-Corruption Commission, which 
better reflects its functions. 

The media statement of 21 June reads -

Commenting on the recent publicitY concerning the Official Corruption Commission Amendment 
Bill 1996, the Commission advises that if the proposed legislation becomes law it will be -

1. appointing a high status full-time Director of Anti-Corruption Investigations; 

2. appointing a squad of qualified investigating officers exercising power similar to those of 
police officers primarily for the investigation of Police; 

3. appointing other similar officers to investigate other matters; 

4. considering cases which might be best constituted in the first instance by a special 
investigator in private exercising powers in the Royal Commissions Act; 

5. considering cases which might require the recommendation of a public Royal 
Commission or Commissions; 

6. inviting all interested persons to submit their material to this Commission after the 
legislation becomes law; 

7. continuing to require all principal public officers to report all matters they have reason to 
suspect involves corruption by public officers; and 

8. requiring all principal public officers to report all matters they have reason to suspect 
involves serious improper conduct by public officers. 
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Again, and I say this in no way as a criticism or intent to cause embarrassment, the very things we have 
proposed as the powers are proposed in clauses 63(2) and 64(2) of the Commissioner for the Investigation 
of Corrupt or Improper Conduct Bill. The royal commission itself deals with questions of immunity. That 
is a fairly important part of this Bill. If the power is used, an immunity goes with it. The ICAC legislation 
has it in sections 26 and 37. The police integrity commission legislation has it in clauses 28 and 40. Legal 
professional privilege is referred to in recommendation R2 of the royal commission, clause 40 of the 
CICIC Bill, clauses 24(h), 25(h) and 37(2) of the ICAC legislation, and clauses 27(2) and 42 of the police 
integrity commission legislation. Executive privilege or public interest immunity was waived by a press 
release by Carmen Lawrence P1 1990 with the royal commission. The FOI Act has impinged upon that; 
that was done by this House. The ICAC legislation has it, as does the police integrity commission 
legislation. It is strange that, when the abuse of power by the Executive is being dealt with, the Executive 
can say it is against the public interest for that to happen; in other words, to claim executive privilege. It is 
a big let go by government. That let go on executive privilege took place in this House. A committee of 
management made that decision. It was not in the original Bill put forward by the Labor Government. 

The right of entry in proposed section 81 of the OCC Amendment Bill, is also in clause 30 of the CICIC 
Bill, section 23 of the ICAC legislation, and section 29 of the PIC legislation. COG wanted the SEPIC to 
have all the investigatory powers of the royal commission and referred to public sector employees and 
agencies under any written law. I think it is a problem. We should take these teeth out; if we did not have 
that capacity it would be a severe problem. 

Let us deal with the need for professional privilege. It is removed only so far as dealing with legal 
professional privilege in the Crown. Proposed section 8K(1) on page 40 of the Bill states -

Subject to subsection (2), nothing in this Act prevents a person who is required under the applied 
prOvisions or section 8H or 81 to answer questions, give evidence, produce documents, books, 
writings or information or make facilities available from claiming legal professional privilege as a 
reason for not complying with that requirement 

It starts off with the statement that there is legal professional privilege. However, proposed subsection (2) 
says it "does not apply to any privilege of a public authority or public officer in that capacity". If a person 
obtains legal advice for himself, that is his privilege and he is entitled to claim legal professional privilege. 
However, if a public officer gets legal advice for a public authority, the Bill says that legal professional 
privilege should not stand against the Crown. The ACC will be an arm of executive power investigating 
another arm of executive power. 

Hon N.D. Griffiths: And the Legislature. 

Hon PETER FOSS: Very true. However, there is still a question of parliamentary privilege. To the extent 
that that is obtained as a public authority, it is waived. I think that is appropriate. I also think it is 
appropriate to have a right of entry into public places, because again, strictly speaking, that is a power they 
should have the right to give even if it is not in the legislation. 

Hon N.D. Griffiths: The width of that may be subject to debate in Committee. 

Hon PETER FOSS: We are dealing with the principle here. We will deal with the width when we get to 
the Committee stage. That is the basic principle and I think that is appropriate. 

A concern was raised about parliamentary privilege. I have a report from crown counsel, agreed to by 
parliamentary counsel and· the Crown Solicitor, that they believe this Bill does not impinge upon 
parliamentary privilege. 

Hon Reg Davies: Are you in a position to table that? 

Hon PETER FOSS: No, I am not 

Hon N.D. Griffiths: Why not? 

Hon PETER FOSS: Because I do not believe it is appropriate to do so. 

Hon N.D. Griffiths: Proposed section 8K(2) will allow the ACC to look at these matters. Why can't we as 
legislators look at these matters so that we can determine that? 

Hon PETER FOSS: I will not depart from a long established process in this Parliament of not tabling 
views. 

Let us understand parliamentary privilege, because I think people think it goes further than it does. There 
has never been parliamentary privilege with regard to criminal conduct. The privilege of Parliament does 
not extend to criminal conduct. It is interesting that this was considered by the Select Committee of 
Privilege Concerning Documents Obtained and Retained by the Royal Commission into Use of Executive 
Power, chaired by Hon Kim Chance. Its report was presented to this House on 5 December 1995, the day 
before the COG report was tabled. Even though it did not happen in this case, there is a concern about 
what would have happened had there been a compulsory process of law. We did not have to deal with it 
because it was not a compulsory process of law. Under "Some further comments" on page 14, the report 
states -

The present case did not involve any compulsory process of law, a point noted by the Committee 
in its interim report. 
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We believe it is worth commenting as to the obligation of members and officers of the Court when 
there is a conflict of compulsory process and parliamentary privilege. 

A claim of privilege made outside the precinct of Parliament will not be sufficient to prevent any 
search at all. 

We recommend that in such case the procedure explained in Baker v Campbell should be followed 
and in the event privilege is claimed for any particular document it must be immediately sealed 
up. The officers and the member should at an appropriate time (probably at the end or in a logical 
break in the search) convey the sealed documents to the President, or in his absence, the Clerk of 
the Council. 

The President would be competent to rule on the document. 

The point is this and I think the High Court made it clear: We cannot stop the process of legal professional 
privilege happening. If someone comes with a warrant and I believe I have legal professional privilege, I 
cannot say that the process cannot go ahead. I must claim it and then the documents must be preserved in 
such a way as to enable a proper body to adjudicate on it. 

We have some interesting Acts which on the face of them impinge on parliamentary privilege. Some give 
people compulsory powers to seize. I purposely got out the Fisheries Act because it contains some pretty 
interesting bits. 

Hon N.D. Griffiths: Fisheries officers have the same powers as police officers. 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: Section 49B of the Fisheries Act states that a person shall not refuse or neglect to 
comply with a requirement lawfully made by any ins~tor; refuse to allow a search to be made which is 
authorised by or under this Act; or refuse to give information when lawfully required by an inspector or to 
give false or misleading information to any inspector. 

That is pretty powerful stuff. Let us take the example of a select committee into fishing - Hon Kim Chance 
is shaping up for that one. We have had reports previously into matters such as fishing. If an inspector 
came along, using the power under section 49B, and told someone to do something, that person would 
respond, "Barley; parliamentary privilege." The matter must then be adjudicated Nobody has suggested 
this could apply to a parliamentary committee and it means it will impinge on the privileges of Parliament. 
The privileges of Parliament cannot be instantly revoked; they must be expressly revoked. I am concerned 
at the suggestion that we should put in this Bill a statement that we are not impinging on parliamentary 
privilege. Let us consider the Opposition's Commissioner for the Investigation of Corrupt or Improper 
Conduct Bill. 

Hon Reg Davies: That did not get reported. 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: I will give two reasons why it is dangerous. The CICIC Bill says that -

Hon N.D. Griffiths: It does not matter now. 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: It shows what goes wrong when unnecessary statements are put in a Bill. The 
parliamentary counsel uses this rule: As soon as something unnecessary is put in a Bill the obvious 
interpretation is that if something is put in that does not need to be there, because it is in the legislation the 
court is obliged to give some meaning to it; to say that the statement was needed. As soon as we start to 
say that it was needed in one Act, we must ask why it is not in another. For example, if it is in this Bill, 
why is it not in the Fisheries Act or in the egg producers Act? As soon as we start to include something 
that is unnecessary with regard to preserving parliamentary privilege, the obvious implication is that, 
because it has not been said in other Acts, it was not intended to be included in those Acts. 

There is another trap. The CICIC Bill states that "Nothing in this Act shall be taken to affect the rights and 
privileges of Parliament in relation to the freedom of speech, and debates and proceedings, in Parliament." 

Hon EJ. Charlton: Is that the McGinty Bill? 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: Yes .. Let us compare that with what is being suggested here. The Opposition's 
proposed amendment states that "Nothing in this Act shall be taken to affect the rights and privileges held 
in accordance with the Parliamentary Privileges Act 1891". There is a world of difference between those 
two clauses. 

Hoo John Halden: So what? What is the relevance of what you have been dribbling about for the last 
15 minutes? 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: Let me make my point. 

Hon John Halden: We would like you to get to it in a hurry. 

Hoo PE1ER FOSS: I will make my point because it is important. 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order! I think we are getting into discussion of the proposed amendments. 

Hoo PE1ER FOSS: The point raised in debate is that this impinges on parliamentary privilege. I am 
saying that it does not. The point was made that if it does not, why not say so. I am answering the point by 
taking two pieces of paper that happen to be to hand to illustrate the points I wish to make. One is that as 
soon as a statement is put in one piece of legislation, the suggestion is raised that Parliament does nothing 
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without intent; therefore, why is it put in one Act and not in another. There is then a problem of people 
suggesting that we now need to protect parliamentary privilege by express provision. 

Hon John Halden: In every Act? You do not believe that nonsense. 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: No, I do not believe it is needed in any Act. 

Hon John Halden: Stop it; you will go blind! 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: I am saying that as soon as we put it in one piece of legislation, we will have problems 
where it does not appear ~ iOthers. A basic rule adhered to by parliamentary counsel is that unnecessary 
provisions are not put into legislation because as soon as that happens -

Hon John Halden: We understand that. You have made that point. 

Hon N.D. Griffiths: That is your belief. 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: Members should let me fmish what I am saying. If they do not want me to repeat it. 
they should not interrupt me. 

Hon John Halden: How many times did you interrupt us? Before you get so sanctimonious, answer that. 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: I will do what Hon John Halden did and will go on until I have made my point. 

Hon John Halden: I will do what you did - interrupt every three seconds. 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: I will keep on repeating what I am saying then. My point is this: Unnecessary 
provisions should never be put into Bills because as soon as we do that. it leads to a presumption that they 
were put there for good purpose. People will ask if a provision was put in one Bill, why was it not put into 
another piece of legislation, such as the Fisheries Act. I have given an example using two Bills, both of 
which have the potential to impinge upon the freedoms of this House. One of them does not have that 
provision in it. and in the other it is suggested it should be included. First. by doing that. we are missing 
one of the cardinal rules of parliamentary drafting. Long term the effect might be to undermine the 
privileges of Parliament. The second problem is that as soon as we start saying what are the bounds of not 
undermining legislation, we run the risk of doing what the CICIC Bill did; that is, to miss out something. 
If a clause similar to the one in the CICIC Bill is included, there will be no possible way to argue that the 
privileges of Parliament were not being affected. Having dealt with part of them and not the rest. there is a 
necessary implication that that impinges on the privileges of Parliament so far as they are not mentioned in 
a clause in the Bill. 

Hon N.D. Griffiths: Why was it not in the second reading speech? 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: It was raised and it was suggested that this clause should go in when the Bill was in 
the lower House. I am opposed to it for the reason I have stated already. There is no problem of 
interpretation if, as I said in the second reading speech, there is no impact upon parl~entary privilege, not 
merely that we do not believe there is no impact. We are confirming the proper interpretation. It is not 
intended to have such an interpretation. Because the provision is not in this Bill, it cannot have an effect 
on, say, the Fisheries Act. Because an unnecessary statement has not been put in the Bill, it does not have 
an interpretative effect. As soon as it is put in the Bill, it starts to have more impact than would otherwise 
be the case. A rule of statutory interpretation is that people cannot look only at the Act under 
interpretation, but must also look at other Acts to see how Parliament has dealt with them. Much has been 
said about interpretation. It is my opinion, and the opinion of the Crown Solicitor, the parliamentary 
counsel and the Crown Counsel, that the wording of the legislation does not impinge upon parliamentary 
privilege. 

Hon Reg Davies: All independent of one another, or as a group? 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: I formed my own opinion independently from them. Parliamentary counsel formed 
his view separately -

Hon John Halden: Are these the same people who said that either House can be prorogued? Get on with it. 
This is nonsense. 

Hon PETER FOSS: I will deal with the comment about the other House later. If it has not been raised in 
this debate, I will deal with it when we get to Committee. 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT: Order! We are getting into quite significant detail that should be dealt with 
in Committee. As I will probably be in charge of the Committee stage tomorrow, I can assure members 
there certainly will not be a rerun of the debate we are having now. 

Hon John Halden: We have not said a word. 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: One of the most fundamental objections to this Bill is that it impinges on 
parliamentary privilege. I am answering that point. 

Hon ND. Griffiths: Why don't you provide the House with copies of these opinions, given that they are so 
important? 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: I will not do that. Members opposite have been in here when Hon Joe Berinson has 
made a similar point. and I will not repeat his comments. 
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Hon Tom Stephens: Like the occasions when you demanded that legal opinions be tabled. 

Hon PETER FOSS: The member should check the events. 

Hon Tom Stephens: When you voted for the tabling of the opinions. 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (Hon Barry House): Order! I make the point again that this is a second 
reading debate. Let the Attorney finish his comments. 

Hon EJ. Charlton: He is beginning to wind up! 

Hon PETER FOSS: No he is not! I promised this House, as did the Leader of the House, that I would treat 
this debate seriously, and I will treat seriously every point that has been raised. That will apply also to the 
Committee stage. The debate to date has been very valuable and has raised some valid points, with which I 
will deal. 

Hon Tom Stephens: Your members will probably deal with you! 

Hon PETER FOSS: Maybe so, but once I have said how we will handle the debate in this House, I will 
stick to it, and members will get a proper consideration of every point that has been raised. 

Hon N.D. Griffiths: I have been sitting here listening to you. 

Hon PETER FOSS: I thank the member. 

Hon P.R Lightfoot: The Attorney is equivalent to 10 members on your side. 

Hon PETER FOSS: Reference was made to a decision of the House of Lords, which to a large extent does 
reflect the same law in Western Auslralia. However, wedo not have to go to the House of Lords because a 
prOvision in W A's Interpretation Act deals specifically with this matter, and we should refer to that rather 
than to the change in the common law which took place in the United Kingdom, and I think took place in 
Australia at around the same time. The fact that those people formed these views, some of them 
independently and some of them together, and agreed, indicates that there is a strong body of opinion - I 
accept that other people have a different view - that the meaning of the Bill does not impinge upon 
parliamentary privilege. 

If that is the case, I think we can say that some of the basic qualifications for allowing the operation of the 
Interpretation Act are in place, because even though Hon Nick Griffiths said that the words are clear, there 
are clear interpretations the other way, the most important being that we should not lightly set aside 
parliamentary privilege. It is interesting that it was suggested that we impliedly repeal parliamentary 
privilege, but we must expressly repeal executive privilege and legal privilege. If the Bill expressly repeals 
to some degree legal professional privilege and expressly repeals executive privilege, it is a bit difficult, 
those matters having been dealt with expressly, to say that it impliedly repeals parliamentary privilege. 
That indicates clearly why that interpretation of the imposition of this Bill on parliamentary privilege is 
wrong. It certainly also brings into account the reference in section 19 of the Interpretation Act to the use 
of extrinsic material. Subsection (1) states -

(a) to confirm that the meaning of the provision is the ordinary meaning conveyed by the 
text of the provision taking into account its context in the written law and the purpose or 
object underlying the written law; or 

It must take into account its context and the purpose underlying it, and plainly it would be difficult to fmd a 
purpose of impliedly repealing parliamentary privilege. It continues -

(b) to determine the meaning of the provision when -

(i) the provision is ambiguous or obscure; or 

(ii) the ordinary meaning conveyed by the text of the provision taking into account 
its context in the written law and the purpose or object underlying the written 
law leads to a result that is manifestly absurd or is unreasonable. 

Subsection (3) states -

In determining whether consideration should be given to any material in accordance with 
subsection (1), or in considering the weight to be given to any such material, regard shall be had, 
in addition to any other relevant matters, to -

(a) the desirability of persons being able to rely on the ordinary meaning conveyed 
by the text of the provision taking into account its context in the written law and 
the puq>ose or object underlying the written law; and 

(b) the need to avoid prolonging legal or other proceedings without compensating 
advantage. 

There are other grounds, but I believe the law is clear with regard to the repeal of parliamentary privilege 
and one cannot come to the conclusion that it was intended. I will deal with the question of dissolution and 
prorogation in Committee. 

I must reject the suggestion that the Government knew what the Select Committee on the Western 
Australian Police Service would recommend. I certaitily had no knowledge, and anyone who had watched 



[Tuesday, 9 July 1996] 3873 

me on the day that Hon Derrick Tomlinson tabled the report in this House would know that I picked up my 
copy and went to the parliamentary papers office, where I obtained another seven copies, which I then gave 
to the officers of the Government so that they could read what was in the report I had no idea what was in 
it 

Hon Tom Stephens: It sounds like official corruption to me that you could get seven copies! 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: Dozens of people were getting dozens of copies. 

Hon Reg Davies: I believe 10u, because your Bill would have been different if you had read the report. It 
would have been a much better Bill. 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: I do not know that it would have been a better Bill, but if we had learnt about it, one 
could expect that we would have adjusted the Bill beforehand mther than afterwards. I do not know how 
the two arguments - one that we disregarded the report, and the other that we knew about it - can be mised 
at the same time. It is interesting that some authentic leaks of our legislation also appeared in the Press at 
the same time. That was the most amazing combination of what appeared to be accuracy and total bizarre 
supposition. The only reason I can think of that they got it right is that it fitted in with our previous 
statements on the matter, or that what we intended to do was pretty obvious. There are certain ways to deal 
with corruption that we have probably put in our press releases. Some of the things that have come out 
have been in every report of every royal commission that we come across. I do not think, although the 
combination might have been a surprise, that anything in the police committee report was entirely novel. 
The names might have been novel, but that was about it In the end, we are dealing with the same matter. 
We are dealing with a matter that has been discussed to death by commissions and goodness knows who 
else. 

Hon Reg Davies: There are only certain recommendations that a select committee can come up with. 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: Exactly. I think that statement is very unworthy, and unfortunately it is another 
calumny on Hon Derrick Tomlinson, for whom I have the highest regard. It is unfortunate that if members 
keep making nasty remarks about the chairman of that committee, it will undermine the whole committee 
system. 

I now mention the pmctical points that were raised by Hon Mark Nevill. The measures that have been 
taken by the Commissioner of Police under Operation Delta are very important. Hon Alannah MacTieman 
said that what we really need is a change in culture. That is absolutely right; I wrote it down and 
underlined them. Members know that when people come into the Police Service they are fresh faced and 
innocent and think they will be honest, but little things chip away at it. The culture allows them to be 
compromised on little things so that they get dmwn into bigger things. The commissioner has removed a 
large number of the senior people - not that they were necessarily corrupt - and has changed the nature of 
the organisation so that people are moved around a bit more and cannot comfortably settle in to form little 
groups which have the capacity to become corrupt. I note that the committee did not say that corruption is 
endemic in the Police Force. It said that corruption is endemic in certain parts of the Police Force. That 
indicates the need to stir up, move around and change the culture. The Commissioner of Police has said 
that he needs to change the way people think about their job. I agree. I do not think he can do it on his 
own. I think that what he must do and what the ACC must do are complementary; one without the other 
will not be enough. To merely prosecute some corrupt people without changing the culture will be a waste 
of time. However, to change the culture without having the ability to get at the people who are corrupt will 
also be a waste of time. 

Although Hon John Cowdell, in what was a pretty useless speech generally speaking -

Hon John Halden: Reprimanded! 

Hon PETER FOSS: That did not come as an enormous surprise. He has been given to do that a bit 
recently. He seems to have run out of topics, so he rehashed the usual ones. He did not even pay tribute to 
the fact that the Government closely followed the Commission on Government recommendations in the 
Bill. Nor did he pay tribute to the fact that COG disagrees with what he says about the police committee. 
That is selective reading at its best. It is an important part of the anticorruption measures. I think Hon 
Nick Griffiths has taken the same view as me. 

Hon N.D. Griffiths: My colleagues are looking at me askance. 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: I am referring to ministerial accountability regarding police. The Commission on 
Government said that, even though the Police Force is a special case it is still part of the Public Service. I 
endorse that; it is part of the Public Service. I would hate in any way to give the idea that the police are not 
as accountable and the Minister is not as responsible as any other member of the Public Service. It has 
been said that every single Police Minister has defended the police. That has occurred because he does not 
have much alternative. He is locked out of the decision making. It seems to be accepted that a Police 
Minister cannot be involved in any of the day to day running. All he must do is take the flak from the Press 
and either show that he has no control or defend it. He becomes virtually the person who must face the 
music without any capacity to do anything about it. 

Hon Reg Davies: Can I come down with different recommendations about term of reference No 1. 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: You may. It is one of the terms I asked to be reworded because I have that strongly 
held view. 
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One point I have not dealt with is the question of the judiciary. The Commissioner for the Investigation of 
Corrupt or Improper Conduct Bill totally excluded the judiciary in all respects, not just with respect to 
section 21, "without the approval of Parliament". We did not originally do that, but it was raised by the 
judiciary. One of the big problems is that unsuccessful litigants will seek to retry cases through a 
complaint to the Anti-Corruption Commission. One of the fIrSt things said by anyone who has had an 
unsuccessful litigation is that the judge must have been corrupt, not that he took money, but that he had bad 
motives. 

Hon Reg Davies: They are called police judges. 

Hon PETER FOSS: Yes; not only in criminal cases, but also in civil cases the most common thing said is 
that the judge misbehaved himself in the following manner. If one does not take it up one will be marked 
as the other person who is corrupt. The concern was that the legislation should cover outright corruption 
which involves taking money. 

Hon Reg Davies: We could have a sepamte body looking at corruption charges. 
Hon PETER FOSS: There is a serious concern that the Executive has the power to virtually discipline 
judges. I agree with that 

Hon Reg Davies: Do they ever do anything or is it like the Parliament -
Hon PE1ER FOSS: They certainly do discipline and counsel. 

Hon Tom Stephens: Who, fellow judges? 

Hon N.D. Griffiths: Only if we have differences within the party. 

The PRESIDENT: Order! 

Hon PETER FOSS: I do not want to go into the full intricacies, but at various levels it is done differently. 
Certainly the senior magistrate takes quite direct action to deal with wayward magistrates. At the District 
Court level -
Hon Reg Davies interjected. 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: Yes. At the District Court level the present Chief Judge has a good collegiate system, 
which works, to establish values and procedures. That is the better way. Rather than telling off someone 
after an event, he has set a tone with a collegiate method which has done a tremendous amount to get the 
right behaviour in a particular course and to attract good people. 

Hon N.D. Griffiths interjected. 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: At the Supreme Court. 

The PRESIDENT: Order! Members should stop entering into conversation; it is starting to look as though 
the Minister is stonewalling his own Bill. We would not want that to occur. 

Hon PETER FOSS: There was a serious concern that the legislation would interfere with judicial 
independence if it included the capacity to enter into any complaint against a judge. It was seen as a 
problem if the public could use the ACC to retry a case by saying someone acted improperly, showed 
serious misconduct or was badly motivated. That would be an unwelcome event We have left in the 
legislation the capacity to deal with straight-out corruption; that is, dollars in an envelope to the judiciary. 
If we were to see a major problem with corruption among judges we could perhaps revisit that. Generally 
speaking, there have not been many cases in Australia. 

Hon Reg Davies interjected. 

Hon PE1ER FOSS: Hon Reg Davies has put his finger on the matter precisely. 

Hon EJ. Charlton: I wish he would put his finger in it! 

Hon PETER FOSS: In the case of Judge Vasta in Queensland, a committee of judges was appointed which 
held hearings and investigated Mr Vasta. It then recommended to Parliament that he be dismissed and he 
was dismissed. That was probably the appropriate way to deal with him. The Parliament will continue to 
keep that role. 

I believe, as I promised, that thave dealt in a serious manner with all the points raised in the debate. 

Hon Reg Davies: What about the Mickelberg case; that is, whether the judge has the ability to satisfy those 
recommendations? 

Hon PETER FOSS: The police select committee recommended that there be a judicial inquiry and if not, a 
royal commission into that case. There is no possibility of a judicial inquiry being held except under the 
ACC legislation, where a person who is or could be a judge is able to carry out an inquiry with all the 
protection needed to establish that information. If he believed that was insufficient he could recommend a 
royal commission. I believe the only practical way to carry out a judicial inquiry with the ability to get the 
information, protect the witnesses and so forth is through a body such as the ACC, otherwise a Bill would 
need to be passed to give the same powers to somebody else. 

Hon Reg Davies: In other words, the Government is not prepared to do that? 
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Hon PE'IER FOSS: We do not think it is necessary. A separate inquiry would need to be established to 
look at the Mickelberg case and this legislation will do that. If the ACe believes it requires a royal 
commission rather than just a judicial inquiry, it has the capacity to recommend that. The Mickelbergs are 
in the process of an appeal. 

Hon Reg Davies interjected. 

Hon PE'IER FOSS: We have already allocated to one Mickelberg; we are most unlikely to allocate to the 
other. 

I have dealt with all the nta:tters. It is the Government's intention to deal seriously with this legislation. I 
hope I have demonstrated that tonight. I have tried to ignore what I thought were cheap political shots. I 
have not even spoken about Hon Kim Chance's irrelevant contribution, although I was tempted to do. I 
commend the Bill to the House. 

Question put and passed 

Bill read a second time. 

Motion - Referral to Select Committee 

BON JOHN HALDEN (South Metropolitan - Leader of the Opposition) [12.30 am]: I move -

That-

(1) a select committee of five members, of which the chairman and any two members 
constitute a quorum, be appointed to inquire into and report no later than Thursday, 
22 August 1996 on the Official Corruption Commission Amendment Bill 1996; 

(2) the committee have power to send for persons, papers and records and to travel within 
Australia. 

I am acutely aware of the hour, and I have a clear perception that the Government will not wish to go down 
this path. However, considering the response by the Attorney General and the comments by members of 
the Government it is appropriate that we seriously consider this proposition and take the opportunity to 
appoint such a committee - as suggested at the first reading stage a1most a week ago. I will not go into 
great detail about my earlier comments or those by Hon Reg Davies outlining the reasons the Bill would be 
appropriately referred to a committee. Mr President, I have excluded from this motion reference to 
chairmanship by you. I have not done that in a disrespectful way, but because I am aware that you will not 
be here for some time and I did not want to inflict that problem on the committee. It was not meant to be a 
statement of exclusion or to be offensive. 

I need go no further on the reasons that this referral is appropriate other than to recall, as best I can, the 
words of Hon Murray Montgomery - a member of the Select Committee on the Western Australian Police 
Service and a member of the coalition Government As I recall it, he said that this Bill is a tentative step in 
the right direction. In effect, he said there is a lot of room for improvement in the Bill. He is correct We 
must ensure that this legislation is correct I agree with Hon Murray Montgomery. If we are forced to 
divide on this motion I will appreciate his company on this side of the House. It will be a rare occasion. 

Hon P.R. Lightfoot Don't hold your breath. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: I will not hold my breath waiting to see Hon Ross Lightfoot voting with this side. 

The Attorney General assisted greatly with his second reading response. In a long-winded but exhaustive 
and intensive way he covered a number of areas. We still do not agree. I have never heard such nonsense 
about parliamentary privilege under the Fisheries Act being related to a Bill dealing with the investigation 
of politicians, police and public servants, and the seizure of documents. The relevance of the Fisheries Act 
or any other Act is mind-boggling and silly - but I accept the Attorney's argument. The divergence of our 
opinions about what is right and wrong with this legislation is exemplified by that argument. We should 
not go to the Committee stage with that sort of division. The gulf is enonnous. Therefore, we should take 
the opportunity of reviewing the matter. 

I tum now to the comments by our learned Attorney General. 

Hon Peter Foss: Now irrelevant to this motion! 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: Totally! I am sure the President will advise me on that aspect. The Attorney 
General said achieving the right legislation was about the differences in jurisdictions; examining those 
differences and looking at the problems that have occurred in those jurisdictions, and that in many respects 
it was difficult to know the right fonnula. Of course the Attorney General is correct. I do not mean to be 
offensive -

Hon Peter Foss: I was right! 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: The Attorney always is. He always tells us that. 

Hon Peter Foss: I am usually right about that too. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: At least I can be right about something. 

Having made those comments, which are pertinent and correct, and considering the remarks by 



3876 [COUNCll..] 

Hon Murray Montgomery why would we want to rush this legislation if there is a need to legitimately 
review the legislation? It must still return to the Legislative Assembly, and we have here an opportunity of 
five or six weeks' contemplation to improve the legislation. 

The Attorney General promoted the view that the Opposition was somehow welded to the CICIC Bill, and 
to certain positions in this debate. I endeavoured to put our view regarding 12 areas of concern. We need 
to consider those areas to see if we can improve the current Bill. I agree with the Attorney that in some 
ways in this debate we have come a long way but the gulf in other areas remains enormous. For the sake of 
reasoned and rational debate we should take this opportunity of considering what our peers in a much more 
controlled environment with less pressure, can come up with by way of argument, position and, if need be, 
amendment 

The Attorney General also said that effectiveness of the Anti-Corruption Commission will depend on the 
character of the person whom we appoint to head it I agree. I made that point during my second reading 
contribution. The Attorney also said that the Official Corruption Commission had been a postbox which 
we had created and which was not effective. I agree with that comment also. I suggest that we can make 
the same mistake here. Hon Murray Montgomery said that this legislation was a tentative step. He is right, 
but we do not need to take tentative steps based on a report stating basically that police corruption is 
endemic. 

Hon Peter Foss: It referred to police corruption in some areas. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: I concede that point 

Hon Murray Montgomery: What were my final words? 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: I do not recall. 

Hon Murray Montgomery: They were along the lines that I support the Bill. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: We all voted that way. Let us be real. Let us not argue about that. The Attorney 
General and Hon Murray Montgomery said that we will create a being, and with the oce we created a 
being which was totally ineffective considering the job that had to be done. 

Hon Peter Foss: We created a being which was a postbox that could not tell people what it did. I did not 
say it was ineffective. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: I concede that point. We are creating a being here which will not be effective, and 
we could create one that is far better. My motion seeks to ensure that we do the best that we can. I do not 
think that is an unrealistic expectation for this place. The Attorney General talked about substance and 
form. He suggested that some members had been discussing the form rather than the substance. We 
should discuss both aspects. The acceptance of my motion will achieve that end The Attorney General 
also said that individnal circumstances require individual differences between the jurisdictions, and he 
referred to how we could develop this organisation. We need to be very careful about that. 

Hon Peter Foss: You and I agree on a lot of this. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: The Attorney General is correct Tomorrow we will have the opportunity during a 
12 hour parliamentary debate to get it right - or we can take this opportunity of forming a committee to 
consider the matter for six weeks, and then go through the process with that information on the basis of the 
trust we give to that committee. 

The Attorney General made some points about which I feel we should be very clear. We did not establish 
our committee system so that the House was deprived of any opportunity to look at any clause of a Bill. 
We said that the system would allow for more rational, clear-headed thinking of what was before us and 
that it was appropriate to take issnes out of the pressure cooker environment of this place to allow them to 
be considered by a smaller group that could bring back recommendations or better solutions to the issues 
we were considering. We have adopted that practice for six years, and in the vast majority of cases it has 
been successful. That is the path we propose to follow again. However, it should never be considered that 
the right of this House to do whatever it wants is impinged upon by that process; of course, it is not It is a 
very simple situation which we have lived with for six years and which many other Parliaments have lived 
with for a lot longer. 

We have an opportunity to take a deep breath, to look at the issues in time and to decide whether this is the 
best legislation or whether it is just a tentative first step. Nothing would be lost to this House, this 
Parliament, the Government or the community by this delay. All that can be lost is the opportunity to do 
this correctly and to avoid getting it wrong if we rush it I have made guarantees about timing with which . 
the Attorney General took a little liberty. The passage of this legislation will not be delayed by what I am 
proposing. It provides for the House to undertake appropriate consideration of the matter. I do not believe 
that we have attempted - nor should we nor would we - to filibuster with this matter; it is too important and 
all members have come to that realisation. 

I am sure the Attorney General can argue the points that he has argued tonight and, of course, he can win. I 
do not mean that disrespectfully, but the Government has the numbers - we all know that it does. However, 
winning is not the point The point is to ensure that we have the best legislation. I have taken the 
opportunity provided by the Attorney General when we flfSt mooted this motion to postpone its moving 
until the conclusion of the establishment of the policy of the legislation. We all agree with that and the 
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central thrust. I am moving the motion at a time. that the Attorney believes is more appropriate, and 
generally I agree. However, I believe that we have lost a week if we see the Committee stage as important 
to this matter. I will accept the criticism by the Attorney General about the appropriate timing of this 
referral to a committee. Bearing in mind that I still believe that there is a problem with this Bill which may 
well require and probably does require its amendment and which cannot be fixed in the other place until 20 
August, we should use the opportunity wisely to consider this Bill further. I hope members support this 
referral. 

HON N.D. GRlF'nmS ~t Metropolitan) [12.43 am]: I have had the pleasure of listening to 
Hon John Halden and the Attorney General. After listening in particular to Hon Peter Foss, it is very 
appropriate that this House now send the matter to a committee. His comments about parliamentary 
. privilege require further careful consideration, and I am not convinced that in dealing with the matter in the 
normal course of a Committee debate they will be given the consideration they deserve. I do not say that 
with any disrespect to members of this House, but the Attorney General, when he puts forward a point of 
view, is very convincing. However, I am concerned to look at the substance. I note that the opinions of 
three learned people to whom he referred will not be -

Hon Peter Foss: It is an opinion. 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: It is an opinion that is embraced, as the Attorney said, by three learned people and 
it will not be made available to us. It is appropriate that the House have the benefit of external opinion on a 
matter as important as this. 

HON PETER FOSS ~t Metropolitan - Attorney General) [12.45 am]: It is far more appropriate to 
deal with this motion at this stage. It is very tempting to pass the matter to a committee, but we have 
already had it considered by one committee, royal commissions and a Commission on Government. The 
result of referring it to a committee will be that we will have another report at a time when the debate that 
has just occurred will not be as fresh in our minds. One of the essential things about this debate that 
distinguishes it from many others is the fact that it has been keenly followed by all members - and quite 
appropriately so. We all realise that it is not common or garden variety legislation; it is important 
legislation to which we must all pay close attention, understand the arguments and appreciate them. 

There will not be a time, except at the end of the Committee stage, when the members of this House will 
better understand the issues involved and the arguments as they develop. Frankly, it is not appropriate to 
pass the matter to a committee at this stage; it will be just one more report that will have to be taken into 
account. One of the difficulties we have is that there have been so many reports, not necessarily 
contradicting one another but with slightly different approaches. The time has come for members, with the 
knowledge, familiarity and understanding that we currently have, to get into the nuts and bolts of the Bill 
and to start to make the real decisions that we and only we can make. I am worried that if we put it off for 
a week or so, the current freshness which we have in our minds and which will be valuable in Committee 
will be lost 

I oppose this referral on two grounds: First, it will not be of benefit for us to have another committee 
report and, second, we should not at this stage lose the best briefmg that any of us can ever have; that is, 
arguing the toss in the Chamber. As a Chamber we will never be better qualified to discuss this matter than 
we are at the moment. 

Question put and a division taken with the following result -

Hon Kim Chance 
Hon J.A. Cowdell 
Hon Cheryl Davenport 
Hon Reg Davies 
Hon N.D. Griffiths 

Hon EJ. Charlton 
Hon MJ. Criddle 
Hon B.K. Donaldson 
Hon Max Evans 
Hon Peter Foss 

Ayes (13) 

Hon John Halden 
Hon AJ .G. MacTiernan 
Hon Mark Nevill 
Hon Sam Piantadosi 
Hon J.A. Scott 

Noes (14) 

Hon Barry House 
Hon P.R. Lightfoot 
Hon 1.D. MacLean 
Hon Murray Montgomery 
Hon N.F. Moore 

Pairs 
Hon Graham Edwards 
Hon Doug Wenn 
Hon Val Ferguson 

Question thus negatived. 

Hon Tom Stephens 
Hon Bob Thomas 
Hon Tom Helm (Teller) 

Hon M.D. Nixon 
Hon W.N. Stretch 
Hon Derrick Tomlinson 
Hon Muriel Patterson (Teller) 

Hon George Cash 
Hon P.H. Lockyer 
Hon B.M. Scott 
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[COUNCIL] 

HEALTH AMENDMENT BILL 

Second Reading 

HON KIM CHANCE (Agricultural) [12.54 am]: The Opposition joins with the Government in 
appreciating the urgency of this Bill. We will deal with it in a matter of minutes. It is essentially omnibus 
legislation, which contains a number of provisions, some of which are as minor as simply correcting 
grammar. Some aspects are interesting to some people. Hon Nick Griffiths will be pleased to see that the 
reference to master and servant has been taken out of the principal Act. The factor which has made it of 
some urgency is the ability of the Health Department and, more particularly, local authorities to collect 
meat inspection fees from abattoirs in their jurisdictions. The three principal parts of the amendment Bill 
which have that effect are found in clause 15. Those three aspects of the Bill are all broadly related. They 
are to provide a scheme which will enable local government authorities to obtain fmancial assurances for 
the provision of meat inspection services; to make formal provision for the adoption of codes and standards 
and facilitate proof of those standards and codes in legal proceedings; and to confer power on local 
government to impose fees and charges by resolution in relation to matters they may prescribe by by-law. 
The need for the amendments to the Health Act 1911 arises from the problems which have been 
experienced by local government authorities in particular, when they are unable to collect fees which have 
been accumulated by an abattoir consequent to that abattoir running into some financial difficulty. In the 
past a local government authority has had no means of ensuring that arrangements were put in place to 
guarantee those funds, should default arise. This Bill gets around that issue in a number of ways. Those 
changes are found in clause 15 and are achieved by inserting new sections 246FA and 246FB into the 
principal Act. The effect of these amendments is to provide in new section 246FA(1) the requirement for 
fmancial security for payment for meat inspection. In proposed subsection (3) the security will be in the 
form of a contract of insurance, which in proposed subsection (4) is a dischargeable form of security, 
although I cannot imagine the circumstances in which that discharge would be allowed. 

I suppose that the legislation gains its teeth in proposed subsection (5). Provision is made that if the fees 
that are owing have not been paid, within 30 days the financial security can be acted on and the local 
government authority or the Health Department, whichever is so affected, can use that security provision to 
recover the outstanding fees. The proposed new section 246FB provides after an expiry period of seven 
days' notice that inspection services can be withdrawn from the abattoir. That is an important provision. It 
must be noted that simply getting hold of the money held in bond, so to speak, is only one half of the 
problem. A legal liability rests with the Health Department or local government authority to continue to 
provide those services, even though it may have come to an understanding that it would never be paid those 
moneys. For example, an abattoir may be under administration. The difficulty experienced by the Shire of 
Tammin was that because the business was running under administration, there was some doubt that it 
would ever be paid. 

On behalf of the Opposition I have pleasure in supporting the Bill. I am sorry that we have been a little 
rushed in dealing with this. It was probably more important for the legislation to be considered rather 
quickly but to be dealt with, than it was for members to devote the time they should have devoted to it. 
Members of the Opposition and I ar::. sure members of the Government have a great deal of sympathy for 
those local authorities which found themselves in an extremely difficult position between a rock and a hard 
place. The Opposition is pleased that it has been able to support the Bill and assist its passage. 

HON E.J. CHARLTON (Agricultural - Minister for Transport) [12.59 am]: I thank Hon Kim Chance 
and the Opposition generally for their support of the Bill and, more particularly, for agreeing to its passage 
towards the end of this session of Parliament It is a great shame that the Government did not bring 
forward this legislation some time ago. The things that have occurred of late have left a small shire in an 
unsatisfactory fmancial position. While the abattoir continues to operate, there is a moral obligation that at 
some time in the future it should make good that deficit of $40 000 or $50 000 to that local government 
authority. It is a tragedy that this situation has been allowed to occur as the years have gone by. The role 
of health inspectors-cum-meat inspectors has been changed as a consequence of the expansion of these 
sorts of industries around country Western Australia in particular. It is timely that the Bill is to be passed 
now. However, it is unfortunate that it could not have been done some years ago because this is not the 
only example of this sort of situation. Passing the legislation now will ensure that no other council will be 
left in a similar situation in future. I thank the Opposition for enabling this Bill to pass tonight and I look 
forward to its proclamation so that that safeguard can be put in place. I commend the Bill to the House. 

Question put and passed. 

Bill read a second time, proceeded through remaining stages without debate and passed. 

ADJOURNMENT OF THE HOUSE - SPECIAL 

On motion by Hon N.F. Moore (Leader of the House), resolved -

That the House at its rising adjourn until 10.00 am today (Wednesday). 

House adjourned at 1.03 am (Wednesday) 
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QUESTIONS ON NOTICE 

BUDGET (STAlE) - CONSOLIDATED FUND 1995-96 
$30m Borrowings 

301. Hon JOHN HALDEN to the Minister for Finance representing the Treasurer: 
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In the 1995-96 consolidated fund budget document it is clear that the State Government borrowed 
$3Om when a budgepsurplus was anticipated -

(1) Why was it necessary to borrow this money? 

(2) For what purposes was this money used? 

Hon MAX EVANS replied: 

The Treasurer has provided the following response -

(1) The 1994-95 consolidated fund budget was predicated on borrowings of $33.125m and, 
on the basis of anticipated revenue and expenditure transactions for the 1994-95 fmancial 
year, borrowings of $3Om were drawn on 20 April 1995. In the event, and mainly as a 
result of underspendings in recurrent expenditure, the consolidated fund for 1994-95 
fmished the year $22.5m in surplus and, accordingly, the borrowings of $3Om were not 
required. 

(2) An amount of $52.5m, which comprised the borrowings of $3Om and the 1994-95 
surplus of $22.5m, was transferred to the revenue equalisation account as a financing 
transaction at 30 June 1995, in accordance with section 29A of the Financial 
Administration and Audit Act. On 1 July 1995, the $52.5m was transferred back to the 
consolidated fund as an opening balance in accordance with section 29B of the Financial 
Administration and Audit Act The opening balance of $52.5m was not utilised in 
formulating the 1996-97 Budget and is simply held in the consolidated fund as a 
fmancing transaction which is available for working capital purposes. In accordance 
with existing legislation, these funds can only be accessed by incurring a deficit on the 
consolidated fund. 

BUDGET (STAlE) - CONSOLIDATED FUND ESTIMATES 
February 1996 Statement of Cash Transactions, Territorial: Mining, $564m, Shortfall 

302. Hon JOHN HALDEN to the Minister for Finance representing the Treasurer: 

In the statement of the cash transactions in the consolidated fund for the month ended 29 February 
1996, territorial receipts in the area of mining seem to be below the estimated 1995-96 collection -

(1) Is there any reason for this shortfall? 

(2) If so, why? 

(3) Is it expected that by the end of the year revenue from this source will meet the estimated 
$564m as detailed in the 1995-96 Budget? 

Hon MAX EVANS replied: 

The Treasurer has provided the following response -

(1) Yes. 

(2) Cash receipts for the eight months ended February 1996 include only six months of iron 
ore royalties which are paid on a quarterly basis in September, December, March and 
June. In addition, petroleum royalties have been lower than estimated due to production 
delays at the Wanaca and Cossack oil fields. 

(3) The expected outtUffi for 1995-96, as indicated in the 1996-97 budget papers, is $55Om. 

BUDGET (STAlE) - CONSOLIDATED FUND ESTIMATES 
February 1996 Statement of Cash Transactions, Loan Repayments Above $35685m 

303. Hon JOHN HALDEN to the Minister for Finance representing the Treasurer: 

(1) Can the Treasurer detail why loan repayments in the February statement of cash 
transactions on the consolidated fund are well above the $35.685m expected? 

(2) From what source have these funds been paid, and how much? 

(3) Has money from loan repayments that have been paid into the consolidated fund been 
paid off loans or has it been put into consolidated revenue and expended on recurrent or 
capital expenditure? 

(4) If so, where? 
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Hon MAX EVANS replied: 

The Treasurer has provided the following response -

(1)-(2) The higher loan repayments were mainly attributable to unbudgeted capital loan 
repayments of $75m by the Water Authority of WAin July 1995 and $36.3m by R & I 
Holdings in December 1995 from the BankWest sale proceeds. 

(3)-(4) The $75m loan repayment by the Water AuthOrity of W A was used to fund the capital 
works program. The $36.6m loan repayment by R & I Holdings was applied to the 
reduction of net debt by repaying consolidated fund borrowings to the Western 
Australian Treasury Corporation. 

BUDGET (STAlE) - CONSOLIDATED FUND ESTIMATES 
Revenue; Property: Stamp Duty-Conveyances and Transfers, Blow Out 

304. Hon JOHN HALDEN to the Minister for Finance representing the Treasurer: 

Details of taxation collections for the month ended 29 February 1996 clearly show that taxation 
receipts from property, particularly stamp duty, conveyancing and transfers, seems well above the 
estimated collections for 1995-96. What particular events have caused this blowout in this 
revenue collection area? 

Hon MAX EVANS replied: 

The Treasurer has provided the following response -

Stamp duty receipts from conveyances and transfers in February 1996 included a one-off receipt 
of $16m from a very large property transaction. Land tax and metropolitan region improvement 
tax receipts reflect the timing of issue of these assessments, which results in the majority of tax 
being collected in the period November to February. 

BUDGET (STAlE) - CONSOLIDATED FUND ESTIMATES 
Revenue; Property: Metropolitan Region Improvement Tax, Blow Out 

305. Hon JOHN HALDEN to the Minister for FInance representing the Treasurer: 

The metropolitan region improvement tax, to the month ended February 1996, had collected 
$22.6m and the estimated collection for 1995-96 was $23m. What are the features or factors 
which have contributed to this blowout in terms of revenue collection in this area? 

Hon MAX EVANS replied: 

The Treasurer has provided the following response -

Metropolitan region improvement tax is included in land tax assessments issued to taxpayers in 
the metropolitan region. The pattern of collections reflects the timing of issue of these 
assessments which results in most of the tax being collected by the end of February. 

ADVERTISING - MASlER MEDIA AGENCY USED BY GOVERNMENT 
Media De.::isions (WA); Expenditure Updates; Total Cost 

453. Hon TOM SlEPHENS to the Leader of the House representing the Premier: 

(1) Is all Western Australian adVertising still placed on behalf of the Government by a 
central agency? 

(2) Is Marketforce coordinating all state government advertising? 

(3) Does Marketforce provide the State Government with monthly statements detailing the 
full cost of advertisements lodged on behalf of the Government? 

(4) What was the total cost of state government advertising for the ftrst three quarters of the 
current fmancial year up to and including 31 March 1996? 

(5) What has been the cost of all state government advertising so far for the current quarter? 

Hon N.F. MOORE replied: 

The Premier has provided the following response -

(1) The Government continues to use a master media agency to place all mainstream 
advertising. 

(2) 

(3) 

(4)-(5) 

The Government's current master media agency is Media Decisions (W A) which is a 
subsidiary of Marketforce. 

Media Decisions (W A) provides the Government with regular updates on advertising 
expenditure undertaken by government agencies. 

The total cost of media booked on behalf of government departments for the current 
ftnancial year through to 30 June 1996 stands at $22332544*. The total for the 1994-95 
fmancial year was $21 202 856*. Included in the increase from 1994-95 to 1995-96 is an 



* 

** 

[Tuesday, 9 July 1996] 3881 

increase in expenditure from the Traffic Board of $421103 over which the Government 
has no control as the expenditure is dictated by the road trauma trust fund. Excluding the 
increase in expenditure from the Traffic Board, government advertising expenditure has 
increased by $708 585** during the current year, an increase of 3.3 per cent. This is 
considerably less than the rate of media inflation which in the current year is between 
7 and 8 per cent 

Expenditure figures exclude advertising for local government and public benevolent 
institutions booking media through the government master agency system. Attached is a 
copy of the list of exclusions. [See paper No .] 

It is likely that by 30 June 1996 an additional $1m-worth of government advertising will 
be hooked through the master agency. 

At this level the increase this year will be approximately $1.708m or 8 per cent on last year, equal 
to the rate of media inflation. 

TRANSPORT, DEPARTMENT OF - MOTOR VEHICLE INSPECTIONS 
Annual Inspections, No Proposal 

468. Hon JOHN HALDEN to the Minister for Transport: 

I refer to the Department of Transport's move to privatise the inspection of vehicles and ask, will 
the Minister give a guarantee not to introduce annual inspections of vehicles without assistance 
being provided to pensioners and people on fixed incomes? 

Hon EJ. CHARLTON replied: 

There is no proposal to introduce the annual inspection of motor vehicles. 

WESTRAIL - LOCOMOTIVES 
ABI536 Repairs by Fitters Driving from Avon to Albany 

485. Hon BOB THOMAS to the Minister for Transport: 

(1) Is it correct that two fitters drove from Avon to Albany for two days to repair locomotive 
AB1536? 

(2) On how many other occasions have fitters been required to travel to -

(a) Albany; and 

(b) Katanning, 

to effect repairs on W estraillocomotives and rolling stock since the introduction of Right 
Track? 

(3) How many days were involved in each case? 

Hon EJ. CHARLTON replied: 

(1) A mechanical tradesperson and a railway vehicle maintainer drove from Avon to Albany 
to service and repair locomotive AB1536. The work took place over two days. 

(2)-(3) To provide the number of occasions maintenance staff have been required to travel to 
Albany and Katanning to repair locomotives and rolling stock would require considerable 
research which would divert staff away from their normal duties. I can advise that during 
the time that grain trains operate into Albany, a small maintenance crew comprising two 
to four employees travels to Albany on a three weekly cycle to carry out maintenance 
work on the locomotive and wagon fleet. The work is usually carried out on Saturdays 
and Sundays while trains are idle over the weekend. Staff from Avon also travel to other 
railway locations in the Great Southern Region to effect repairs to rolling stock on an as 
required basis. The time involved in carrying out the repairs is dependent on the nature 
of the work involved. 

MEMBERS OF PARLIAMENT - RESEARCH STAFF; ELECTORATE OFFICES 
AND RESEARCH FACILITIES, DEPARTMENTAL RESPONSmILITY 

491. Hon TOM STEPHENS to the Leader of the House representing the Premier: 

(1) What steps will the Government be taking to respond to the November 1995 
determination of the Salaries and Allowances Tribunal that called for clarification as to 
whether electorate offices and research facilities for members of Parliament are a matter 
for the tribunal or the responsibility of the Ministry of Premier and Cabinet? 

(2) What steps will the State Government be taking in response to the recommendation 
8.5.1.5.2 of the Commission on Government in Report No 2, Part 2, at page 192 
regarding research staff? 

Hon N.F. MOORE replied: 

The Premier has provided the following reply -
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(1)-(2) These and related issues are the subject of recommendations made by the Commission on 
Government in its report No 3. The Government is currently considering the 
recommendations made in this report 

PRODUCTIVITY AND LABOUR RELATIONS, DEPAR1MENT OF -
MINISTER FOR LABOUR RELATIONS, FORMER CLEANING COMPANY CASE 

496. Hon AJ.G. MacTIERNAN to the Minister for Finance representing the Minister for Labour 
Relations: 

(1) Can the Minister for Labour Relations confum. that the Department of Productivity and 
Labour Relations recently requested the Registrar of the Industrial Relations Commission 
to provide that department with copies of records relating to prosecutions and 
proceedings against the contract cleaning company formerly run by the Minister for 
Labour Relations? 

(2) Can the Minister explain the reason why this request was made? 

Hon MAX EVANS replied: 

As Minister of the Crown, it is the duty of the Minister for Labour Relations to ensure that the 
good name of the Government is not brought into disrepute. The Minister requested the 
Department of Productivity and Labour Relations to examine the public record of proceedings to 
confum. the facts on the outcome of that case. The record shows that the union involved in the 
Industrial Magistrates Court case was severely criticised for incompetence. Not only did the four 
employees request that they did not want the matter to proceed, leaving the union without a case, 
the union was criticised for wasting the court's time. The industrial magistrate in fact recorded 
that the union was in difficulty because of its own poor procedures. The record shows that the 
case was thrown out and the union castigated. 

JUSTICE, MINISTRY OF - RANGEVIEW REMAND CENTRE 
Additional Beds; Discrete Programs 

521. Hon CHERYL DAVENPORT to the Minister assisting the Minister for Justice: 

(1) Is it correct that another eight beds have been provided recently at Rangeview Remand 
Centre? 

(2) If so, why? 

(3) What discrete programs have been implemented at the remand centre in the past 
12 months? 

Hon PETER FOSS replied: 

The Minister assisting the Minister for Justice has provided the following reply -

(1) Yes. 

(2) There has been a 14 per cent increase in admissions in the past 12 months. 

(3) A long term detainee program for juveniles held longer than three months whereby they 
earn special privileges for positive behaviour. 
An Aboriginal welfare officer has been appointed to provide support and welfare 
programs to detainees. 
A Sports Challenge program. 
Full time TAPE program for over 16 year olds. 
Individual tutoring for long term detainees. 
Health and sexuality awareness. 
CBS Youth Access weekly visits assisting detainees to secure employment on release. 

ROADS - LAKE RAESIDE CROSSING, MAJOR UPGRADE NEED 

530. Hon MARK NEVILL to the Minister for Transport: 

As the Minister for Transport will be aware, the Kalgoorlie-Meekatharra Road was closed in 
February and March 1995 for several weeks because of flooding caused by Cyclone Bobby. As a 
matter of urgency, will the Minister program the IIUijor upgrade of the Lake Raeside croSSing in 
1996-97 to avoid the massive problems caused last year? 

HonEJ. CHARLTON replied: 

The effects of the crossing closures are certainly recognised and the honourable member can be 
assured that every effort will be made to complete the upgrade as soon as possible. I am pleased 
to be able to advise the member that funds have been allocated in Main Roads' 1997-98 program 
to enable the upgrading works to commence. Main Roads has considered the possibility of 
advancing commencement of the upgrading. However, due to other committed major projects 
such as the Ripon Hills route, Great Northern Highway-Marandoo link, Ord Farm Roads, the 
sealing of the Marble Bar Road and the Sues Road mineral sands project, it is not possible at this 
stage to bring forward the start of works at Lake Raeside. 
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QUESTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE 

SENTENCING ACT - PROCLAMATION DATE 
535. Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS to the Attorney General: 

(1) Was the Sentencing Act 1995 proclaimed today? 

(2) If not, when will it be proclaimed? 

Hon PETER FOSS replied: 
(1)-(2) If it was proclaimed today, it has taken me slightly by surprise. I take it that the question was 

asked advisedly and that the member thinks it was proclaimed today. I will make inquiries to see 
whether that is the case. However, I do not think: it was proclaimed today as I understand it cannot 
be proclaimed until the Criminal Law Amendment Bill is passed. I have been informed by my 
colleagues in the other House that as debate on the Bill is intended to be lengthy, it has not been 
passed by that place. I will see whether it has been proclaimed in the meantime. I have urged my 
officers to look at some way to proclaim the legislation at least partially pending passage of the 
Criminal Law Amendment Bill. So far, no-one has advised me that we have the capacity to do 
that 

SENTENCING BILL - PROGRESS BEFORE CRIMINAL LAW 
AMENDMENT BILL 

536. Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS to the Attorney General: 

(1) Has the Attorney General ascertained why his predecessor chose to progress the Sentencing Bill 
through the Parliament before the Criminal Law Amendment Bill? 

(2) If so, what was the reason? 
Hon PETER FOSS replied: 

(1)-(2) No. 

STATUTORY CORPORATIONS (LIABILITY OF DIRECTORS) BILL -
CRIMINAL CODE AMENDMENT BILL; PROCLAMATION DATE 

537. Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS to the Attorney General: 

Is it intended that the Statutory Corporations (Liability of Directors) Bill and the Criminal Code 
Amendment Bill will come into operation at the same time as, or before, the Official Corruption 
Commission Amendment Bill? 

Hon PETER FOSS replied: 
I am not aware of that being the case. As the member knows, I handle the Official Corruption Commission 
Amendment Bill in a representative capacity. The Statutory Corporations (Liability of Directors) Bill and 
the Criminal Code Amendment Bill are my responsibility and, obviously, I want those Bills proclaimed as 
soon as possible. The OCC Bill has the capacity to stand without them. 

OFFICIAL CORRUPTION COMMISSION AMENDMENT BILL -
WICKHAM, JOHN, CONSULTATIONS 

538. Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS to the Attorney General: 

(1) Was Hon John Wickham consulted by the Government regarding the Official Corruption 
Commission Amendment Bill? 

(2) If so, with respect to which matters in the Bill, if any, did he make recommendations? 

Hon PETER FOSS replied: 

(1)-(2) Of course, Hon John Wickham and the Official Corruption Commission, along with other people, 
were consulted, particularly those who currently have the role of supervising the operations of 
government, such as the Auditor General and the Ombudsman. I will have to think about the 
matter further, as I did not handle the issue. However, those were the main people concerned. 
Hon John Wickham was asked to comment on all parts of the Bill, and I cannot remember offhand 
which parts he specifically mentioned but I could research that He was certainly asked to look at 
the Bill as a whole. When consulting on a Bill to amend an Act, the matter is always referred to 
the person whose Act is being amended. 

OFFICIAL CORRUPTION COMMISSION AMENDMENT BILL -
COMMISSIONER OF POLICE, CONSULTATIONS 

539. Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS to the Attorney General: 

(1) Was the Commissioner of Police consulted by the Government with respect to the Official 
Corruption Commission Amendment Bill? 

(2) If so, in respect of which matters in the Bill, if any, did he make recommendations? 
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Hon PETER FOSS replied: 

(1)-(2) With all these matters I am stretching my capacity to answer them - they are asked of me in a 
representative capacity. I happen to know that the Commissioner of Police was consulted, but I 
must take the question on notice to answer beyond that This is appropriate given that it relates to 
my representative capacity. 

OFFICIAL CORRUPTION COMMISSION AMENDMENT BILL - JUDICIARY, 
CONSULTATIONS 

540. Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS to the Attorney General: 

(1) Was any member of the judiciary consulted by the Government with respect to the Official 
Corruption Commission Amendment Bill? 

(2) If so, who, and with respect to which matters in the Bill, if any, did he or she make 
recommendations? 

Hon PETER FOSS replied: 

(1)-(2) Again, I will answer the question to the best of my capacity and ask for the remainder of the 
question to be put on notice. As I said before, I answer in a representative capacity. I know that 
the Bill was referred to the Chief Justice in respect of two matters in particular. First, under the 
Royal Commissions Act warrants must be obtained from ajudge rather than ajustice of the peace. 
He was asked whether this could be done with expedition. I believe he was able to assure the 
Government that no difficulty would arise in obtaining warrants from justices of the peace. The 
other matter referred to was the judiciary. 

MINISTERS OF THE CROWN - OVERSEAS; OUT OF STATE; ON LEAVE 

541. Hon JOHN HALDEN to the Leader of the House representing the Premier: 

(1) How many Ministers are out of the State this week? 

(2) What are the names of these Ministers? 

(3) How many of these Ministers are overseas, and how many are on annual leave? 

(4) For what purpose are the Ministers out of the State? 

Hon N.F. MOORE replied: 

I thank the member for some notice of this question. The Acting Premier has provided the following reply: 

(1)-(2) Six Ministers will be out of the State at some time during this week. This list was put together 
based on information available last week. I am on the list but, obviously, I am still here. The 
information provided to me - I will have it double checked - is that the Ministers involved are 
Hon R. Court; Hon E. Charlton -

Hon EJ. Charlton: I am here! 

Hon N.F. MOORE: - Hon K. Minson; Hon C. Edwardes; Hon P. Foss and Hon N. Moore. I was to attend 
a ministerial conference in Adelaide on Friday, but whether that occurs will depend a lot upon 
what happens in this place. 

(3) Three Ministers are, or will be, overseas this week. Three other Ministers will take leave some 
time during this week. 

(4) Official Government business. 

TRANSPORT, DEPARTMENT OF - SWAN TRANSIT PTY LTD 
Driver Training Program; Incidents, Concerns 

542. Hon A.J.G. MacTIERNAN to the Minister for Transport: 

(1) Is the Minister aware that the Swan Transit driver training program takes four days whereas 
MetroBus drivers are provided 28 days' training? 

(2) Is the Minister aware of reports that Swan Transit drivers have been involved in a considerably 
higher frequency of minor incidents than MetroBus drivers? 

(3) Given that under the Minister's stewardship of MetroBus, four weeks was considered the 
appropriate length of training, is the Minister concerned that private operators are providing less 
than one-quarter of that training? 

HonE.J. CHARLTON replied: 

I suggest that the member talk to somebody who can give her some real information so she can ask a 
proper question. 

Several members intetjected. 

The PRESIDENT: Order! 
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UNIVERSITY OF WES1ERN AUSTRALIA - VICE-CHANCELLORY, OFFENSIVE 
MATERIAL ON PRIN1ER INCIDENT 

543. Hon MARK NEVn.L to the Leader of the House representing the Minister for Education: 

It is usual for a question to follow an answer; with this exception, I ask -

(1) Is it correct that child pornography was discovered on a printer in the vice-chancellory of the 
University of Western Australia? 

(2) If yes -

(a) which officers made the discovery of this material; 

(b) to whom was it reported; and 

(c) what action followed? 

(3) Was the matter referred to the Western Australia Police Service for investigation? 

(4) If yes, what was the outcome? 

Hon N.F. MOORE replied: 

I thank the member for some notice of this question. This question referred to the vice-chancellory, yet the 
printed version refers to the chancellory. I am not sure whether they are two different things, but I draw it 
to the member's attention. 

(1) There was an incident involving some offensive material. 

(2) (a) Two members of the general staff working in central administration. 

(b) It was reported to the head of administrative computing services, and then to the vice
principal and the acting vice-chancellor. 

(c) At a time when there was national concern among all universities about the possible 
existence of offensive material, including pornography, on the Australian Academic 
Research Network, the university undertook a search of its ftle server to ascertain 
whether it contained such material. This search revealed two pages of offensive material 
which were inadvertently printed out on printers serving two general staff members. The 
university system acknowledges that control of information on the Internet is a difficult 
problem for all organisations, which the university system is trying to address. 

(3) The university decided that there were no grounds for referring the matter to the Western 
Australian police. 

(4) Not applicable. 

LAND - SWAN LOCATION 12476, SUBJECT TO SPECIAL CROWN LEASE 3116-11590, LAND 
TAX ASSESSMENT 

544. Hon JOHN HALDEN to the Minister for Finance: 

(1) Has the land designated Swan location 12476 and subject to a special crown lease No 3116-11590 
been assessed for land tax payable to 30 June 1994? 

(2) If so, what was the valuation placed on the land for this 1994 assessment? 

(3) What amount of tax was paid and what was the date of payment of such tax? 

(4) Has the land designated Swan location 12476 and subject to a special crown lease No 3116-11590 
been assessed for land tax payable to 30 June 1995? 

(5) If so, what was the valuation placed on the land for this 1995 assessment? 

(6) What amount of tax was paid and what was the date of payment of such tax? 

Hon MAX EVANS replied: 

I thank the member for some notice of this question. 

(1) No. 

(2)-(3) Not applicable. 

(4) No. 

(5)-(6) Not applicable. 

FIELDING REPORT - CONSULTANTS ENGAGED BY GOVERNMENT, 
CONTRACTS REGULATED RECOMMENDATION 

545. Hon JOHN HALDEN to the Leader of the House representing the Premier: 

I refer to the Fielding report which was tabled in the other place on Tuesday, 2 July. 

(1) Does the Premier support the spirit of the report where it states that all political advisers 
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"whatever the basis of their appoinunent", should have their contract regulated by the Public 
Sector Management Act provisions? 

(2) Will the Premier be implementing this recommendation in his office where he has employed a 
consultant, at $140 000 per year, who is unaccountable to the people of Western Australia? 

HonN.F. MOORE replied: 

I thank the member for some notice of this question. 
(1)-(2) Unlike the previous Administration, this Government has been committed to ensuring openness 

and accountability in appoinunents to ministerial offices. The engagement of consultants, like the 
one referred to by the member, provides a high standard of accountability in that the contract 
provides for the consultant to disclose any pecuniary interest or any conflict of interest, pecuniary 
or otherwise, that the consultant or its employees may have in any matter being dealt with as part 
of the services of the consultancy. The contract also provides a number of other safeguards for the 
Government, including the ability to withdraw immediately from the arrangement for any reason. 
In addition, as the member will be aware, the Government has implemented a procedure by which 
details of such arrangements are made public through periodic tabling in Parliament. 

FISHERIES DEPARTMENT - ILLEGAL ACTIVITIES, POLICE INQUIRY 
Dixon Case 

546. Hon MARK NEVILL to the Minister representing the Minister for Fisheries: 

I refer to question on notice 4199 of 5 December 1995. 

(1) Why did the terms of reference of the investigation into illegal activities in the Fisheries 
Deparunent not include the Dixon case? 

(2) Why was the Dixon case not referred to police investigation by the Fisheries Deparunent? 
HonE.J. CHARLTON ·replied: 

I thank the member for some notice of this question. 

(1)-(2) The Minister for Fisheries has been advised by the executive director of the deparunent that the 
issues which were subject to investigation were a matter for the police. 

MAIN ROADS WESTERN AUSTRALIA - CONTRACTS, MATERIALS AND GOODS SALES 
TAX EXEMPT 

547. Hon MAR.K NEVILL to the Minister for Transport: 

Does Main Roads Western Australia issue sales tax exemption certification for the purchase of either, or 
both, material and goods, including vehicles which are to be used exclusively for work on its contracts? 

Hon E.J. CHARLTON replied: 

I thank the member for some notice of this question. No. Main Roads Western Australia's contract 
documentation advises tenderers that materials and goods incorporated in the works are exempt from sales 
tax and the tender price should reflect this. The contract document also contains a form that can be used by 
contractors for obtaining the goods sales tax exempt. However, this is a matter between either the 
contractor or supplier and the Commissioner of Taxation. To be tax exempt, materials and goods must be 
incorporated in the completed work. Vehicles used on a contract are not tax exempt. 

EDUCATION DEPARTMENT - WESTERN AUSTRALIAN PRINCIPALS 
FEDERATION, FUNDING; TEACHER RELIEF 

548. Hon A.J.G. MacTIERNAN to the Leader of the House representing the Minister for 
Education: 

(1) Will the Minister list the persons who received Education Deparunent funds for the provision of -

(a) consultancy services; 

(b) venue hire; and 

(c) 'equipment 

to the Western Australian Principals Federation? 

(2) If not, why not? 

(3) In addition to the $136394 provided to the Western Australian Principals Federation, were 
representatives of the federation given access to teacher relief funds to participate in any 
deparunental, industrial or other actiVity? 

(4) Has the Education Deparunent kept records of relief funds so used and will the Minister disclose 
the amount of those funds? 

BonN.F. MOORE replied: 

I thank the member for some notice of this question. 
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I will table the list which contains the requested information. 

Yes. 

3887 

(1)-(2) 

(3) 

(4) Information regarding teacher relief is available, but will take some time and resources to collate. 
As soon as this information is to hand it will be provided to the member. 

[See paper No 446.] 

EDUCATION DEPARTMENT - WESTERN AUSTRALIANPRlMARY 
PRINCIRALS ASSOCIATION, ANNUAL CONFERENCE FUNDING 

549. Hon AJ.G. MacTIERNAN to the Leader or the House representing the Minister for 
Education: 

In an answer to question without notice 533 of Wednesday, 3 July the Minister asserted that the Western 
Australian Primary Principals Association did not have an industrial role and that the Education 
Department would continue to provide funds to it to conduct its annual conference. 

(1) Is the Minister aware of the following extract from the association's recent publication-

Does WAPPA have the capacity to represent you industrially? Yes. As for Workplace 
Agreements W APPA represents its members through its industrial arm the W APF. 
W APPA will continue to investigate this issue to ensure all members are represented. 

(2) Given that W APP A has, on its admission, an industrial function, will the Minister cease to fund its 
annual conference? 

(3) If not, is the Minister prepared to extend similar benefits to the annual conference of the State 
School Teachers Union, given it is also concerned with both professional development and 
industrial matters? 

(4) Ifnot, why not? 

HonN.F. MOORE repUed: 
I thank the member for some notice of this question. 

(1) Yes. 

(2) No. The Western Australian Primary Principals Association is a professional association and as 
such is not an industrial body. W APPA has representation on the Western Australian Principals 
Federation, like many other associations. The W APF is an acknowledged industrial body and was 
formed to represent the interests of administrator association members including W APP A. 

(3) No. 

(4) The State School Teachers Union is an industrial body. 

"PROVIDING THE BEST ROADS FOR THE FUTURE" - COST 

550. Hon KIM CHANCE to the MinJster for Transport: 
Will the Minister please provide the answer to my question on the "Providing the Best Roads for the 
Future" pamphlet which I asked on Wednesday, 3 July? For the Minister's benefit, the question is as 
follows -

(1) What is the cost of -

(a) delivery; and 

(b) production 

of the pamphlet? 

(2) Which areas in urban and regional Western Australia have received the pamphlet? 

Hon E.J. CHARLTON repUed: 

I thank the member for some notice of this question. 

(1) (a) $34 908.55; and 

(b) $106 994.77. 

(2) All areas. Allietterboxes, private post office boxes and roadside deliveries. 

HOSPITALS - MANDURAH 
Full-Time Doctor in Emergency Service, Vacancy; Private Services Lost 

551. Hon J.A. COWDELL to the Attorney General representing the Minister for Health: 

(1) Is the Peel Health Service willing to leave the poSition of a full time doctor at Mandurah District 
Hospital's emergency service vacant as a cost cutting exercise? 

(2) To what degree has uncertainty about the future of the Mandurah hospital contributed to the 
failure to attract a full time doctor to its emergency service? 
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(3) What private services have been lost to the Mandurah health campus because of the uncertainty 
about the Mandurah hospital's future and the construction of private facilities elsewhere in the 
town? 

Hon PETER FOSS replied: 
I thank the member for some notice of this question. 
(1) No. 
(2) There is no established mechanism by which this can be measured. It may well have been a 

factor; however, the difficulty in attracting specialists to rurnl and semi-rurnl areas appears to be 
the major factor in this instance. 

(3) The Peel Health Service is not aware of any loss of private service provision from the new 
development on the current Mandurah hospital site. 

"PROVIDING THE BEST ROADS FOR THE FUTURE" - DISTRIBUTION 
552. Hon KIM CHANCE to the Minister for Transport: 

I refer again to the pamphlet titled "Providing the Best Roads for the Future". 
(1) Did every household in Western Australia receive the pamphlet? 

(2) If not, why not? 
(3) How many pamphlets were distributed? 

(4) Who distributed the pamphlets? 
HonE.J. CHARLTON replied: 
(1)-(2) The objective was to distribute the pamphlet as widely as possible by making it available to every 

household. 
(3) 602000. 

(4) Progress Distribution, 51 Miguel Road, Bibra Lake, WA 6163. It is the Government's intention 
that the pamphlet go to every household. They were not all sent out at the one time. It is 
progressive. We have received telephone calls at the office from people who said they have still 
not received one and asking for it. 

Hon Kim Chance: I have not got mine yet. 
Hon EJ. CHARLTON: I have not got mine, either. It contains tremendous information and I am looking 
forward to receiving it in the mail. 

WATER CORPORATION - CONTRACT FOR OFFICE WORKSTATIONS 
AND SCREENING SYSTEMS 

553. Hon JOHN HALDEN to the Minister representing the Minister for Water Resources: 

(1) Has the Water Corporation awarded, or is it about to award, the contract for office workstations 
and screening systems? 

(2) If so, what is the name of the company that has received, or will receive, the contract? 
(3) What is the contract worth? 

(4) Has the company that has been, or will be, awarded the contract met all the specifications? 

(5) If not, what specifications has it not met and why was the contract awarded to this company if it 
did not meet all the specifications? 

(6) Does the company that has received, or will receive, the contract have 1 per cent local content? 
(7) If not, why was it awarded the contract? 

Hon MAX EVANS replied: 

I thank the honourable member for some notice of the question. 
(1) Yes. 

(2) Interlink. 

(3) $1.2m. 

(4) Yes. 

(5) Not applicable. 
(6) Yes. 

(7) Not applicable. 
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INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS (AMENDMENT AND REPEAL) ACT - SECTION 
12(1), CHANGES PROCLAMATION 

3889 

554. Hon AJ.G. MacTlERNAN to the Minister representing the Minister for Labour Relations: 
(1) Did the Minister for Labour Relations determine to proclaim changes to section 12(1) of the 

Industrial Relations (Amendment and Repeal) Act from 8 June 1996 even though the processes to 
amend the individual awards had not been completed? 

(2) Had the Minister gone so far as to have advertisements prepared and booked for the The West 
Australian on 29 May 1996? 

(3) Had the building industry task force and the law firm, Freehill Hollingdale and Page, been advised 
of the Minister's decision to that effect? 

(4) Is the Minister for Labour Relations aware that this information has led the building industry task 
force and Freehill Hollingdale and Page to wrongly advise employers that they could limit the 
union's right of inspection from 8 June 1996? 

(5) Will the Minister for Labour Relations confirm that the Minister was urged by senior officers of 
his department to abandon the early proclamation of section 12(1) because of the chaos that such 
an act would cause? 

Hon MAX EVANS replied: 

I thank the member for some notice of the question. I ask that the question be placed on notice. 

EDUCATION DEPARTMENT - DENMARK AGRICULTURAL COLLEGE, 
RELOCATION PROPOSALS 

555. Hon BOB THOMAS to the Leader of the House representing the Minister for Education: 

(1) Has the principal or members of the advisory committees of the Denmark Agricultural College 
had a meeting or meetings with the Minister to discuss proposals for the relocation of the college? 

(2) If yes, what commitment has been given to the college? 

(3) Has the Government received an offer from a developer to obtain the college land by way of land 
swap or some other means? 

(4) If yes, who is the proponent and what is involved? 

Hon N.F. MOORE replied: 

I thank the member for some notice of the question. 

(1) Yes, two meetings on 15 May 1996 in the Minister's office, and on 23 May 1996 when the 
Minister visited the college. 

(2)-(3) No commitment has been given, but the matter of possible relocation of the college, in whole or in 
part, is to be investigated further by the Education Department 

(4) A private developer has put forward a proposal, but this is only at the exploratory stage at present 

EDUCATION DEPARTMENT - EAST KIMBERLEY ABORIGINAL 
EDUCATION CONFERENCE, RECOMMENDATIONS 

556. Hon TOM STEPHENS to the Leader of the House representing the Minister for Education: 

(1) What recommendations for improved attendance and participation in schools came out of the East 
Kimberley Aboriginal education conference, held on 18 to 21 June 1996? 

(2) What action will be taken to implement these recommendations? 

Hon N.F. MOORE replied: 

I thank the member for some notice of the question. 

(1) The final report and the associated recommendations have not been received by the Education 
Department for response. 

(2) The district superintendent and Manager Aboriginal Education have given an undertaking that 
they will respond to the outcomes and recommendations of the conference. The Minister for 
Education would like to have attended this conference. Unfortunately, prior commitments 
precluded his attendance. 

EDUCATION DEPARTMENT - KIMBERLEY BOARD OF MANAGEMENT, 
MEMBERSHIP 

557. Hon TOM STEPHENS to the Leader of the House representing the Minister for Education: 

Who are the members of the Kimberley board of management for the Education Department of Western 
Australia? 



3890 [COUNCIL] 

Hon N.F. MOORE replied: 
I thank the member for some notice of the question. The members of the lGmberley board of management 
are: Ian Francis, chairperson, Kununurra District High School; Dave Thomas, secretary, Muludja Remote 
Community School; Sharon Goodchild, Kununurra District High School; Brian Argus, Bayulu Remote 
Community School; Michael Prime, Looma Remote Community School; Patrick Bourke, Cable Beach 
Primary School; Wilbur Klein, Fitzroy Crossing District High School; Timothy Thornton, senior school 
psychologist, lGmberley District Education Office; Laurence Cranny, executive officer, lGmberley District 
Education Office; Freda Ogilvie, school development officer, Aboriginal education, lGmberley District 
Education Office; and Michael Heaven, district superintendent, lGmberley District Education Office. 

MAIN ROADS WESTERN AUSTRALIA - FREMAN1LE BYPASS 
PAMPHLET 

558. Hon JOHN HALDEN to the Minister for Transport: 
(1) Will the Minister confirm that Main Roads Western Australia has recently distributed a pamphlet 

in the Fremantle region concerning the Fremantle bypass? 

(2) If so, to how many households was the pamphlet sent? 

(3) What was the cost of production of 

(a) production; and 

(b) distribution of the pamphlet? 

Hon E.J. CHARLTON replied: 
I thank the member for some notice of the question. 

(1) Yes. 

(2) Seven thousand copies were distributed to households in the immediate vicinity of the Fremantle 
eastern bypass. A further 500 have been provided to the Fremantle and Cockburn City Councils 
for distribution. 

(3) (a) $1 640; 

(b) $262.50. 

JUSTICE, MINISTRY OF - ABORIGINAL FAMILY SUPERVISION 
PROGRAM; MENTOR PROGRAM FOR JUVENILE OFFENDERS 

559. Hon JOHN HALDEN to the Minister for Jnstice: 
I refer to the article in The West Australian dated 24 June 1996 in which Kevin Minson, the Minister 
assisting the Minister for Justice, announced the involvement of Aboriginal elders in a young offenders 
pilot program by the Ministry of Justice, starting this month, and ask -

(1) Is this similar to the system for white juvenile offenders? 

(2) Are the mentors in the system for white juvenile offenders being paid? 

(3) Are the mentors, the Aboriginal elders. in the system for Aboriginal juvenile offenders being 
paid? 

(4) If there is a discrepancy between (2) and (3). what is the reason for this? 

Hon PETER FOSS replied: 
I thank the member for some notice of the question. 

(1) The Aboriginal family supervision program is designed to manage young Aboriginal offenders in 
the community with the direct involvement of significant extended family members in supervision 
and management. This differs from the mentor program which is used for all juvenile offenders. 
The mentor program uses any person considered to be a good role model, likely to be a positive 
influence and support for the young offender. 

(2) Mentors are paid. 

(3) Aboriginal family members supervising family members as part of the Aboriginal family 
supervision program will be paid. 

(4) Not applicable. 
SPEED LIMITS - MANDURAH. REVIEW 

560. Hon J.A. COWDELL to the Minister for Transport: 
Has the Minister been able to respond favourably to the submission by the Mandurah Community Policing 
Committee for reduced speed limits within the municipality? 
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Hon EJ. CHARLTON replied: 

I respond favourably to everything that people ask me to do. I thank the member for some notice of the 
question. The reduction of speed limits to 70 kilometres an hour on major roads in the City of Mandurab 
has not yet been agreed to. I am told that Main Roads W A is seeking approval to relocate the 80 kmb zone 
on the northern approach to Mandurab to a position north of Watersun Drive, as a recent review indicates 
that this would be the appropriate speed limit for the area. Main Roads is regularly reviewing speed zones 
through the Mandurab area and making adjustments as necessary. The last major review was in February 
1996. 

BUNBURY' JETIY - BUNBURY CITY COUNCIL, OWNERSHIP; FUNDING 
561. Hon JOHN HALDEN to the Minister for Transport: 

In an answer given by the Minister last Thursday on the Bunbury jetty in which the Minister said -

I ask-

... as soon as the council says that it will take over ownership of future responsibility for the jetty 
I will go to Treasury to obtain funds equivalent to the demolition cost and make them available to 
the council. 

(1) Will the Minister confum that on 15 October 1995 the Bunbury City Council agreed to take over 
ownership and responsibility subject to funds being provided by the Minister? 

(2) H yes, why were the funds not allocated? 

(3) In light of the Minister's statement to the House last Thursday, will he now go to Treasury to 
obtain the funds? 

(4) Hnot, why not? 

Hon EJ. CHARLTON replied: 

I thank the member for some notice of this question. 

(1)-(4) In a letter to the Department of Transport dated 26 October 1995, the city manager indicated that 
council had resolved to take ownership and management responsibility of the jetty, subject to the 
full cost of demolition of the jetty by structural removal methods as determined by an independent 
demolition specialist being paid to council for jetty restoration. The estimated deDiolition cost is 
$lm. In view of the budget outcome, funding for jetty demolition is not available immediately. 
The department has indicated its preparedness to transfer the ownership of the jetty to council 
immediately, on the understanding that the obligation for the council to accept future demolition 
of the jetty will be deferred until an amount equivalent to the agreed demolition cost has been 
paid. As I have previously stated, I will be talking to Treasury concerning the allocation of the 
required funding. As the member will agree, this must be done in line with the appropriate 
accountable procedures. 

JUSTICE, MINISTRY OF - RECORDING EQUIPMENT AND LISTENING 
DEVICES USED BY, REPORT OR INQUIRY 

562. Hon JOHN HALDEN to the Attorney General: 

(1) Has the Attorney General called for an urgent report on recording equipment and listening devices 
used by the Ministry of Justice? 

(2) If not, has he called for any report or inquiry of a similar nature? 
(3) Exactly what reports has he called for in this area? 

(4) Why has he called for such reports? 
(5) Is it because of continuing concern of maladministration in the Ministry of Justice? 

Hon PETER FOSS repUed: 

I thank the member for some notice of this question. 
(1)-(2) No. 
(3)-(4) Not applicable. 

(5) The question is out of order; however, I can assure the member I am very pleased with the 
administration of Dr Mike McCall. 


